# Physiological Effects of Global Climate Change on Common British Marine Invertebrates

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

by

# Yaser Saad Mousa Binnaser

School of Biology

Newcastle University

# July 2014

### Physiological effects of global climate change on common British marine invertebrates

Abstract: Climate change is likely to have profound effects on marine animals due to the predicted increases in water temperature and acidity. Many studies have examined the effects of these elevated temperatures and decreased pH at the extreme temperatures expected in the summer season, but few studies have investigated how climate change may affect animals in the winter. In this study, we investigate the effects of both winter and summer temperatures on the growth rates, body composition and metabolic rate of four species of intertidal marine invertebrates: two calcified (common mussel - *Mytilus edulis* and edible periwinkle – *Littorina littorea*) and two non-calcified (beadlet anemone – Actinia equina and sea squirts – Ascidiella aspersa) species. Samples divided to two groups, one group exposed to winter temperature condition and the second group exposed to summer temperature condition. Following a period of acclimatization during which temperature was gradually increased and pH decreased, animals were exposed to the predicted climatic conditions of 2050 (TR 2050) and 2100 (TR 2100) for six weeks. During the study period, the mortality rates were monitored as well as growth rates by taking body weight, buoyant weight and body morphometrics (length and Width). At the end of experiments, body composition were measured by taking water content, dry shell and dry body weight weight, fat content and C:N ratio. In addition, metabolic rates were measured using a closed-system respirometry. During the experiments, seawater parameters such as acidity, temperature, salinity and dissolved oxygen were measured. The results of the experiments found that there was a significant increase in mortality of A. aspersa at the higher temperatures and water acidity in winter. Furthermore, growth rates of A. equina and A. aspersa were significantly reduced at TR 2050. On the other hand, it was observed that the C:N ratio of L. littorea was significantly increased at TR 2050 and that metabolic rate was significantly higher at TR 2100. However, under summer conditions, L. littorea there was a significant decrease in buoyant weight at TR 2050. While there was no mortality amongst A. equina, a significant reduction growth was found at elevated temperature and decreased pH level. The results in this study indicate that inter-species responses to environmental changes are likely to differ but also that the inter-species response will also vary depending on the season and life stage of the animal.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I gratefully acknowledge the support and help of my supervisors Dr. Richard Bevan and Prof. John Bythell. In addition, I wish to thank Dr. Heather Finlayson (Head of school of Biology), Prof. Stephen Rushton, Prof. Mark Whittingham, Mr. Mark Bendall, Dr. Matthew Peake, Dr. Tahar Taybi (School of Biology), Dr. Said Mohamed, Mr. Peter Shotton (for C:N ratio analysis - School of Agriculture), Dr. Gary Caldwell, Dr. Susan Fitzer, Mr. Abdulbaset Abuissa (Marine Biology Department), Dr. Adel Sabbagh (Taibah Univrtsity – Saudi Arabia), Dr. Ali Asiri (Ministry of Health – Saudi Arabia) and Dr. Mohamed Al-Harbi (Al-Taif University – Saudi Arabia) for giving help and information. Also, I would like to thank my wife and my daughter for their patience and help during these years. This study was supported by the Ministry of Higher Education of Saudi Arabia and is a part of the senior author's PhD dissertation.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Greenhouse Gases	1
1.3 Global Warming and Ocean Warming	2
1.4 Increased Seawater Temperature	2
1.5 Ocean Acidification	4
1.6 CO2 and Ocean Chemistry	5
1.7 Methodological Comparisions	7
1.8 Hypotheses and Aims	11
1.8.1 Aims	11
1.8.2 Hypotheses	12
1.10 About this thesis	12
Chapter 2. Methods	14
2.1 Choices and Collection of Animals	14
2.1.1 Choices of Animals	14
2.1.2 Collection Methodology	16
2.2 Experimental design	18
2.3 Feeding	22
2.4 Care of Aquaria	24
2.5 Measurement of Seawater Parameters	25
2.5.1 Acidity (pH) and Temperature	25
2.5.2 Salinity	25
2.5.3 Dissolved Oxygen	25
2.6 Survival	25
2.7 Growth Changes	27
2.7.1 Body Weight	27
2.7.2 Buoyant Weight	28
2.7.3 Morphometrics	30
2.7 Metabolic Rates	31
2.9 Storage Samples	31
2.10 Freeze-drying	32

2.11 Body Composition Analysis	32
2.11.1 Water Content	32
2.11.2 Dry Weight	33
2.11.3 Shell Weight	33
2.11.4 Soft Tiddue Weight	33
2.11.5 Lipid Content	34
2.11.6 C:N Ratio	35
2.12 Determination of Temperatures and pH Levels for Treatments	36
2.13 Statistics	39
Chaoter 3. Effect of Elevated Temperature and Reduced pH on Four	40
Marine Invertebrates in Winter	
Abstract	40
3.1 Introduction	41
3.2 Methods	43
3.2.1 Seawater Parameters	45
3.3 Results	46
3.3.1 Survival	46
3.3.2 Body weight change, Size change Buoyant weight change and	48
Dry weight Measurements	
3.4 Discussion	60
3.4.1 Effect of Experimental Conditions on M. edulis	60
3.4.2 Effect of Experimental Conditions on L. littorea	61
3.4.3 Effect of Experimental Conditions on A. equina	62
3.4.4 Effect of Experimental Conditions on A. aspersa	62
3.5 Conclusion	63
Chapter 4. Effects of elevated temperature and $CO_2$ on the Body	64
Composition of four Common British Marine Invertebrates in the	
winter	
Abstract	64
4.1 Introduction	65
4.2 Methods	66

4.3 Results	67
4.3.1 Body Composition Analysis and Metabolic Rates	67
4.4 Discussion	82
4.4.1 Effects on <i>M. edulis</i>	82
4.4.2 Effects on L. littorea	83
4.4.3 Effects on A. equina	84
4.4.4 Effects on A. aspersa	85
4.5 Conclusion	85
Chapter 5. The Effects of Decreased pH level and Increased	87
Temperature on Four Common British Marine Invertebrates in	
summer	
Abstract	87
5.1 Introduction	88
5.2 Methods	89
5.2.1 Seawater Measurements	90
5.3 Results	91
5.3.1 Survival	91
5.3.2 Body weight change, Size change, Buoyant weight change and	94
Dry weight Parameter Measurements	
5.4 Discussion	105
5.4.1 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on M. edulis	105
5.4.2 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on L. littorea	107
5.4.3 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on A. equina	108
5.4.4 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on A. aspersa	108
5.5 Conclusion	109
Chapter 6. The Effects of Global Climate Change on the Body	110
Composition of common British Marine Invertebrates in Summer	
Abstract	110
6.1 Introduction	111
6.2 Methods	112
6.3 Results	112

6.3.1 Body Composition Analysis and Metabolic Rates	112
6.4 Discussion	128
6.4.1 Effects on <i>M. edulis</i>	128
6.4.2 Effects on L. littorea	129
6.4.3 Effects on A. equina	130
6.4.4 Effects on A. aspersa	130
6.5 Conclusion	131
Chapter 7. Seasonal Effects of Temperature and pH on four Common British Marine Invertebrates and General Discussion	132
Abstract	132
7.1 Introduction	133
7.2 Methods	134
7.3 Results	135
7.3.1 Effects of Seasonality on Survival	135
7.3.2 Effects of Seasonality on Growth and Body Composition	139
7.4 Seasonal and General Discussion	151
7.4.1 Effects on Mytilus edulis	151
7.4.2 Effects on Littorina littorea	153
7.4.3 Effects on Actinia equina	154
7.4.4 Effects on Ascidiella aspersa	155
8.4 Future Work	157
Literature Cited	158
Appendices	80
Appendix I: Histology of M. edulis.	80
Appendix II: Histology of L. littorea.	81
Appendix III: Histology of A. equina.	82
Appendix IV: Histology of A. aspersa.	83

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Temperature and pH leve predicted in future under emissions           scenarios	3
Table 2.1         Dates of collection of animal species under study.	17
Table 2.2 Number of animals surviving after acclimatization period	17
Table 2.3 Estimates temperature and pH in study experiments.	39
<b>Table 3.1</b> Dates of collections and experimental periods for winter	44
experiments.	
Table 3.2 Numbers of samples used in winter experiments.	44
<b>Table 3.3</b> Seawater chemistry parameters during the winter condition	45
experiments.	
Table 3.4 Percentage survival of species under winter conditions.	46
Table 3.5 Statistical analysis of parameters in M. edulis.	48
<b>Table 3.6</b> Statistical analysis of dry weight in <i>M. edulis</i> .	49
<b>Table 3.7</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in <i>M. esulis.</i>	49
Table 3.8 Statistical analysis of body length in L. littorea.	52
Table 3.9 Statistical analysis parameters in L. littorea.	52
Table 3.10 Mean percentage and standard error (Mean ±SE) for parameters	52
in L. littorea.	
Table 3.11 Statistical analysis of parameters in A. equina.	55
Table 3.12 Mean percentage and standard error (Mean ±SE) for parameters	55
in A. equina.	
Table 3.13 Statistical analysis of parameters in A. aspersa.	57
<b>Table 3.14</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters	58
in A. aspersa.	
<b>Table 4.1</b> Numbers of samples applicable in winter experiments.	66
<b>Table 4.2</b> Statistical analysis of C:N ration and lipid content in <i>M. edulis</i> .	67
Table 4.3 Statistical analysis of most parameters in M. edulis.	67
<b>Table 4.4</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in	68
M. esulis.	
Table 4.5 Statistical analysis of parameters in L. littorea.	71
<b>Table 4.6</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in	72
L. littorea.	
Table 4.7 Statistical analysis of most parameters in A. equina.	75
Table 4.8 Statistical analysis of C:N ratio and metabolic rate in A. equina.	76
<b>Table 4.9</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in	76
A. equina.	
Table 4.10 Statistical analysis of parameters in A. aspersa.	79 
Table 4.11 Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters	79

in A. aspersa.

Table 5.1 Dates of collections and experimental periods for summer         experiments	89
<b>Table 5</b> 2 Numbers of samples used in summer experiments	90
<b>Table 5.3</b> Seawater chemistry parameters during the summer condition	91
experiments.	71
Table 5.4 Percentage survival of species under summer conditions.	91
<b>Table 5.5</b> Statistical analysis of parameters in <i>M. edulis</i> .	94
Table 5.6 Statistical analysis of body length change in M. edulis.	94
<b>Table 5.7</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in <i>M. esulis</i> .	94
<b>Table 5.8</b> Statistical analysis of body length change in L. littorea.	97
Table 5.9 Statistical analysis of most parameters in L. littorea.	97
<b>Table 5.10</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in <i>L. littorea</i> .	98
<b>Table 5.11</b> Statistical analysis of body weight and dry weight in A. equina.	100
Table 5.12 Statistical analysis of buoyant weight in A. equina.	100
<b>Table 5.13</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in <i>A</i> equing	101
<b>Table 5 14 Statistical analysis of parameters in A</b> aspersa	103
<b>Table 5.15</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean +SE) for parameters	105
in A. aspersa.	105
<b>Table 6.1</b> Numbers of samples used in summer experiments.	112
<b>Table 6.2</b> Statistical analysis of content of water and C:N ration <i>M. edulis</i> .	113
<b>Table 6.3</b> Statistical analysis of most parameters in <i>M. edulis</i> .	113
<b>Table 6.4</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in	113
M. esulis.	
Table 6.5 Statistical analysis of parameters in L. littorea.	117
<b>Table 6.6</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean $\pm$ SE) for parameters in	117
L. littorea.	
<b>Table 6.7</b> Statistical analysis of content of water and soft tissue weight in A.	121
equina.	
<b>Table 6.8</b> Statistical analysis of most parameters in A. equina.	121
<b>Table 6.9</b> Mean percentage and standard error (Mean ±SE) for parameters in	121
A. equina.	
<b>Table 6.10</b> Statistical analysis of C:N ratio in A. aspersa.	124
<b>Table 6.11</b> Statistical analysis of most parameters in A. aspersa.	125
Table 6.11 Mean percentage and standard error (Mean ±SE) for parameters	125
in A. aspersa.	
Table 7.1 Dates of collections and experimental periods for winter and	134
summer experiments.	

<b>Table 7.2</b> Numbers of samples used in winter and summer experiments.	135
<b>Table 7.3</b> Seawater chemistry parameters during the winter and the summer conditions experiments.	135
Table 7.4 Percentage survival of species under winter and summer conditions.	136
Table 7.5 Statistical analysis of most parameters in M. edulis.	140
Table 7.6 Statistical analysis of metabolic rate in M. edulis.	140
<b>Table 7.7</b> Statistical analysis of body weight change and buoyant weight change in <i>L. littorea</i> .	142
Table 7.8 Statistical analysis of lipid content and metabolic rate in L.	143
littorea.	
<b>Table 7.9</b> Statistical analysis of lipid content in A. equina.	145
Table 7.10 Statistical analysis of most parameters in A. equina.	146
<b>Table 7.11</b> Statistical analysis of parameters in A. aspersa.	149

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Level of pH oceans expected in the future.	7
<b>Figure 1.2</b> The schematic diagram depicts the process of absorption of atmospheric carbon dioxide.	8
Figure 2.1 A: The photographs show marine invertebrates that used in the study.	16
Figure 2.2 Maps showing the locations of collected samples.	18
Figure 2.3 Photographs of the sites of study animal collections.	19
<b>Figure 2.4</b> The photograph, which was taken in the constant temperature room (CTR), shows the three systems (S1, S2 and S3).	22
Figure 2.5 Photograph shows three DrDAQ Data Loggers (Pico Technology).	23
<b>Figure 2.6</b> The diagram shows the various parts of the experimental design for control treatment (TR 2011).	24
<b>Figure 2.7</b> The photograph shows <i>Actina equina</i> in the cage separately and shows a sea anemone trying to escape from the cage (photograph by researcher).	26

<b>Figure 2.8</b> Phytoplankton and brine shrimp cultures by use of flasks and a deck lamp for light and heat.	27
Figure 2.9 Two photos illustrate the gap in <i>A. equine</i> .	28
Figure 2.10 Apparatus used to measure buoyant weight	29
<b>Figure 2.11</b> Diagrams to show how the morphometrics of <i>M. edulis</i> , <i>L. littorea</i> and <i>A. aspersa</i> .	32
Figure 2.12 Diagram showing the various components of the Sohxlet apparatus.	35
<b>Figure 2.13</b> The map shows the mean temperature for the winter average from 1981–2010.	37
<b>Figure 2.14</b> The map shows the mean temperature for the summer average from 1981–2010.	38
Figure 3.1 Percentage survival of <i>M. edulis</i> over six week experimental period in winter.	46
Figure 3.2 Percentage survival of <i>L. littorea</i> over six week experimental period in winter.	47
<b>Figure 3.3</b> Percentage survival of <i>A. equina</i> over six week experimental period in winter.	47
<b>Figure 3.4</b> Percentage survival of <i>A. aspersa</i> over six week experimental period in winter.	48
<b>Figure 3.5</b> Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on body weight change in <i>M. edulis</i> .	49
<b>Figure 3.6</b> Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on body length change in <i>M. edulis</i> .	50
<b>Figure 3.7</b> Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on body width change in <i>M. edulis</i> .	50
<b>Figure 3.8</b> Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on buoyant weight change in <i>M. edulis</i> .	51
<b>Figure 3.9</b> Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on dry weight in <i>M. edulis</i> .	51
<b>Figure 3.10</b> Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on body weight change in <i>L. littorea</i> .	53

Figure 3.11 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 53 body length change in L. littorea. Figure 3.12 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 54 buoyant weight change in L. littorea. Figure 3.13 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 54 dry weight in L. littorea. Figure 3.14 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 56 body weight change in A. equina. Figure 3.15 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 56 buoyant weight change in A. equina. Figure 3.16 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 57 dry weight in A. equina. Figure 3.17 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 58 body weight change in A. aspersa. Figure 3.18 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 59 body length change in A. aspersa. Figure 3.19 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 59 buoyant weight change in A. aspersa. Figure 3.20 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 60 dry weight in A. aspersa. Figure 4.1 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 68 water content in M. edulis. Figure 4.2 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on soft 69 tissue weight in M. edulis. Figure 4.3 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 69 shell weight in M. edulis. Figure 4.4 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 70 lipid content in M. edulis. Figure 4.5 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 70 C:N ratio in M. edulis. Figure 4.6 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 71 metabolic rate in M. edulis. Figure 4.7 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 72 water content in L. littorea.

Figure 4.8 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on soft73tissue weight in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 4.9** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 73 shell weight in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 4.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 74 lipid content in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 4.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 74 C:N ratio in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 4.12** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 75 metabolic rate in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 4.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 76 water content in *A. equina*.

**Figure 4.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 77 soft tissue weight in *A. equina*.

**Figure 4.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 77 lipid content in *A. equina*.

Figure 4.16 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on78C:N ratio in A. equina.78

**Figure 4.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 78 metabolic rate in *A. equina*.

**Figure 4.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 80 water content in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 4.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 80 soft tissue weight in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 4.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 81 lipid content in *A. aspersa*.

Figure 4.21 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on81C:N ratio in A. aspersa.

**Figure 4.22** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter on 82 metabolic rate in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 5.1** Percentage survival of *M. edulis* over six week experimental 92 period in summer.

Figure 5.2 Percentage survival of L. littorea over six week experimental 92 period in summer. Figure 5.3 Percentage survival of A. equina over six week experimental 93 period in summer. Figure 5.4 Percentage survival of A. aspersa over six week experimental 93 period in summer. Figure 5.5 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 95 body weight change in M. edulis. Figure 5.6 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 95 body length change in M. edulis. Figure 5.7 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 96 body width change in *M. edulis*. Figure 5.8 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 96 buoyant weight change in M. edulis. Figure 5.9 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 97 dry weight in M. edulis. Figure 5.10 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 98 body weight change in L. littorea. Figure 5.11 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 99 body length change in L. littorea. Figure 5.12 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 99 buoyant weight change in L. littorea. Figure 5.13 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 100 dry weight in L. littorea. Figure 5.14 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 101 body weight change in A. equina. Figure 5.15 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 102 buoyant weight change in A. equina. Figure 5.16 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 102 dry weight in A. equina. Figure 5.17 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 103 body weight change in A. aspersa.

Figure 5.18 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 104

body length change in A. aspersa.

**Figure 5.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 104 buoyant weight change in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 5.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 105 dry weight in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 6.1** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 114 water content in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 6.2** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 114 soft tissue weight in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 6.3** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 115 shell weight in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 6.4** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 115 lipid content in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 6.5** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 116 C:N ratio in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 6.6** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 116 metabolic rate in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 6.7** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 118 water content in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 6.8** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 118 soft tissue weight in *L. littorea*.

Figure 6.9 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 119 shell weight in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 6.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 119 lipid content in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 6.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 120 C:N ratio in *L. littorea*.

Figure 6.12 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 120 metabolic rate in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 6.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 122 water content in *A. equina*.

**Figure 6.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 122 soft tissue weight in *A. equina*.

**Figure 6.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 123 lipid content in *A. equina*.

**Figure 6.16** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 123 C:N ratio in *A. equina*.

**Figure 6.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 124 metabolic rate in *A. equina*.

**Figure 6.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 125 water content in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 6.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 126 soft tissue weight in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 6.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 126 lipid content in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 6.21** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 127 C:N ratio in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 6.22** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in summer on 127 metabolic rate in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 7.1** Percentage survival of *M. edulis* over six week experimental 137 period in winter and summer.

**Figure 7.2** Percentage survival of *L. littorea* over six week experimental 137 period in winter and summer.

**Figure 7.3** Percentage survival of *A. equina* over six week experimental 138 period in winter and summer.

**Figure 7.4** Percentage survival of *A. aspersa* over six week experimental 138 period in winter and summer.

**Figure 7.5** Percentage survival of all species under study over six week 139 experimental period in winter and summer.

**Figure 7.6** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 140 summer on body weight change in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 7.7** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 141 summer on buoyant weight in *M. edulis*.

**Figure 7.8** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 141 summer on lipid content in *M. edulis*.

Figure 7.9 Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 142

summer on metabolic rate in M. edulis.

**Figure 7.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 143 summer on body weight change in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 7.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 144 summer on buoyant weight in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 7.12** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 144 summer on lipid content in *L. littorea*.

**Figure 7.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 145 summer on metabolic rate in *A. equina*.

**Figure 7.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 146 summer on body weight change in *A. equina*.

**Figure 7.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 147 summer on buoyant weight in *A. equina*.

**Figure 7.16** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 147 summer on lipid content in *A. equina*.

**Figure 7.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 148 summer on metabolic rate in *A. equina*.

**Figure 7.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 149 summer on body weight change in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 7.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 150 summer on buoyant weight in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 7.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 150 summer on lipid content in *A. aspersa*.

**Figure 7.21** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and 151 summer on metabolic rate in *A. aspersa*.

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

#### **1.1 Background:**

The world has begun to clearly see the effects of changes in the Earth's climate. Elevated temperatures (air and ocean), floods, hurricanes, and heavy rains are the most notable effects that have been recognised reflecting this change in the global climate (IPCC, 2007). Climate change may also cause agricultural land to flood, forests to burn, sea levels to rise, and polar and glacial ice to melt (IPCC, 2007). These phenomena may cause changes in natural habitats and ecosystems (Markham, 1996; Justus and Fletcher, 2001), which may threaten the biodiversity (Cheung *et al.*, 2009) and the food security of humans (Schubert *et al.*, 2006). So far, no one can determine with any degree of accuracy the size, rate and timing of these changes (Justus and Fletcher, 2001), which increases concerns about the effects that might arise from these changes.

#### **1.2 Greenhouse Gases:**

To date, perhaps the most prominent phenomenon related to global warming is the blockage of heat generated by the sun's rays from exiting the Earth's atmosphere. This blockage occurs due to a group of gases called greenhouse gases. The most important of these gases are carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) (IPCC, 2007). These gases are emitted during some human activities, predominantly fossil fuel (gas, coal, and oil) burning and various agricultural activities (IPCC, 2007). The most important source of CO<sub>2</sub> is the burning of fossil fuels (IPCC, 2007; Doney, 2009) by human activities (Doney, 2006). It is now largely accepted by the scientific community that continuing increases in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions at the same levels as at present will, in the future, have strong effects on the warming and acidification of the ocean.

#### **1.3 Global Warming and Ocean Warming:**

Greenhouse gases including CO<sub>2</sub> contribute to rising air temperatures, which have actually risen by almost one degree Celsius (1 °C) during the past 100 years (IPCC, 2007). This rate of increase is expected to result in further temperature increases by up to 1 °C to 6.4 °C by the end of this century, due to increased CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (IPCC, 2007). The seawater surface (SS) will be affected by increased air temperatures more than the depths of the oceans, due to its proximity to the atmosphere (Brierley and Kingsford, 2009). Already the seawater surface temperature (SST) has increased by 0.76 °C since the 19th century (IPCC, 2007; Findlay *et al.*, 2008), which means that future warming will continue to affect the ocean (Tyrrell, 2011) as the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions continue. The global mean temperature will be slightly higher than the SST that has been predicted for the future (Gruber, 2011). The current predictions indicate an increase in ocean temperature by 2050 of up to 2 °C (IPCC, 2007) and reaching 4 °C in 2100 (Findlay *et al.*, 2008) (see Fig. 1.1).

#### **1.4 Increased Seawater Temperatures:**

The ability of organisms to cope with changes in temperature varies from one species to another (Peck *et al.*, 2004). Organisms that have a high ability to withstand temperature changes are likely to be less susceptible to the negative effects of the temperature rise (Noone *et al.*, 2013). Among organisms that may experience the greatest effects of changes in temperature are the ectothermal marine organisms (Brierly and Kingsford, 2009). Temperature is the main factor that controls the metabolic and respiratory rates in ectothermal marine organisms (Somero, 2010; Noone *et al.*, 2013), so seawater temperature is a critical environmental factor affecting their physiological processes (Hochachka and Somero, 2002; Sokolova and Portner, 2003; Dong *et al.*, 2011), growth (Dong *et al.*, 2008; Ji *et al.*, 2008), seasonal timing (Portner and Knust, 2007), survival (Barange *et al.*, 2013). If increased, temperatures can have direct impacts on physiological processes and growth (Byrne *et al.*, 2009). An increase in temperature may negatively influence the performance and survival of marine organisms (Harley *et al.*, 2006).

**Table 1.1** The best estimates for the highest temperatures and the likely temperature range at the end of this century, according to the Special Report on Emissions Scenarios (SRES) by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC, 2007) due to greenhouse gas emissions from anthropogenic sources and a number of different expectations. Among these scenarios, the least extreme is B1, wherein the volume of emissions in the atmosphere is expected to reach 600 ppm, followed by the A1T scenario at 700 ppm, then B2 at 800 ppm, A1B at 850 ppm, and A2 at 1250 ppm. The worst expectation is under the A1F1 scenario, in which anthropogenic greenhouse gases emissions in the atmosphere are expected to reach 1550 ppm; they are currently at around 390 ppm. Adapted from (IPCC, 2007).

Case	Tempera (°C from 2090-2099	Atmospheric CO <sub>2</sub> levels		
	Best estimate Likely range		(ppm)	
Constant year 2000 concentrations	0.6	0.3 - 0.9		
B1 scenario	1.8	1.1 – 2.9	600	
A1T scenario	2.4	1.4 - 3.8	700	
B2 scenario	2.4	1.4 - 3.8	800	
A1B scenario	2.8	1.7 - 4.4	850	
A2 scenario	3.4	2.0 - 5.4	1250	
A1F1 scenario	4.0	2.4 - 6.4	1550	

Usually increases in seawater temperature lead to increased metabolic and behavioral activities in aquatic ectotherms, leading to a rise in their rate of oxygen consumption, and thus reduced energy reserves, which could decrease opportunities for growth (Levinton, 2009). For example, the weight of sea cucumber (*Apostichopus japonicus*) decreased gradually upon gradual increases in temperature (Ji *et al.*, 2008). Also, in some calcified marine invertebrates increasing temperatures up to summer averages led to increased calcification (Marshall and Clode, 2004; Langdon and Atkinson, 2005), followed by decreased calcification when temperatures exceeded average summer temperatures (Clausen and Roth, 1975; Abramovitch-Gottlib *et al.*, 2002; Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2006). Predicting the impact of changes in temperature on thermal stress to these model organisms is central to the goal of exploring the consequences of climate change (Helmuth *et al.*, 2002). Somero (2005; 2010) reported that many organisms are already living at temperatures near their thermal

tolerance limits, for example, porcelain crabs, genus *Petrolisthes* (Stillman, 2002) and turban snails, genus *Tegula* (Hellberg, 1998). Therefore, any additional increase in temperature may exacerbate the existing negative effects of climate change (Vihtakari *et al*, 2013). However, the temperature is just one of a range of climate change factors and one cannot as accurately predict future effects by relying solely on the relationship between organisms and the temperatures of their habitats (Harley et al., 2006).

#### **1.5 Ocean Acidification:**

In addition to contributing to global warming,  $CO_2$  plays a central role in ocean acidification. The amount of CO<sub>2</sub> estimated to be present in the atmosphere in the middle of the 18th century was 280 ppm (IPCC, 2007; Bulling et al., 2010). This value had risen to 379 ppm by 2005 (IPCC, 2007; De Bodt et al., 2010) as a result of human activities (Feely et al., 2004; Bibby et al., 2008; Fabry et al., 2008). This represents an addition of approximately  $5.6 \times 10^{11}$  tons of CO<sub>2</sub> to the atmosphere; slightly more than half of which has now been absorbed by the sea (Doney et al., 2009). As a result, the pH level of the surface ocean has decreased by 0.1 unit compared to the pH levels prior to 1750 (Caldeira and Wickett, 2003; Orr et al., 2005; Arnold et al., 2009). The ocean's pH levels were estimated to have been 8.1 before 2007 (IPCC, 2007), and this pH value is expected to decrease by around 0.22 units from current levels by 2050 (Caldeira and Wickett, 2005; Vézina et al., 2008) to reach approximately 7.88. The pH levels of the ocean are currently expected to decline by further approximately 0.4 units by 2100 to 7.7 (Findlay et al., 2008), when CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations may rise to 1200 ppm (Caldeira and Wickett, 2003; Raven et al., 2005; Arnold et al., 2009). The ocean pH levels are expected to continue to decrease during the next two centuries to approximately 6.7, a decrease of 1.4 units compared to the current pH of 8.1 (Caldeira and Wickett, 2005; Harley et al., 2006). Such a drop in pH may have severe biological consequences (Caldeira and Wickett, 2005).

The importance of these abiotic interactions lies in the fact that such chemical changes in seawater may affect the metabolic processes, ecosystems, and biodiversity of marine organisms (Kleypas *et al.*, 2005; Raven *et al.*, 2005; Fabry *et al.*, 2008).

Scientists expect the increased temperatures and decreased pH that are direct effects of increased [CO<sub>2</sub>] (carbon dioxide) (Fabry et al., 2008) to have measurable consequences for marine organisms (Kurihara et al., 2004) and marine ecosystems (Findlay et al., 2008) in the future. Increased [CO<sub>2</sub>] and decreased pH in themselves both affect marine organisms (Wood et al., 2008). According to Gutowska et al. (2008) low pH has negative effects on a range of marine invertebrates, such as molluscs, crustaceans, and sea urchins (Wood et al., 2008) because it directly influences the physiological processes of these creatures (Pörtner et al., 2004; Raven et al., 2005; Arnold et al., 2009). As is the case for all living organisms, survival rates generally depend on the efficiency of all physiological processes (Findlay et al., 2009a). So, in the case of marine invertebrates, increases in  $[CO_2]$  can cause the animal's body fluids to acidify and deviate from the pH optima for many enzymes, thereby reducing metabolic efficiency (Reipschläger et al., 1997; Pörtner et al., 1998; Portner et al., 2000; Langenbuch et al., 2006). However, the ability to mitigate such acidification in the ocean environment differs among various species of marine organisms (Pörtner et al., 2004; Wood et al., 2008).

Feely *et al.* (2004), Harley *et al.* (2006), and Wood *et al.* (2008) have pointed out that the organisms most affected by acidification are those species with exoskeletons composed of calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>), because the pH-dependent rate of metal reduction as it affects calcium saturation in these organisms affects rates of calcification (Fabry, 1990; Gattuso *et al.*, 1998; Orr *et al.*, 2005; Findlay *et al.*, 2008). Among calcareous organisms, calcification is an important process for organising the body's internal pH, growth, and calcium homeostasis (Pörtner, 2008; Findlay *et al.*, 2009a). Decreases in pH typically result in decreases in activity levels and metabolic rates of calcified marine invertebrates (Gutowska *et al.*, 2008).

#### **1.6 CO<sub>2</sub> and Ocean Chemistry:**

Oceans are often thought of as large reservoirs that take up  $CO_2$  gas from the Earth's atmosphere (Feely *et al.*, 2004; Sabine *et al.*, 2004; Morse *et al.*, 2006; Arnold *et al.*, 2009) by absorbing approximately 30% of the total  $CO_2$  emitted into the atmosphere (Sabine *et al.*, 2004; Fabry *et al.*, 2008). This represents 50% of the  $CO_2$ 

output resulting from human activities during the past 100 years (Sabine et al., 2004; Harley et al., 2006; Fabry et al., 2008). Therefore, the oceans have a role in mitigating the effects of CO<sub>2</sub> on the Earth's atmosphere (Orr *et al.*, 2005). As the [CO<sub>2</sub>] increases in the atmosphere, its absorbance by seawater increases. When carbon dioxide dissolves in ocean water, it reacts with seawater (H<sub>2</sub>O) to form carbonic acid (H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>) (Doney, 2006). Most of the carbonic acid  $(H_2CO_3)$  that is formed then decomposes rapidly to bicarbonate ions (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-1</sup>) by losing hydrogen ions (H<sup>+</sup>) (Findlay *et al.*, 2009a). This process may also produce carbonate ions  $(CO_3^{-2})$  and more hydrogen ions ( $H^+$ ) from the decomposition of bicarbonate ions ( $HCO_3^{-1}$ ) (Fabry et al., 2008). Thus, abundant hydrogen ions  $(H^+)$  will be produced, which can react again with the carbonate ions  $(CO_3^{-2})$  to form more bicarbonate ions  $(HCO_3^{-1})$  (Fabry *et al.*, 2008). Carbonate ions  $(CO_3^{-2})$  can interact with water  $(H_2O)$  and carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$ dissolved in water to form still more bicarbonate ions (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-1</sup>) (Orr *et al.*, 2005). This abundance of hydrogen ions (H<sup>+</sup>) causes pH to decrease, leading seawater to become more acidic (Orr et al., 2005). This change in seawater chemistry upon reaction with dissolved CO<sub>2</sub> (Wood et al., 2008; Zeebe and Wolf-Gladrow, 2010) is known as ocean acidification (OA).

Hence, there will be an abundance of bicarbonate ions  $(HCO_3^{-1})$  and hydrogen ions  $(H^+)$ , and lower concentrations of carbonate ion  $(CO_3^{-2})$ , which are necessary for the formation of calcium carbonate  $(CaCO_3)$  that some marine organisms require to build structures and calcareous shells (Fabry *et al.*, 2008). The relevant chemical reactions are illustrated and summarised by the following equations:

$$CO_2 + H_2O \rightarrow H_2CO_3 \tag{1.1}$$

$$H_2CO_3 \rightarrow HCO_3^{-1} + H^+$$
(1.2)

$$HCO_3^{-1} \to CO_3^{-2} + H^+$$
 (1.3)

$$\mathrm{H}^{+} + \mathrm{CO}_{3}^{-2} \to \mathrm{HCO}_{3}^{-1} \tag{1.4}$$

$$CO_2 + CO_3^{-2} + H_2O \rightarrow 2HCO_3^{-1}$$
 (1.5)

$$Ca^{+2} + CO_3^{-2} \rightarrow CaCO_3 \tag{1.6}$$



**Figure 1.1** Decreases in the pH the oceans are expected to continue in the future (Caldeira and Wickett, 2003), with effects on surface water occurring faster than in deeper water. These projections indicate the possibility of decreases in pH of 0.1–0.2 units by 2050 and 0.3–0.4 units by 2100 compared to the pH values recorded in 2000 (Doney, 2006).

#### **1.7 Methodological Comparisons:**

In the 20th century, scientists became aware of the potential seriousness of OA on marine organisms, and research (e.g., Talmage and Gobler, 2009) was initiated in this area and has continued until the present. Some researchers (Byrne *et al.*, 2009; Havenhand and Schlegel, 2009; Parker *et al.*, 2009; Christensen *et al.*, 2011) recognised the need to study the combined effects of high temperature and high [CO<sub>2</sub>] concentration, while other studies focused on the impact of only higher temperatures on marine organisms continue (e.g., Dong *et al.*, 2011). In recent years, researchers have started to take different approaches, with some studies conducted over only a few hours (Kurihara *et al.*, 2007; Comeau *et al.*, 2009), while others are conducted for several days (Kurihara *et al.*, 2004; Miles *et al.*, 2007; Dupont *et al.*, 2008; Kurihara

*et al.*, 2008b). Other researchers have proposed that it is necessary to expose animals for several weeks to the pH and temperature conditions expected in the future, in order to give animals time to acclimatize to these conditions (Wood *et al.*, 2008; Gooding *et al.*, 2009). However, only a few studies have been conducted for extended periods (several months) (Jokiel *et al.*, 2008; Findlay *et al.*, 2009a; Findlay *et al.*, 2009b). Most research studies have been conducted in laboratories (Li and Gao, 2012), although field experiments have been conducted from time to time (Andersson *et al.*, 2009), and some researchers have performed both laboratory and field experiments (Green *et al.*, 2009). Studies have examined the effects of climate change variables on adult animals (Findlay *et al.*, 2009a; McDonald *et al.*, 2009) and effects on larval stages (Dupont *et al.*, 2008; Arnold *et al.*, 2009; Findlay *et al.*, 2010). While most of these experiments have been conducted on living marine organisms with calcified structures (Bibby *et al.*, 2008; Ellis *et al.*, 2009; Ries *et al.*, 2009), very few studies have been conducted on non-calcified marine organisms (Connell and Russell, 2010).



Figure 1.2 This schematic diagram depicts the process of absorption of atmospheric  $CO_2$  by the ocean. Adapted from (Doney, 2006).

It is worth mentioning that most of these research projects used carbon dioxide gas  $(CO_2)$  to manipulate seawater pH conditions to the required acidity levels (Dashfield *et al.*, 2008; Gutowska *et al.*, 2008; Kurihara and Ishimatsu, 2008; Kurihara *et al.*, 2008b) to demonstrate the toxic effects of carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  in itself on marine organisms. However, some researchers have used strong acids such as HCl to control seawater pH levels (Andersson *et al.*, 2009; Kuroyanagi *et al.*, 2009).

Seasonality is a particularly important factor to account for during analysis of invertebrate marine animals because some of them breed in summer and others do so in winter (Kurihara *et al.*, 2008b). De Moel *et al.* (2009) found a difference in shell weight that depended upon the season. Also, growth rates tend to be higher in the summer than at other times of the year (Levinton, 2009). However, few researchers have investigated seasonal effects (Batten and Bamber, 1996) as they relate to OA.

Many studies have contributed to our understanding of OA, as the importance of this phenomenon to our environment becomes increasingly evident. However, more studies of the combined effects of decreased pH and increased temperature on the physiology of individual animals, as well as on broader ecosystem processes, should be undertaken (Findlay et al., 2008). Byrne et al. (2009) and Gooding et al. (2009) have reported a few examples of such investigations. The former mentioned that temperature, not acidification, was the factor responsible for the negative effects observed on the animals under investigation. The latter, in contrast, found that the negative effect of decreased growth was due to reduction of pH, as was found by Comeau et al. (2009). Therefore, many more studies will be required to determine the future implications of combined acidification and temperature increases, and to distinguish whether only one of these factors might be responsible for any adverse effect on the physiology of marine invertebrates. While many results indicate that acidification has adverse effects on marine organisms, other experiments have shown otherwise. Widdicombe and Needham (2007), for example, did not report any significant differences in mortality or metabolic rates of Nereis virens at elevated temperatures and lowered pH. This difference appears more clearly in the findings of Wood et al., (2008), whose results showed a greater increase in the growth and metabolism than had been expected in the organisms they studied. Havenhand and Schlegel (2009), Hauton et al. (2009) and Kurihara and Ishimatsu (2008) showed

clear examples of the potential negative impacts of ocean acidification, and emphasised the need to continue in this type of research, although their results did not conclusively demonstrate substantial damage to species exposed to projected acidic pH conditions. A study of sperm motility and fertilization kinetics (Havenhand and Schlegel, 2009) found no significant effects of seawater acidification on the oyster *Crassostrea gigas.* There were no significant effects on the growth and survival of the amphipod Gammarus locusta under high [CO<sub>2</sub>] seawater and pH reduction of up to 0.5 units (Hauton et al., 2009). Similarly, Kurihara and Ishinatsu (2008) also showed no significant effects of exposure to OA on survival, body size, or egg production in Acartia tsuensis. It is important to realize that some previous experiments were carried out at very high, unrealistic [CO<sub>2</sub>] that were also not close to the expected concentrations (Findlay et al., 2008). As the worst estimates predicted by IPCC (2007) indicate a future pH decrease of 0.4 units by 2100, it is not strictly relevant to conduct experiments under a pH lower than 7.5, as done by Bibby et al., (2007) and Widdicombe and Needham (2007). Similarly, the exposure of animals to concentrations of pCO<sub>2</sub> exceeding 1500 ppm (Kurihara and Ishimatsu, 2008), and Gutowska et al. (2008) was also not realistic. Neither of the experiments immediately above were conducted under conditions closely approximating conditions anticipated for the middle to end of this century. Studies that exposed animals for short periods (Kurihara et al., 2008a) are less relevant, as the animals were not gradually exposed to the final temperature and pH levels required. These approached would not permit the marine invertebrates to adjust to new temperatures, pH, or [CO<sub>2</sub>] in the seawater. Therefore, experiments with medium-term exposure, ranging from five to eight weeks, with one to two weeks to allow the animals to adjust gradually to the new variables, may be informative. Not many previous experiments compared conditions and parameters in summer and winter, despite the importance of seasonal pH changes (Findlay et al., 2009a).

Higher temperatures, up to the maximum levels recorded in summer, may lead to increased rates of calcification (Marshall and Clode, 2004; Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2006). However, low temperatures increase the likelihood of decomposition of calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) (Findlay *et al.*, 2008). It may therefore be important to include future experiments that compare the effects of acidification and rising temperatures on marine invertebrate organisms in summer and winter. Despite the

evidence that high  $[CO_2]$  has a direct impact on marine life (Kurihara *et al.*, 2004), some experiments still use strong acids such as HCl to alter the pH of seawater (Kuroyanagi *et al.*, 2009). Because it is important to observe treatment effects under the most realistic conditions possible, and because seawater can be acidified using  $CO_2$ , the use of strong acids to change the acidity of seawater for laboratory testing can no longer be justified. Thus, under the realistic conditions applied in this study I hope to provide a more realistic estimate of the physiological effects that could result from increased temperatures and increased acidity due to high concentrations of  $CO_2$ .

#### 1.8 Hypotheses and Aims:

This study investigates the effect of elevated temperatures and decreased pH (using  $CO_2$  to adjust pH) on both calcifying and non-calcifying coastal marine invertebrates. Laboratory experiments were conducted in winter and summer by exposing the animals under study to temperatures and acidity levels near those expected to occur in the oceans in the years 2050 and 2100.

#### 1.8.1 Aims:

The aims of this research are:

1. To determine the combined effects of high temperature and high carbon dioxide concentrations, and consequent reduced pH, on marine invertebrates;

2. To estimate the potential of these species of marine organisms to adapt and survive despite higher temperatures and higher carbon dioxide concentrations in the future, according to parameters measured under experimental pH and temperature conditions expected in 2050 and 2100; and

3. To clarify some of the risks that may arise for marine biodiversity due to combinations of high temperature and high carbon dioxide concentrations during winter and summer seasons.

#### 1.8.2 Hypotheses:

1. Calcified marine invertebrates are expected to be more susceptible to the adverse effects of elevated temperature and lower pH than non-calcified marine invertebrates, due to their requirement for carbonate ions during the calcification of their calcium carbonate exoskeletons.

2. Coastal marine invertebrates are expected to be more susceptible to the adverse effects of elevated temperature and lower pH during the summer than during the winter, due to the maximal temperatures reached in seawater during the summer.

Strong responses to increased temperature and decreased pH may lead to sharp declines in physiological processes and levels of calcification in most of the organisms studied here. Some organisms may respond by increasing their formation of lime, or other metabolic processes that could protect the organisms from the changes in their surrounding environment. Thus, non-calcified marine invertebrates may have a greater capacity to adapt and resist the impact of the acidification than do the calcified marine invertebrates, because the non-calcified species do not need to expend energy for the growth and maintenance of shells or other structures. Seasonal conditions might also influence physiological processes and calcification under conditions of acidification. Finally, do the seasons affect the calcification rates and metabolism of the organisms under study?

#### **1.9 About this thesis:**

This thesis has been divided into eight chapters. Chapter 1 comprises the Introduction, and presents the research background and the literature review. Chapter 2 describes the methods employed in these studies, the study sites, the species of animals studied, the parameters measured, and the devices used in this study. Chapters 3 and 4 describe results of the study of potential effects of climate conditions projected for the next century on animals under study in winter. Chapters 5 and 6 discuss results of the same kinds of studies as performed in the two previous chapters, but during the summer. Chapter 7 presents comparisons between the results from the

studies conducted during winter and summer for most of measurements obtained in the previous chapters.

#### **Chapter 2. Methods**

#### 2.1 Choices and Collection of Animals:

#### 2.1.1 Choices of Animals:

Four species of coastal marine invertebrates were chosen (Fig. 2.1) including two species that are calcified species (*see* 1 & 2 below), and two that are non-calcified (*see* 3 & 4 below):

1. Common Blue Mussel (Mytilus edulis):

*M. edulis* is a calcified intertidal zone invertebrate and is an important food source for other marine organisms, as well as birds and humans (Beesley *et al.*, 2008; Bibby *et al.*, 2008). These mussels are also used widely as an indicator species in toxicology studies, and they play an important role in many marine ecosystems (Beesley *et al.*, 2008). They occur in temperate coastal regions of the Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea, along the coasts of France and Canada to the coasts of Chile and Argentina, and the west coast of the North American continent (Berge *et al.*, 2006). This species is also found around the North Sea, the Baltic Sea, and the English Channel. These mussels feed by filtering plankton from sea water, and grow to sizes of up to 100 mm (Hook, 2008). Blue mussels from the North Sea have quite a wide range of thermal tolerance from sub-zero temperatures in the winter to  $35^{\circ}$ C in summer (Brenner and Buck, 2011). They can have extended life spans of 18 to 24 years old (Zagata *et al.*, 2008) (see Fig. 2.1A).

#### 2. Common Periwinkle (*Littorina littorea*):

*L. littorea*, are calcified invertebrates that are food for various seabirds that are common to the North Atlantic (Hook, 2008). They are often highly abundant in intertidal zones, where they play an important role as grazers (Bibby *et al.*, 2007). Common Periwinkles are also found in the western and eastern Atlantic and from southern Portugal to the White Sea (Cummins *et al.*, 2002). This species has a wide range of thermal tolerance from sub-zero to 30°C (Jackson, 2008). Individuals usually grow to sizes between 15 and 40 mm. In the field, they may live for at least five years,

while in captivity their life span may extend up to nine years (Oehlmann, 2004) (see Fig. 2.1A).

#### 3. Beadlet Anemone (Actinia equina):

The Cnidarian species *A. equina*, is an abundant non-calcified invertebrates that inhabit many ecologically diverse marine environments (Gadelha *et al.*, 2010). This species plays an environmentally significant role, as it is widespread in the marine environments of the North Sea (Scandinavia) and the English Channel. Its range extends to the Atlantic northwestern side of the Iberian Peninsula, and is abundant along the Portuguese coast, and also in the Mediterranean Sea and along the coast of Morocco. These sea anemones are highly adapted to the intertidal zone, where they tolerate extremes of temperature and drought. They can reach body sizes of up to 50 mm (Hook, 2008). They are able to move very slowly, and feed on whatever arrives in the currents and falls onto their tentacles and oral disc (Davenport *et al.*, 2011) (see Fig. 2.1A).

#### 4. European Sea Squirt (Ascidiella aspersa):

*A. aspersa* are roughly block-shaped invertebrates, up to 10 cm in length (Naylor, 2005) that exist in the shallow subtidal zone at depths between 5 meters and 90 meters, and are commonly attached by their bases to marina piers (Morton and Dinesen, 2011). *A. aspersa* can also be found in the intertidal (Inglis *et al.*, 2005) and lower intertidal zone (Curtis, 2005; Mackenzie, 2011). They are widely distributed in bodies of water such as the English Channel, the North Sea, the Baltic Sea, and the Mediterranean Sea. *A. aspersa* gametes are released in spring, and it has a relatively short 18-month life cycle that lasts from mid-summer to the winter of the following year (Morton and Dinesen, 2011) (see Fig. 2.1B).

The criteria for choosing the animal species for this study included species availability and abundance on British coastal beaches, and that these species are not threatened by extinction. Another relevant criterion was the diversity of the biological characteristics of the selected species. We selected two main groups: the first group includes two species of calcified marine invertebrates and the second group includes two species of non-calcified marine invertebrates. Some of the study species are semi-mobile (*A. equina and L. littorea*) and others are sessile (*A. aspersa*) and sedentary

(*M. edulis*). There is also diversity in the manner in which each organism feeds: some are carnivorous (*A. equina and M. edulis*), and some feed on algae and plankton (*L. littorea, A. aspersa, and M. edulis*). Some of these animals actively seek and collect their food (*A. equina, L. littorea and M. edulis*), while others feed by filtration (*A. aspersa and M. edulis*).



**Figure 2.1** A: Photograph above show collected marine invertebrates; two of the species, *M. edulis* and *L. littorea*, are calcified, and the other one, *A. equina*, is non-calcified (photo by researcher). B: Photograph of non-calcified species: *A. aspersa* (photo by researcher).

#### 2.1.2 Collection Methodology:

All of these species of coastal marine invertebrates were collected during low tide between the high and low water marks. Animals were collected during the winter 2011/2012 and the summer 2012, near Newbiggin-by-the-Sea, Northumberland County (55°10'38"N, 001°31'59"W) and Hartlepool Marina, Hartlepool, North England, United Kingdom (54°41'10"N, 001°12'45"W) (Fig. 2.2 and Fig 2.3). Animals were collected on a total of six occasions (Table 2.1).

**Table 2.1** Dates of collection of animal species under study and when animals from each collection date were used. The first collection was performed to ensure that animals could survive in aquaria under average summer temperature conditions. Results from the second collection were not used because the experiment missed samples of *A. aspersa*.

Dates collected	Species	Experimental group
01 February 2012	All species	Winter conditions
24 May 2012	All species	Summer conditions
19 July 2012	All species	Summer conditions
24 September 2012	All species	Winter conditions

Animals were collected by hand and placed in plastic containers containing local seawater. They were then transported to the laboratory at Newcastle University and held in seawater at temperatures near those of the environment from which they were collected. Debris such as small bits of rock and shell (such as shells of barnacles) were cleaned from the study animals, parasites such as worms and *Gammarus spp.* that were visible on *A. aspersa* were also removed. Table 2.2 Shows the number of animals that were used in each experiment in summer and winter, and in each microcosm.

**Table 2.2** Number of animals surviving after acclimatization period. Mortality percentage over a two-week period of acclimatization was not calculated.

Seasons	Treatments											
	TR 2011				TR 2050				TR 2100			
	M.e.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.	M.e.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.	M.e.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.
Winter1	41	28	36	30	43	32	32	22	25	24	34	23
Winter2	43	38	17	72	38	37	14	75	33	39	15	53
Summer1	49	55	25	18	45	53	25	18	54	52	25	19
Summer2	22	47	28	15	26	55	25	19	24	54	21	21



**Figure 2.2** Maps showing the locations of sample collection. (Box top right): Newbiggin-by-the-Sea; species collected included *Mytilus edulis, Littorina littorea,* and *Actinia equina.* (Box bottom right): Hartlepool Marina; species collected included *Mytilus edulis* and *Ascidiella aspersa.* The maps from: (Marine Digimap Service).

#### 2.2 Experimental Design:

The experimental designs used here followed that reported by Widdicombe and Needham (2007), Gazeau *et al.* (2007), Findlay *et al.* (2008), Dashfield *et al.* (2008), Munday *et al.* (2009) and Suwa *et al.* (2010) with some modifications. Experiments took place in a constant temperature room (C.T.R.) on the 5th floor, School of Biology, Newcastle University. Sterile filtered (5  $\mu$ m filter) seawater was used throughout. Seawater was placed in three header tanks (mixer tanks) representing the conditions of pH and temperature predicted for three current and future time periods: current 2011, 2050, and 2100. Each header tank (mixer tanks) consisted of a plastic container (depth = 40 cm; width = 60 cm; height = 42 cm; volume = 80 l) filled with ~40 litres of seawater. These tanks were placed beneath the microcosm tanks (see Fig. 2.4) that were provided with ceramic heaters (Aquael Plastic Neo Heater), one or more as needed, to raise the microcosm temperature to the required levels. The water was aerated using an air pump (Clear Seal LP-60) connected to an airstone diffuser (from Aqua Medic) placed at the bottom of the tank.



**Figure 2.3** Photographs of the sites of study animal collections. A: Hartlepool Marina; species collected from the marine pier included *Mytilus edulis* and *Ascidiella aspersa*. B: Newbiggin-by-the-sea; species collected from the rocky shore included *Mytilus edulis, Littorina littorea*, and *Actinia equina*. (photo A and B taken by researcher).
A pH computer (Aqua Medic, resolution pH 0.01) was used to maintain and modify the pH of the seawater in the header tank (mixer tank). The system consisted of a pH electrode (Aqua Medic) that constantly measured and reported the pH of the seawater to the connected pH computer that was also connected to a carbon dioxide CO<sub>2</sub> cylinder (Aqua Medic) via a solenoid valve (Aqua Medic) to control the passage of carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  that would control the seawater pH. The solenoid valve was connected via a fine 4 mm clear plastic tube (Reefphyto Company, UK) to an airstone (Aqua Medic) that was placed at the bottom of the header tank and adjusted to provide small bubbles that allowed the gas to dissolve easily into the seawater. When the pH electrode senses that the pH in the header tank has increased, the electrode signals the pH computer to open the solenoid and allow the CO<sub>2</sub> to be released. The gas flow rate was controlled using a gas bubble counter (Aqua Medic). When the required pH is attained, the pH computer closes the solenoid valve and stops the flow of CO<sub>2</sub>. The pH computer was calibrated weekly using buffers of pH 7.00 and pH 4.00 (Aqua Medic). An air pump (Clear Seal LP-60) was used to pump atmospheric air into the header tank using an airstone (Aqua Medic) placed at the bottom of the tank.

Approximately 20 1 of seawater was pumped from each header tank to a microcosm (D: 40 cm; W: 80 cm; H: 25 cm; Vol: 62 l) that was placed above the header tanks. The water pump (Rio 3100, Powerhead) constantly pumped the seawater from the header tanks to the microcosms at a rate of approximately 60  $1.h^{-1}$ . Seawater was recycled back to the header tank via several overflows (see Fig. 2.4).

Acidity and temperature levels in the microcosms were monitored constantly using a pH electrode (Pico Technology; resolution pH 0.02) and a thermistor (Pico Technology; 0.01 °C at 25 °C) connected to a laptop computer via an analogue–to-digital converter (Pico Technology; DrDAQ Data Logger) (see Fig. 2.5). The laptop ran proprietary software (PicoLog; Pico Technology) and was used for data collection.

Five litres of seawater of the same composition and pH as the seawater in each header tank was added to each header tank daily (equivalent to 25% of the total seawater in the header tank) up to five days a week. As the extra seawater was mixed with the existing seawater, a further overflow siphoned the extra seawater into a waste container. The new seawater was added slowly to the header tank at a speed of

approximately  $(2 \ l.h^{-1})$  to avoid any sudden changes in the acidity or temperature of the seawater in the system (see Fig. 2.6).

The first system (S1) represents current levels of pH and temperature replicating the 2011 conditions and is designated treatment 2011 (TR 2011). The second and third systems (S2 & S3) represent the levels of pH and temperature expected to occur at the middle and end of this century (2050 & 2100), and are designated treatment 2050 and treatment 2100 (TR 2050 & TR 2100), respectively. Animals were divided randomly into three groups and initially placed in conditions similar to the temperature and pH conditions from which they were collected. Each treatment group was then acclimatised gradually over a period of of 10 to 15 days (Anestis *et al.*, 2008; Anthony *et al.*, 2008) to the temperature and pH levels required for each treatment (TR 2011, TR 2050 and TR 2100) (see Fig. 2.6).

In order to be able to identify individual animals and because some of the animals are able to climb out of the water, animals were studied individually. Cages were made to separate the experimental animals that can move, such as *Littorina littorea* and *Actinia equina*, and to prevent them from climbing above the level of the seawater (see Fig. 2.7). Cages were made of non-stick mesh  $33 \times 40$  cm (Planit Products Ltd., UK). These cages isolated the animals but the mesh ensured that the animals were still exposed to the same seawater conditions as all the other animals in the same treatment. Furthermore, by using mesh cages, it was possible to visually monitor the animals.

Light was provided by two daylight fluorescent tubes and animals were exposed to 8:16 h (L:D) to simulate the winter period and 16:8 h (L:D) to simulate the summer period, where; L = light, D = dark, and h = hours.



**Figure 2.4** The photograph above, which was taken in the constant temperature room (CTR), shows each of the three systems (S1, S2, and S3). Each system includes a microcosm (M) to hold the animals and is linked by tubing to the header tank (mixer tank) (HT). As can be seen, condensation inside the microcosms indicates that the tanks are completely closed. Inside each enclosure, there are cages (C) to keep the animals underwater, a water pump (Wp) and a manual thermometer (mT) to monitor the temperature of the seawater even in the event that the automated monitor system were disrupted (photograph by researcher).

# 2.3 Feeding:

The animals under study were fed five times a week on a standard marine aquarium diet of phytoplankton (*Nannochloropsis* spp.) (purchased from Reefphyto Company). The phytoplankton were cultured in the laboratory in large conical flasks (2 and 3 l) using the same seawater that was used to fill the aquaria. At the start of phytoplankton culture, Liquid Starter Culture *Nannochloropsis* (Reefphyto Company)

was used to stimulate growth, and Phyto Nutrient – Modified F/2 Medium (Reefphyto Company) was used to provide nutrients to the algae culture during the experiments (see Fig. 2.8). Study animals were also fed brine shrimp (*Artemia* spp.). Brine shrimp eggs (Reefphyto Company) were hatched and grown in the laboratory using the same seawater source that was used to fill the aquaria. Eggs were added to the seawater in the ratio of 2.5 ml.l<sup>-1</sup> of seawater (see Fig. 2.7). No special diet was provided to *L. littorea*, but it fed on the algae that grew in the microcosms.



**Figure 2.5** Photograph shows three DrDAQ Data Loggers (Pico Technology) with a resolution of pH 0.02 and temperature of 0.01 °C at 25 °C (enclosed in three plastic containers to maintain humidity levels around the devices), connected to a Toshiba laptop (photograph by researcher).



**Figure 2.6** The diagram above shows the various parts of the experimental design for the control treatment (TR 2011). TR 2011 represents the first system, S1, which includes a header tank (mixer tank) linked to microcosms by tubes. Header tanks include a heater, pH electrode, a water pump, an airstone for  $O_2$  bubbles, and an airstone for  $CO_2$  bubbles. Microcosms include cages for animals, a pH electrode, and a temperature thermistor. Also shown is the  $CO_2$  system, which includes a  $CO_2$  cylinder linked to a pH computer via a solenoid valve (drawing by researcher).

#### 2.4 Care of Aquaria:

The microcosms were cleaned weekly to remove waste and excess food by using a water siphon or vacuum made from 0.5 m tube (6 mm). Any dead animals were removed from the microcosms as soon as they were detected. All header tanks and microcosms were cleaned with 70% alcohol swabs and rinsed with water thoroughly before and after each experiment.

#### 2.5 Measurement of Seawater Parameters:

#### 2.5.1 Acidity (pH) and Temperature:

The pH in each header tank was measured by taking a reading every 10 minutes using a DrDAQ Data Logger and PicoLog software (Pico Technology), calibrated weekly using buffers of 4.00, 7.00 and 9.21 (Aqua Medic). Temperature was measured every 10 minutes using a thermistor connected to the computer via a converter (DrDAQ Data Logger; Pico Technology). The computer ran proprietary software (PicoLog; Pico Technology), and was calibrated weekly using a digital thermometer (Aqua Medic) with an accuracy of  $\pm$  0.5 °C. See Table 2.3.

#### 2.5.2 Salinity:

Salinity was measured daily in the morning and before and after the addition of any fresh seawater by directly sampling from each microcosm using a handheld salinity refractometer on a scale of 0-100% (DIGI T – 100 ATC). When necessary, the salinity of the seawater was adjusted to (34-35 ppt) by adding some distilled water (Sokolova and Pörtner, 2003).

#### 2.5.3 Dissolved Oxygen:

The amount of dissolved oxygen in the microcosm seawater was measured daily by dipping an Oakton DO 6 Dissolved Oxygen Meter (Cole-Parmer, accuracy of  $\pm 0.3$ ) electrode into the seawater for five minutes, then taking a reading.

#### 2.6 Survival:

Survival was calculated after the end of a period of acclimatization, as animals lost per day; results were calculated weekly. Mortality was determined by visual observation; all dead animals were removed as soon as they were identified to avoid any contamination of the microcosms (LeBlanc *et al.*, 2010). Deaths of *M. edulis* were determined by noting any individuals with open shells in the absence of any tactile stimulation. Deaths of *L. littorea* were very difficult to determine by visual observation, so the animals checked weekly by direct examination of the aperture and

operculum. In *A. equina*, death was apparent upon the emergence of a large gap in the middle of the animal together with atrophy and early tissue decay (Fig 2.9).

Animals found in this condition were immediately removed from the microcosm to avoid spread of detrimental microbes as the process of death can take several days. Deaths of *A. aspersa* were identified upon discovery of the animals' internal organs scattered about the microcosm after an animal burst.

The following equation was used to calculate the percentage survival over the experimental period of six weeks:

SRV (%) = (NS - NE) /NS × 100; (2.1)

where SRV (%) is percentage of survival, NS is initial number of animals after the acclimatization period at the start of week 0, and NE is the final number of animals at the end of week 6.



**Figure 2.7** The photograph shows sea anemones, *Actina equina*, in their separate cage, and shows a sea anemone trying to escape from the cage (photograph by researcher).



**Figure 2.8** Phytoplankton and brine shrimp cultures grown in flasks (2 and 3 L) and using a deck lamp for light and heat (temperature range was  $27 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C} - 30 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C}$ ) (photography by researcher).

# 2.7 Growth Changes:

Individual animals were selected randomly from each species and measurements were carried out in the first week and then measured again in the sixth week (over a six-week period).

# 2.7.1 Body Weight:

Animals were removed from aquaria and placed on filter paper for three to five minutes to get rid of as much excess water as possible, then were weighed in ambient air using an open-top balance (Precisa 310M). The following equation was used to calculate the percentage weight change over the experimental period of six weeks:

$$PWG(\%) = (Wf - Wi) / Wi \times 100; \qquad (2.2)$$

where Wi is the initial body weight (g) after the acclimatization period at the start of week 0, and Wf is the final body weight (g) at the end of week 6.



**Figure 2.9** The two photos above illustrate the gap that appears in the centre of animal when individuals of *A. equina* are beginning to die.

# 2.7.2 Buoyant Weight:

We determined buoyant weight using the method described by Davies (1989) with some modifications. Briefly, a small cage was hung from the bottom of a balance (Precisa 310M) by a small length of string. The balance was placed on a table in which a hole had been cut to allow the string to reach a 5 l container filled with seawater (see 2.10) placed below the table, and the cage was submersed in the seawater container without touching its bottom surface. Each animal was then taken out of the microcosm, placed in the cage, and left for a period not less than four minutes to allow the balance reading to stabilise. Data were then recorded. Buoyant weight (BW) was calculated using the following equation (Jokiel *et al.*, 1978; Ferrier-Pages *et al.*, 2000):

$$BW (g) = W_{water} / [1 - (D_{water} / D_{object})]$$
(2.3)

where BW is buoyant weight in g,  $W_{water}$  is the weight of the sample under seawater (g),  $D_{water}$  is the seawater density in g.ml<sup>-1</sup>, and  $D_{object}$  is the mean sample density in g.ml<sup>-1</sup>.

The percentage of buoyant weight change (PBWR) is ultimately calculated using the following equation:

PBWR % = 
$$[(W_f - W_i)/W_i] \ge 100$$
 (2.4)

where PBWR is percentage buoyant weight %,  $W_f$  is final buoyant weight, and  $W_i$  is initial buoyant weight.



**Figure 2.10** Apparatus used to measure buoyant weight. A: sensitive balance (Precisa 310M); B: table with a hole (not visible) for the string to pass through; C: a 5 l container filled with seawater. Inside the container is a small cage to put the animals in for weighing. The cage is attached to the balance by a string and the cage does not rest on the bottom of the seawater container (personal photograph).

Measurement of weight underwater was performed because buoyant weight is neutralized by the weight of water and mucus in the body (Jokiel *et al.*, 1978; Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2006) and thus gives more accurate measurements of growth. This method was also used to determine calcification in calcified marine invertebrates, because most of the weight changes in calcified marine invertebrates are due to increased exoskeletal mass and are thus effective measures of calcification (Bucher and Harrison, 2000). Also, in calcified marine invertebrate changes measurement of morphological parameters (e.g. shell length and mass) one of methods to calculate the calcification (Findlay *et al.*, 2009b).

#### 2.7.3 Morphometric analyses:

Morphometric analyses of the animals were performed over a six-week period using a digital calliper. For *M. edulis*, shell lengths and widths were measured, while for *L. littorea* and *A. aspersa*, only the length measurements were taken (see Fig. 2.11). Body lengths in *A. equina* were not measured because the structure and size of these animals depends on the amount of water flowing through their bodies, which is constantly changing.

The following equation was used to calculate the percentage body length change over the experimental period of six weeks:

$$PL(\%) = (Lf - Li) / Li \times 100$$
(2.5)

where PL (%) is percentage body length change, Li is the initial body length (mm) after the acclimatization period at the start of week 0, and Lf is the final body length (mm) at the end of week 6. Further, the following equation was used to calculate the percentage body width change over the experimental period of six weeks:

$$PWd (\%) = (Wdf - Wdi) / Wdi \times 100$$
(2.6)

where PWd (%) is percentage body width change, Wdi is the initial body width (mm) after the acclimatization period at the start of week 0, and Wdf is the final body length (mm) at the end of week 6.

#### 2.8 Metabolic Rates:

Metabolism rates were measured after the six-week experimental period using closed-system respirometry (Edmunds *et al.*, 2011). Briefly, each animal was placed in a 50 ml container with a lid and left for around 15 minutes to acclimate (Christensen *et al.*, 2011). The container was filled with seawater and left under the water to make sure that there were no air bubbles. The container was then slowly and carefully closed with Parafilm<sup>TM</sup> (Edmunds *et al.*, 2011) and replaced in the original microcosm to maintain the temperature. After around 2 hours (the actual duration of each experiment having been recorded), 1.5 ml of seawater was removed using a 2.5 ml syringe fitted with a needle. The needle was then removed (to minimise air bubbles) and water was injected gently into the measuring chamber and allowed to settle, then the reading was recorded. One of the sample containers contained only seawater, for which the rate of oxygen consumption was recorded after the same time period as for the experiment. Then the oxygen consumption rate (VO<sub>2</sub>) was calculated as suggested (Zhang *et al.*, 2012) using the following equation:

$$VO_2 (mgO_2.g^{-1}.h^{-1}) = (C_0 - C_t) V / (WW.T)$$
(2.6)

where OCR is the oxygen consumption rate,  $C_o$  is the oxygen content in the blank bottles,  $C_t$  is the oxygen content in the animal bottles (mgO<sub>2</sub>.L<sup>-1</sup>), WW is the wet weight of the animal in (g), T is the duration of time the animal remained in the container in (h), and V is the volume of water in the bottle (l). The oxygen meter was calibrated before and after each series of measurements. A volume of 1–1.5 ml of a erated water was placed in the measuring chamber for calibration, then 1-1.5 ml of a solution of sodium sulphite was placed in the measuring chamber until the oxygen meter reading reached zero, and thus calibration was complete. The oxygen content of the distilled aerated water and the oxygen content of the seawater in the microcosm at the start of the experiment were recorded.

#### 2.9 Storage of Samples:

At the end of the experimentation period, the animals were weighed and then placed in 60 ml plastic containers with a screw cap (VWR, UK) and were placed in the freezer at -80 °C for subsequent analysis.

# 2.10 Freeze-drying:

All samples for analysis of body composition, were freeze-dried (Kerr *et al.*, 1982; Pierson and Stack, 1988; Speakman, 2001). Animals were placed in open plastic containers that were placed in the freeze dryer (MODUL YOD Freeze Dryer, Thermo Electron Corporation). After confirming that no leakage was occurring, the samples were dried for 48 hours.



**Figure 2.11** Diagrams of the morphometric parameters of the animals (A and B refer to length and width for *M. edulis*, and C and D refer to length for *A. aspersa* and *L. littorea*, respectively) that were recorded. The arrows indicate the locations of the measurements that were taken. Images were taken from (Campbell and Nicholls, 1977).

# 2.11 Body Composition Analysis:

# 2.11.1 Water Content:

The percentage total water content of the total body mass was calculated after the six-week experimental period by calculating the difference between the weight of the sample before freeze-drying and the weight of the sample after freeze-drying, using the following equation:

$$PTW (\%) = (W_{air} - W_{dry}) / W_{air} \times 100$$
(2.7)

where PTW is the percentage total water content (%),  $W_{air}$  is body weight before dehydration (g), and  $W_{dry}$  is body weight after dehydration (g).

# 2.11.2 Dry weight:

The whole body weights and total body masses after freeze-drying of animals were determined, including both soft tissues and shells of calcified organisms, or only soft tissue for non-calcified organisms. Percentage dry weight (DW) values at the end of the six-week period were calculated from the data using the following equation:

$$DW(\%) = W_{dry} / W_{air} \times 100$$
 (2.8)

where DW is percentage dry weight (%),  $W_{dry}$  is body weight after dehydration (g), and  $W_{air}$  is body weight before dehydration (g).

#### 2.11.3 Shell weight:

This measurement was taken only for calcified animals (*M. edulis* and *L. littorea*). Shell weight was determined after the six-week experimental period by separating the soft tissue from the hard tissue (shell) then weighing hard tissue and soft tissue separately. Percentage shell weight of the total dry weight was calculated using the following equation:

$$SHW (\%) = DW / ShW \times 100$$

$$(2.9)$$

where SHW is the percentage shell weight (%), ShW is shell weight (g), and DW is total dry weight (g).

# 2.11.4 Soft Tissue Weight:

All soft tissue weights including gonads, so dry weight is similar to soft tissue weight in non-calcified marine invertebrates. In calcified marine invertebrates the soft tissue weight of total body mass was determined after the six-week experimental period by separating the soft tissue from the hard tissue (shell) and then weight of hard tissue and soft tissue separately. Then was calculated by using the following equation:

where STW(%) is presented percentage soft tissue weight change; STW(g) is presented soft tissue weight (g) and DW is presented dry weight of total body mass (g).

# 2.11.5 Lipid Content:

The lipid content of only dried total (including gonads) soft tissue was measured after the six-week experimental period using a Soxhlet apparatus (Speakman, 2001) (see Fig. 2.12).

# Analytical procedure:

Each sample was weighed (whole animal for non-calcified marine invertebrates and without shell for calcified marine invertebrates) before being put into a cellulose thimble. The samples were kept in place with a small plug of cotton wool. The thimble containing the sample was then placed into the extraction tube. Solvent (petroleum ether) was then added to the system (about 90 ml in a 100-ml flask). The solvent within the flask was heated using a hot plate until it boiled slowly. Solvent vapours condensed when they reached the condenser coils and dripped slowly into the extraction tube containing the thimble, bathing the thimble and sample in hot petroleum ether. When the solvent in the extraction tube reached a particular level, the solvent was siphoned back into the boiling flask. The solvent was then reheated and the cycle was repeated over a total period of approximately 4 h. The thimble containing the sample was then removed from the extraction tube and placed in a drying oven at a temperature of 70 °C for 8-10 hours to completely evaporate the solvent. After drying, the sample was weighed and the fat content was determined by calculating the difference between the dry mass of the animal before extraction and the dry mass of the animal after extraction. The percentage fat content was calculated using the following equation:

$$PFC = (DM_{dry} - DM_{extr.}) / DM_{dry} \times 100$$
(2.11)

where PFC is percentage fat content (%);  $DM_{dry}$  is dry weight before extraction (g), and  $DM_{extr.}$  is dry weight after extraction (g).



Figure 2.12 Diagram showing the various components of the Soxhlet apparatus (Speakman, 2001).

# 2.11.6 C:N Ratio:

C:N ratios were determined after the six-week experimental period, on only dried soft tissue, using a vario MACRO Cube CN Analyser (Elementar) linked to a computer. Briefly, these methods are based on combustion in an oxygen atmosphere and post-combustion analysis of samples in a reduction tube in the furnace of the analyser. Samples of 0.1 g are placed into the analyser, which determines C and N

content of combustion products by gas chromatography. Results are obtained in terms of carbon mass, nitrogen mass, and the C:N ratio.

# 2.12 Determination of Temperatures and pH Levels for Treatments:

While both air and ocean temperatures are expected to increase in the future, ocean temperatures are predicted to increase by less than half the anticipated increase in air temperatures (Brown and McLachlan, 2002). This study focuses on the physiological changes likely to result in coastal marine invertebrates that inhabit the marine tidal zone under future environmental conditions predicted to include higher temperatures and [CO<sub>2</sub>]. Because the natural surface-water habitat of these invertebrates is in direct contact with the air, and global average air temperatures will vary only slightly from the ocean surface temperatures (Gruber, 2011), monitoring water temperatures and average air temperatures in the northeast of England, as recorded on the website of the UK Met Office (http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/) was necessary for the present study. Average water temperatures of the North Sea during the course of the year range from 18 °C in the summer to 3 °C in the winter (Wiltshire and Manly, 2004). Data from the Met Office website was used to determine typical temperatures during the winter and the summer for the control treatments (TR 2011) based on the average temperatures for the past 30 years (1981-2010) (see Fig. 2.13 and Fig. 2.14). We found that the temperatures ranged from 4 °C to 5 °C in winter and from 14 °C to 15 °C in the summer along the northeastern coast of the UK. Air temperatures are predicted to have increased from 4 °C to 6 °C by 2100 (IPCC, 2007), as the best estimate of the worst-case scenario (A1F1) in the present study. Temperatures were calculated to determine the expected temperature ranges in 2050 and 2100 (see Table 2.3).

The pH levels to be used in the experimental procedures were determined according to Turley and Findlay, (2009) (adapted from (Turley *et al.*, 2006) using data from Pearson and Palmer (2000), with a range of  $\pm$  0.5 units for each treatment). In 2011, pH of seawater in the study region was predicted to be between 8.00 and 8.10, so for the purpose of our experiment, pH was adjusted to 8.05 (see Table 2.3). These figures agree with those predicted by (Harrould-Kolieb and Savitz, 2009), which

indicated that under a 'business-as-usual' greenhouse gas emissions scenario, pH would have decreased to 8.09, decreased further to between 7.91 and 7.97 by 2050, and to 7.78 by 2100. Similarly Fabry *et al.* (2008), predicted that ocean pH would range between 8.05 and 8.06 by 2010, between 7.91 and 7.92 for 2050, and between 7.76 and 7.74 by 2100.



**Figure 2.13** The map above shows the 30-year mean temperature winter average from 1981–2010 in degrees Celsius (°C) (Met Office website). The circle indicates the region from which samples were collected and experiments were conducted.



**Figure 2.14** The map above shows the 30-year mean temperature summer average from 1981–2010 in degrees Celsius (°C) (Met Office website). The circle refers to the region from which samples were collected and the experiments were conducted.

**Table 2.3** Three treatments are presented: current (TR 2011) represents the control, while the conditions expected for the middle of this century (TR 2050) and the end of the century (TR 2100) represent estimates for pH and temperature based on predictions from a wide range of previous publications, a target pH range of  $\pm$  0.5 units for the present study.

	TR 2011	TR 2050	TR 2100	
Predicted temperature;	4 °C–5 °C;	6.2 °C–6.9 °C;	8.5 °C–10.5 °C;	
Experimental temperature (winter)	4.7 °C	6.4 °C	8.7 °C	
Predicted temperature; Experimental	14 °C–15 °C;	16.2 °C–16.9 °C;	18.5 °C–20.5 °C;	
temperature (summer)	14.8 °C	17.0 °C	19.2 °C	
Predicted pH; Experimental pH	8.00-8.10;	7.87–7.97;	7.73–7.83;	
(winter and summer)	8.05	7.84-7.90	7.65–7.75	

# 2.13 Statistics:

The IBM SPSS Statistics 21 predictive analytics software was used to perform the statistical analyses. All percentage data (body weight change, body length change, body width change, buoyant weight change, dry weight (and conversely, water content), soft tissue weight, shell weight, and lipid content) were converted to proportional positive data and then arc-sine square-root transformed (Dytham, 2011). C:N ratio and VO<sub>2</sub> (respiration rate) data were square-root or log transformed. Tests for normal distribution were performed using a Shapiro-Wilk's test, then homogeneity of variances were assessed using Levene's test. When data were normally distributed and homogeneous (equal variances), variation between treatments was tested using one-way ANOVA and specific differences were identified using the *post hoc* Scheffe's test. When normality tests indicated that data were non-normally distributed or that variances were heterogeneous, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to perform one-way analysis of variance, and if positive, the Mann-Whitney U test was then used to test for differences between specific treatments. An Excel program was used to create graphics from the data.

# Chapter 3. Effect of Elevated Temperature and Reduced pH on Four Marine Invertebrates in Winter

#### <u>Abstract:</u>

Increased human activities and the associated increased emissions have led to higher atmospheric concentrations of  $CO_2$  a greenhouse gas that contributes to rising ocean surface temperatures and acidity due to absorbed CO<sub>2</sub>. The present study investigated the effects of higher ocean temperature and acidity by subjecting four marine invertebrate species (two calcified and two non-calcified) to the climatic conditions expected to occur during winter in 2050 and 2100. After being given two weeks to adapt to the experimentally altered climatic conditions, animals were exposed over six weeks to lower ph and higher temperatures predicted to occur later in this century. Survival and growth parameters based on body weight changes, morphometric changes, buoyant weight changes, and dry weights were assessed during the experimental period. The calcified invertebrates (both sedentary and mobile species) were able to survive and grow, albeit at a lower rate, under the higher temperatures and lower pH predicted for the future. Increased survival rates but slower growth rates were observed in the sea anemone Actinia equina, a semi-motile, non-calcified invertebrate, suggesting that future conditions may be favourable to this species. However, in the case of the sea squirt, Ascidiella aspersa (a non-calcified, sessile invertebrate), there was a significant increase in mortality under the higher temperatures and water acidity. These results indicate that each species is likely to respond to environmental changes in different ways. Calcified animals, such as Mytilus edulis and Littorina littorea, might be able to buffer the effects of increased acidity on their shells through increased ion regulation, facilitated by increased temperature elevating their metabolic rates (see Chapter 4). In the long term, such a strategy could only be maintained by increased food consumption to fuel an increased metabolic rate, which may not be sustainable. Surprisingly, the greatest effects of elevated temperature and decreased pH were seen in non-calcified invertebrates, in particular A. aspersa, which may not be able to regulate its body fluids to adapt to these environmental changes.

#### **3.1 Introduction:**

The average global ocean temperature has been increasing since at least 1976, especially during the winter (Stachowicz *et al.*, 2002). This amounts to an increase of 0.13 °C per decade because of continuing increases in atmospheric [CO<sub>2</sub>]. Disastrous consequences are predicted if global temperatures rise by 2 °C relative to the period before the industrial revolution if atmospheric [CO<sub>2</sub>] in the reaches an expected 450 ppm by the middle of this century (Brierley and Kingsford, 2009). If CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations reach 710 ppm (pH = 7.8) in 2100 (Walther *et al.*, 2009) a temperature increase of more than 4 °C could occur (IPCC, 2007). According to Portner and Knust (2007), at the end of this century the temperature of the North Sea could increase by 3.9 °C. Temperatures in the North Sea range between 3 °C and 6 °C in the winter, and between 15 °C and 18 °C in the summer, with an annual average of 10.4 °C (Sokolova and Portner, 2003). This means that if expected temperatures reach 9.9 °C in the winter, although still below the annual average temperature, the temperature would be close to temperatures characteristic of spring.

Animal populations in the North Sea already suffer due to increased temperatures (Portner et al., 2001) and will continue to do so upon exposure to low pH in the future. Usually, low winter temperatures reduce animal nutrition and biomechanical strength. Therefore, in winter they rely more on food reserves such as stored lipid to produce energy (Findlay et al., 2009a). Because the body temperatures of ectotherm marine invertebrates fluctuate depending on the temperature of the surrounding environment, these animals are strongly affected by changes in temperature (Brierly and Kingsford, 2009). Increased temperatures may negatively affect species' biological processes and survival (Harley et al., 2006), because higher temperatures lead to increased metabolic processes and consumption of larger amounts of stored lipids. With the limited availability of food during the winter, the continuation of this process for too long may lead to decreased levels of vital protein, which may promote mortality (Barnes et al., 1963; Findlay et al., 2009a). Overwintering populations usually are the basis of breeding in the spring and summer months, so the exposure of animals to heat stress during this period (winter) could have serious implications for their survival, and even those that survive must then have enough energy reserve to continue to growth into adults and perform their vital reproductive role through the following months (Lischka et al., 2011). For example, *Mytilus edulis* begins to form gametes during the winter in preparation for spawning, which occurs during the spring and summer (Zagata *et al.*, 2008). If the temperature rises to a sufficient degree in the spring the process of spawning is stimulated by the rise in temperature and food availability (Christian *et al.*, 2010). Also, gonads of the marine snail *Littorina littorea* mature from winter to early spring, as spawning takes place from winter through the end of spring (Christian *et al.*, 2010). In addition to its impact on the timing of regeneration, the change in seawater temperatures in the winter warmer years may also affect the rate of survival (Ruiz *et al.*, 1999; Pappal, 2010). *Alitta virens* also shifts from responses expected during the winter to those responses during the summer due to increased temperatures (Godbold and Solam, 2013).

Expected increases in temperatures will be combined with expected decreases in pH due to continuing increased emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> into the atmosphere. The phenomenon of ocean acidification (OA) is expected to continue and will likely affect growth and mortality in addition to particular effects on calcified organisms that will find it difficult to form and maintain structures made of calcium carbonate (Raven, 2005). Many studies of the synergistic effects of high temperature with low pH have been carried out, for example in Echinometera lacunter, in which decreased calcification in winter compared to summer, and low buoyant weights similar to the levels expected for winter conditions in 2100 were found (Courtney et al., 2013; Uthicke et al., 2014). Also, exposure to low pH and high temperatures led to a decrease in the rate of calcification in the coral species Lophelia pertusa (Maier et al., 2009), similar to that observed in the coral Acropora longicyathus (Bucher and Harrison, 2000). Combined higher temperature and lower pH also resulted in decreased shell weight in the foraminifera Ammonia tepida (Dissard et al., 2010). Furthermore, there were synergistic and negative effects of higher temperatures and lower pH on the rate of survival in the barnacle (Findlay et al., 2009a) and petropod (Lischka et al., 2011). In M. edulis the growth rate and the length of the shell decreased in the winter (Melzner et al., 2011). However, Landes and Zimmer (2012) showed that the marine snails L. littorea were better able to build their shells in response to the presence of a predator at high temperature and low pH. But Melatunan et al., (2013) found decreased percentage increase in shell length in L. littorea under exposure to both low pH and high temperature. In coralline algae, combined high temperature and low pH cause necrosis and death of the algae (Martin and Gattuso, 2009).

In contrast, little is known about the responses of non-calcified marine invertebrates to higher temperatures and lower pH (Suggett *et al.*, 2012) due to current research bias towards calcified organisms (Connell and Russell, 2010; Suggett *et al.*, 2012). For example, a synergistic effect of increased temperature and decreased pH had a positive effect on the abundance of some seaweeds, and the biomass of algal turfs doubled (Connell and Russell, 2010).

In the following chapter, the effects of higher winter temperatures and lower pH resulting from expected future increases in [CO<sub>2</sub>] on the mortality and growth of calcified and non-calcified marine invertebrates will be investigated.

# 3.2 Methods:

In this chapter the species under study (M. edulis, L. littorea, A. equina, and A. aspersa) were exposed to the increased temperatures and decreased pH levels expected in the future. Animals were collected and taken directly to the laboratory, and were cleaned. All 4 species were held together in the same microcosm, at a temperature of  $4 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C} - 5 \text{ }^{\circ}\text{C}$  at the same pH as the water in which they were found. The next day, the animals were divided randomly into three separate microcosms. Each microcosm contained a group of animals representing all four species of marine invertebrates under study. The numbers of animals of each species in the microcosm depended on the total number of animals that had been collected in the previous day. The temperature was gradually raised and the pH gradually lowered to levels expected in the future in the second microcosm (TR 2050) and the third (TR 2100) microcosm 48 h after animals were collected. The temperature in each experimental microcosm was increased at a rate of 0.5 °C every two days, and the pH was decreased at a rate of 0.02 units per day and animals were held under these conditions for two weeks to acclimatze the animals. All measurements started after the end of this point. This point was called the (APEP) Acclimatization Period End Point. The control experiments were conducted in the winter under the conditions expected for the

winter in the period from 01 February 2012 to 28 March 2012, and from 24 September 2012 to 22 November 2012 (Table 3.1).

A total of 12 individuals of each species were used to measure wet weight, buoyant weight, metabolism, and dry weight under each treatment. In addition, body length was measured to *M. edulis, L. littorea and A. aspersa*, and body width was measured only in *M. edulis*. All animals in this set of experiments were used to determine percent survival. Some individuals of *A. equina* had to be removed from the microcosms when a large gap formed in their center before they were completely dead to avoid contaminating the microcosm as they decayed. Table 3.2 explains the numbers of samples of each species used for parameters measured in these two experiments. However, in some instances, fewer than 12 animals were studied due to reduced survival.

Table 3.1   Dates of a	collections and experiment	tal periods for winter experiments.
Experiment No.	Collection date	Experimental period

Experiment No.	Collection date	Experimental period
1	01 February 2012	01 February – 28 March 2012
2	24 September 2012	24 September – 22 November 2012

After the completion of each experiment, some of the samples were prepared for analysis of protein contents, calorimetry, and histology (see Appendices) of the animals under study. Some samples were also preserved at -80 °C until needed for future studies.

**Table 3.2** Numbers of samples used for parameters measured in the winter condition

 experiments for the species under study.

Parameters		Treatments										
		TR 2011				TR 2050			TR 2100			
	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>	М.е.	L.l.	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>	М.е.	L.l.	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>
No. of animals at start	84	66	53	102	81	69	46	97	78	63	49	89
No. of animals at end	84	66	34	98	68	67	34	63	71	62	35	16
No. of animals surviving <sup>a</sup>	84	66	53	102	81	69	46	97	78	63	49	89
Body weight	12	12	12	14	12	12	12	9	12	12	11	4
Body length	12	12		14	12	12		9	12	12		4
Body width	12				12				12			
Buoyant weight	12	12	12	14	12	12	12	9	12	12	11	4
Dry weight	6	5	6	6	6	5	5	5	6	6	6	2

Here, <sup>a</sup> is the number of animals used to calculate survival, *M.e.* refers to *M. edulis*, *L.l.* refers to *L. littorea*, *A.e.* refers to *A. equina*, and *A.a.* refers to *A. aspersa*.

#### 3.2.1 Seawater Parameters:

This study was designed to investigate the potential impacts of climate change from combined high temperature and low pH, so three sets of treatments were used. The control group was maintained at the levels of temperature  $(4.7 \pm 0.2)$  and the pH  $(8.05 \pm 0.07)$  surrounding the animals when they were collected. As this study is examining the effects of future conditions forecast for 2050 and 2100, the temperature was raised and the pH was lowered in each treatment. The temperatures were raised by 6.4 ±0.2 °C and 8.7 ±0.24 °C for 2050 and 2100 treatments, respectively, and pH was decreased to 7.9  $\pm 0.06$  and 7.75  $\pm 0.07$  units, respectively. The salinity was maintained at levels normal at Newbiggin-by-the-Sea (35 ppt) and Hartlepool (34 ppt), so salinity averages settled at  $36.1 \pm 1.08\%$  for the control group for year 2011 (TR 2011), at 36.0  $\pm$ 1.18% for the middle of this century (TR 2050), and at 35.9  $\pm 1.11\%$  for the end of this century (TR 2100). Dissolved oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) in the water was maintained at greater than 95% for all treatments to ensure an abundant supply, as a lack of oxygen will affect the physiological processes. Seawater parameters of temperature, salinity, and dissolved oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) were measured daily during the experiments (Table 3.3).

**Table 3.3** Seawater chemistry parameters during the winter condition experimentsunder control and future treatment conditions treatments (Mean  $\pm$  S.E.).

Treatment	Temperature (°C)	Salinity (ppt)	pН	$O_{2}(\%)$
TR 2011	4.7 (±0.20)	36.1 (±1.08)	8.05 (±0.07)	97.4 (±1.40)
TR 2050	6.4 (±0.20)	36.0 (±1.18)	7.90 (±0.06)	97.3 (±1.60)
TR 2100	8.7 (±0.24)	35.9 (±1.11)	7.75 (±0.07)	96.8 (±1.74)

After the acclimatisation period, any dead animals were removed from the microcosms and counted daily starting from the third week until the eighth week (during the six-week experimental period) (for more about methods see Chapter 2).

# 3.3 Results:

#### 3.3.1 Survival:

Survival did not differ significantly for *M. edulis, L. littorea*, or *A. equina* among treatments, but did differ among treatments for *A. aspersa* ( $X^2 = 51.60$ , df = 2, p = 0.05). A pairwise comparison was used to determine which treatments differed in *A. aspersa*, Chi-square test for binomially distributed data TR 2011 compared with TR 2050, p = 0.018; TR 2011 compared with TR 2100, p < 0.01; and TR 2050 compared with TR 2100, p < 0.01). Figures 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, and 3.4 show the changes in percent survival for all species under study.

**Table 3.4** Percentage survival of four species under different treatments over a six 

 week period.

Species	TR	2011	TR	2050	TR 2100		
species	n	Survival %	n	Survival %	n	Survival %	
M. edulis	84	100	81	84	78	91	
L. littorea	66	100	69	97	63	98	
A. equina	53	64	46	74	49	71	
A. aspersa	102	96	97	65	89	18	



**Figure 3.1** Percentage survival of *M. edulis* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments. The experimental treatment TR 2011 is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050 is represented by red squares, and TR 2100 is represented by green triangles. APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.



**Figure 3.2** Percentage survival of *L. littorea* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments. The experimental treatment TR 2011 is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050 is represented by red squares, and TR 2100 is represented by green triangles. APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.



**Figure 3.3** Percentage survival of *A. equina* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments. The experimental treatment TR 2011 is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050 is represented by red squares, and TR 2100 is represented by green triangles. APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.



**Figure 3.4** Percentage survival of *A. aspersa* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments. The experimental treatment TR 2011 is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050 is represented by red squares, and TR 2100 is represented by green triangles. APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.

# 3.3.2 Body weight change, Size change, Buoyant weight change, and Dry Weight Parameters:

# M. edulis:

Data for body weight change, body length change, body width change, and buoyant weight change were not normally distributed, according to a Shapiro-Wilk's test. So, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to determine whether there were any significant treatment effects. A Mann-Whitney U test was then used *post hoc* to test for significant differences between treatments (Table 3.5). However, data for dry weight was normally distributed and treatments were compared by one-way ANOVA (Table 3.6).

Table 3.5	Statistical	analysis	of body	weight	change,	body	length	change,	body	width
change, an	d buoyant	weight cl	nange in	M. edu	lis.					

	Norm	ality test		Treatment comparison				
	Shapiro	-Wilk's to	est	Kruskal-Wallis test				
Parameter	Statistics	df	<i>p</i> value	Chi-square	df	<i>p</i> value		
Body weight	0.815	36	0.001	0.662	2	0.718		
Body length	0.836	36	0.001	4.236	2	0.120		
Body width	0.919	36	0.012	5.497	2	0.064		
Buoyant weight	0.920	36	0.013	7.222	2	0.027		

		ANOV	A test	Nori	nality te	est	Homogeneity test					
Parameter On		One-	way	Shapir	o-Wilk's	s test	Levene's test					
	n	F	p	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	p				
Dry weight	18	0.027	0.973	0.955	18	0.505	1.867	0.189				

**Table 3.6** Statistical analysis of dry weight in *M. edulis*.

There were no significant differences in the body weight change, body length change; body width change, or dry weight of *M. edulis* over the six-week period between three treatments (see Table 3.5 and Table 3.6). However, there was a significant difference in the buoyant weight change between TR 2011 compared with TR 2050 (p = 0.008) according to the Mann-Whitney U test.

**Table 3.7** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) for parameters measured in *M*. *edulis*.

Parameter	TR 20	)11	TR 20	)50	TR 2100		
	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	
Body weight change	6.33	±2.90	2.69	±1.66	4.66	±1.95	
Body length change	1.51	±0.52	0.28	±0.38	0.14	±0.12	
Body width change	0.92	±0.53	-0.51	±0.91	0.40	±0.23	
Buoyant weight change	7.84	±1.82	1.56	±2.64	6.14	±1.95	
Dry weight	49.78	±3.47	48.77	±3.05	50.02	±4.96	



**Figure 3.5** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.6** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body length change in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.7** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body width change in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.8** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.9** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) dry weight in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.

# L. littorea:

A Shapiro-Wilk's test indicated that data for body length change was not normally distributed. So, the non-parametric test Kruskal-Wallis was used to determine whether there were any significant treatment effects (Table 3.8). However, body weight change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight were normally distributed, so treatments for those parameters were compared with one-way ANOVA (Table 3.9).

	Norm		Treatment comparison								
	Shapiro	-Wilk's te	est	Kruskal-Wallis test							
Parameter	Statistics	df	p value	Chi-square	df	p value					
Body length	0.930	36	0.026	3.918	2	0.141					

**Table 3.8** Statistical analysis of body length change in L. littorea.

Table 3.9	Statistical	analysis	of b	oody	weight	change,	buoyant	weight	change,	and	dry
weight in L	. littorea.										

		ANOV	'A test	Normality test			Homogeneity test	
Parameter		One-way		Shapiro-Wilk's test			Levene's test	
	n	F	р	Statistics	df	р	Statistics	р
Body weight	36	0.128	0.880	0.978	36	0.678	1.632	0.211
Buoyant weight	36	0.303	0.740	0.951	36	0.109	3.270	0.051
Dry weight	16	0.545	0.593	0.918	16	0.158	0.113	0.894

There were no significant differences in the all parameters measured in *L. littorea* over a six-week period among the three experimental treatments (see Table 3.8 and Table 3.9).

**Table 3.10** Mean percentage (%)  $\pm$  standard error (SE) for parameters measured in *L*. *littorea*.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 2050		TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE
Body weight change	2.62	±0.70	1.82	±1.05	2.18	±1.46
Body length change	0.13	±0.08	-0.14	±0.17	-0.02	±0.08
Body width change						
Buoyant weight change	2.13	±0.83	1.49	±0.96	3.01	±2.03
Dry weight	80.69	±1.60	78.51	±1.71	80.14	±1.25



**Figure 3.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change in *L. littorea* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body length change in *L. littorea* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.12** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *L. littorea* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) dry weight of *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.

# A. equina:

Shapiro-Wilk's tests indicated that data for body weight change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight were not normally distributed. Therefore, a non-parametric test Kruskal-Wills test was used to determine whether there were any significant treatment effects. Then the Mann-Whitney U test was used *post hoc* to test for significant differences between treatments (Table 3.11).

**Table 3.11** Statistical analysis of body weight change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight in *A. equina*.

	Norm		Treatment comparison			
	Shapiro	est	Kruskal-Wallis test			
Parameter	Statistics	df	<i>p</i> value	Chi-square	df	<i>p</i> value
Body weight	0.815	36	0.001	10.460	2	0.005
Buoyant weight	0.920	36	0.013	0.673	2	0.714
Dry weight	0.866	17	0.019	0.295	2	0.863

There were no significant differences in buoyant weight change over six weeks or dry weight at the end of the experiment in *A. equina* between these three treatments (see Table 3.11 and Table 3.12). However, there was a significant difference in body weight change between TR 2011 and TR 2050 (p = 0.001) according to the Mann-Whitney U test.

**Table 3.12** Mean percentage (%)  $\pm$  standard error (SE) for parameters measured in *A*. *equina*.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 20	)50	TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE
Body weight change	4.41	±6.94	-28.43	±4.74	1.12	±18.17
Body length change						
Body width change						
Buoyant weight change	-6.12	$\pm 8.58$	-6.73	±5.26	-4.69	±4.45
Dry weight	19.73	±2.32	20.45	±0.51	20.18	±1.38


**Figure 3.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change of *A. equina* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *A. equina* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.16** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) dry weight of *A. equina* at six weeks.

# A. aspersa:

A Shapiro-Wilk's test indicated that data for dry weight was not normally distributed. Therefore, the non-parametric test Kruskal-Wallis test was used to determine whether there were any significant treatment effects (Table 3.13). Body weight change, body length change, and buoyant weight change were normally distributed, so treatment effects for those parameters were compared using one-way ANOVA (see Table 3.14). Scheffe's method was used *post hoc* to test for significant differences between treatments.

**Table 3.13** Statistical analysis of body weight change, body length change, buoyantweight change, and dry weight in A. aspersa.

		ANOV	'A test	Norma	Normality test Homogene			ty test
Parameter		One-way		Shapiro-Wilk's test			Levene's test	
	n	F	p	Statistics	df	p	Statistics	p
Body weight	27	8.895	0.001	0.977	27	0.793	1.295	0.292
Body length	27	4.078	0.030	0.954	27	0.272	0.458	0.638
Buoyant weight	27	2.446	0.108	0.972	27	0.666	0.361	0.701
Dry weight	13	0.457	0.646	0.881	13	0.074	2.906	0.101

There were no significant differences in the buoyant weight change over the six-week experimental period or in dry weight at the end of the experiment in *A*. *aspersa* between these three treatments (see Table 3.13). However, there were significant differences in body weight change between TR 2011 and TR 2050 (p = 0.002), and in body length change between TR 2011 and TR 2050 (p = 0.040) according to the Mann-Whitney U test.

**Table 3.14** Mean percentage (%)  $\pm$  standard error (SE) for parameters measured in *A*. *aspersa*.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 20	)50	TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE
Body weight change	-31.79	±4.44	-56.25	±3.67	-50.48	$\pm 4.48$
Body length change	-8.53	±2.09	-18.37	±3.31	-8.36	±3.42
Body width change						
Buoyant weight change	-18.44	±6.29	-40.17	$\pm 8.37$	-34.98	±11.25
Dry weight	6.63	±0.92	5.61	±0.65	5.56	±0.02



**Figure 3.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change in *A. aspersa* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) body length change in *A. aspersa* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *A. aspersa* at six weeks.



**Figure 3.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage (with SE bar) dry weight in *A. aspersa* at the end of the experiment.

## **3.4 Discussion:**

#### 3.4.1 Effect of Experimental Conditions on M. edulis:

These results and previous studies (Findlay *et al.*, 2009b; Ries *et al.*, 2009) show the complex differential responses of calcified coastal benthic organisms to low pH coupled with high temperatures expected to occur in the oceans at the middle and end of this century. *Mytilus edulis* mortality was very low (Table 3.4, Fig. 3.1), and under all treatments there were low levels of growth and calcification (Figs. 3.5, 3.6, 3.7 and 3.8), and no significant differences among treatments (Table 3.5), except under TR 2050, in which there was a significant decrease in buoyant weight change (p = 0.008). These results show that exposure to predicted future conditions will have a negative impact on mussels and lead to reduced calcification (1.56 ±2.64%, Table 3.7). However, these changes did not appear to result in severe damage to these organisms (Appelhans *et al.*, 2012). The results of the present study illustrate the conflicting results to date regarding the sensitivity of *Mytilus edulis* to future levels of temperature and pH (Landes and Zimmer, 2012). The slower growth observed under TR 2050 and TR 2100 (Fig. 3.5) may be due to reduced metabolic rates as the result of decreased oxygen consumption under exposure to high [CO<sub>2</sub>] (Michaelidis *et al.*,

2005), or it could be an adaptive response to overcome and resist the stress imposed by surrounding conditions (Findlay *et al.*, 2009b).

## 3.4.2 Effect of Experimental Conditions on L. littorea:

This study also revealed that *Littorina littorea* displays a high capacity for survival (Table 3.4, Fig 3.2), similar to some other marine snails, as mortality did not exceed 5% (Comeau et al., 2009; Eklöf et al., 2012). Likewise, no statistically significant differences were found for weight or length changes, or in calcification (Table 3.8 and 3.9) compared with the control treatment (TR 2011) (similar to Bibby et al., 2007). Thus, these species of intertidal organisms are apparently able to adapt to and survive under predicted future changes in pH levels and temperatures. There were no significant differences in body or buoyant weights between treatments in any live snails (Fig. 3.10). However, there were conflicting results in terms of how the snail shells were affected by the increased temperature and acidification (Fig. 3.12). Although the length of the animal (shell length) decreased (Fig. 3.11), we found an increase in buoyant weight change under TR 2100 compared to TR 2011 conditions (Fig. 3.12). This could indicate concomitant building and dissolution of the shell. For example, (Melatunan et al., 2013) showed that exposure to expected future levels of temperature and pH resulted in changes to the morphological characteristics of the shell. This could indicate loss of the shell on the one hand (dissolution) and rebuilding of the carbon structure on the other hand as reflected by increased buoyant weight, which supports the observations of Findlay et al. (2009b) who also observed an exchange between the building and the dissolution of shell. While acidification did not prevent Littorina littorea from undergoing increased calcification, there may be considerable dissolution of the shell. Increased calcification, especially under TR 2100 conditions  $(3.01 \pm 2.03\%)$ , Table 3.10), was greatest under the highest temperatures and levels of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), which may indicate that these marine molluscs are still able to produce calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) under even unfavourable conditions. Such calcification under these conditions may be a reaction to the increased dissolution of the shells. In other words, it might be explained as a trade-off between calcification and dissolution (Findlay et al., 2009b).

## 3.4.3 Effect of Experimental Conditions on A. equina:

Sea anemones (Actinia equina) were able to survive when exposed to predicted future climate conditions (Table 3.4, Fig. 3.3) in these experiments. However, although there were no statistically significant differences in survival, these organisms may be able to adapt to the new conditions of higher temperature and lower pH. Body weight change increased over the six-week period under TR 2011 conditions (Fig. 3.10), but this increase was no longer apparent under TR 2050 conditions. Also, buoyant weight decreased in all treatments, reflecting decreased growth (Fig. 3.15). Survival was greatest under the TR 2050 conditions, but growth in terms of buoyant weight change and body weight change was lowest under that treatment. This could mean that the sea anemones are attempting to redistribute energy consumption to the maintenance and repair of body's cells, rather than to increased growth during adaptation and survival under the new environmental conditions. In any case, there were no statistically significant differences between any treatments (Table 3.11), except for body weight between TR 2011 and TR 2050 (p =0.001). These results also support the findings of (Kroeker et al., 2010) that there no statistically significant effects of ocean acidification on the growth of non-calcified non-invertebrate marine organisms (e.g. fish, multicellular algae, and seagrass). Furthermore, some Cnidarian species increase in abundance and size in more acidic environments (Suggett et al., 2012). Although this Cnidarian species may tolerate higher temperatures and lower pH conditions in the oceans in the near future, exposure to low temperatures over the long term may negatively affect survival in A. equina.

#### 3.4.4 Effect of Experimental Conditions on A. aspersa:

Calcified invertebrates differ in their responses to high temperatures and low pH levels. Similarly, considerable variation in response to these conditions has also been noted. Higher temperatures and increased acidity appear to have a significant negative impact on the ability of *Ascidiella aspersa* to survive (Table 3.4). Mortality rose linearly in proportion to increased temperature and [CO<sub>2</sub>] levels Fig. 3.4), indicating a direct effect of both factors on the physiology of these invertebrates, to which they were not able to adapt and maintain viability. Under TR 2100 conditions, these sea squirts suffered from a significant increase in the number of deaths, reaching

a mortality rate of 82%. This result is contrary to the results of Dupont and Thorndyke (2009) who noted an increase in the survival rate upon lowering the pH by 0.4 units. Under TR 2050 the mortality rate reached 45%, combined with significantly decreased weight and length, which reflect lower metabolism and redirection of energy towards the maintenance and repair of cells and survival. A non-significant reduction in buoyant weight change (Fig. 3.19) was observed (F = 2.446, p = 0.108, Table 3.14).

The paucity of research on the response of filter-feeding, sessile invertebrates in the class Ascidiacea to near-future climate changes prevented any clear comparisons with similar or related species. Such sessile and filter-feeding organisms may experience strongly negative effects due to seawater conditions resulting from expected future climate changes. Responses to lower pH are direct as the animals are forced to take in water upon feeding, which could quickly lead to a pH imbalance inside the cells. Without an easy mechanism to rebalance pH, such as by shell dissolution, these organisms experience increased mortality.

## 3.5 Conclusion:

This study of four species of coastal marine animals showed that calcified organisms were able to cope with the rising temperatures and lower pH conditions in the sea expected in the near future slightly better if they are motile calcified organisms (*L. littorea*) rather than sedentary calcified organisms (*M. edulis*). These climate changes also appeared to be less adverse for the non-calcified sedentary invertebrates (*A. equina*) that succeeded in adapting to and surviving these conditions. In contrast, negative effects of acidification and temperature increases were observed for other non-calcified sessile invertebrates (*A. aspersa*), as reflected clearly in their substantially increased mortality.

# Chapter 4. Effects of elevated temperature and decreased pH on the Body Composition of four Common British Marine Invertebrates in winter

## <u>Abstract:</u>

It is predicted that increasing temperatures will continue in the North Sea +4°C during this century coinciding with a decrease in pH level to -0.4 units. This is on account of continuing emissions of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere resulting from the continued burning of fossil fuels because of anthropogenic emissions. Negative effects are also expected as regards biological activity in coastal marine invertebrates. Most research has a bias towards calcified marine invertebrates. Therefore, this study investigated the effects expected in the middle and end of this century on calcified marine invertebrates and non-calcified marine invertebrate. Four marine invertebrates (Mytilus edulis, Littorina littorea, Actinia equina and Ascidiella aspersa) were exposed to levels expected from the high temperatures and low pH in the future for a period of six weeks following two weeks of acclimatizion. At the end of the study period, the water content, somatic weight, shell weight (of calcified marine invertebrates), fat content, carbon/nitrogen ratio (C:N ratios) and the metabolic rates of organisms were measured. It was observed that the calcified and non-calcified invertebrates recorded no statistical significance in most measurements, however the study found significant positive results in the metabolic rate of L. littorea (mobile) at levels expected in 2100. Positive statistical significance numbers were also observed in the same species' C:N ratios, which were at levels expected in 2050. In addition, L. littorea recorded the best ratio of survival, while non-calcified invertebrates did not improve their ability of survival. These results indicate that each species enjoys particular personal way with a potential to adapt or not adapt to climatic conditions which are expected in the near future. This highlights the need for further study of the expected effects of these climatic changes on non-calcified invertebrates.

## 4.1 Introduction:

The results of the previous chapter (Chapter 3) showed variations in the growth and survival of the species under study to the different treatments. This chapter attempts to contribute to the clarification of the relationship between the effects of the interaction of the common factors of high temperature and low pH as a result of increased CO<sub>2</sub> in the seawater. Investigating metabolic rates may offer an explanation about the costs of maintaining or increasing calcified carbon structures. It may also be that the cost of growth or maintenance of the cells increases the chances of survival in the species under study. Adults feed on a minimum amount and do not use a lot of energy to grow in the winter (Findlay et al., 2009a). According to Melzner et al. (2011) winter is an important factor as regards reducing the rate of filtering seawater 34% less than that of the summer in *M. edulis*. The report by Sanford (2002), lent support by stating that colder temperatures lead to reduced food consumption, and substantially affect the feeding rates, however the growth change was balanced by the lower costs of metabolism. Growth may be a result of the adoption of the food reserve (fat stores) (Findlay et al., 2009a), thus intertidal animals under winter temperatures usually continue to feed, grow and be active (Sokolova and Portner, 2003). The temperature of the bodies of marine ectotherms fluctuate dependant on the temperature of the surrounding environment (North Sea surface water temperatures range from 3 to 6 in winter), due to critical metabolic adjustments in response to changes in temperature (Sokolova and Portner, 2003). It has been noted that, in winter, many seawater molluscs experience a reduced level of activity and feeding due to depression of metabolic rates (Sokolova and Portner, 2003). Temperature control for determining the time of spawning is important to reproduction and growth of species, which need more energy and an abundance of food to increase the ability of metabolic rate. For example: mussels begin spawning in the spring until the end of the summer due to increased temperatures and the availability of food (Nagarajan et al., 2006). Gamete production usually commences in late autumn and early winter and this process will continue throughout the winter months (Gray et al., 1997). Increasing temperatures and the availability of food cause the spawning to begin. Temperatures may increase in winter to rates close to those in early spring, this may lead to a phenological shift and an increase in metabolic rates. It is clear that staying healthy during the winter is important for completion of the life cycle of organisms and continuation of reproduction. Experiments carried out by Rodolfo-Metalpa *et al.* (2009) demonstrated that an increase in temperature to 3 °C in the winter leads to stimulation of the coral metabolism. This study will also offer a contribution as regards clarifying the physiological effects on sessile organisms which may arise due to the high levels of  $CO_2$  and temperature in the winter, as little is known about the response of this species of coastal marine invertebrates in future changes to increased temperature and decreased pH level (Findlay *et al.*, 2009a).

## 4.2 Methods:

The methods in this chapter are similar to those previously mentioned in chapter 3, however the measurements in this chapter concerned the water content, somatic weight (including gonads), lipid content, C:N ratio and metabolic rate. Table 4.1 explains the numbers of samples used in the measurements of the two experiments together for each species (see Chapter 2 and 3 for additional information).

**Table 4.1** Numbers of samples applicable for the measurements of the experiments inwinter for species under study.

Parameter		Treatments											
	TR 2011					TR 2050				TR 2100			
	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.	
Water content	6	5	6	6	6	5	5	5	6	6	6	2	
Somatic weight	6	5	6	6	6	5	5	5	6	6	6	2	
Shell weight	6	5			6	5			6	6			
Lipid content	6	5	6	6	6	5	5	5	6	6	6	2	
C:N ratio	9	6	9	9	9	5	8	9	9	4	6	7	
Metabolic rate	10	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	11	8	

Where *M.e.* refers to *M. edulis*, *L.l.* refers to *L. littorea*, *A.e.* refers to *A. equina* and *A.a.* refers to *A. aspersa*.

## 4.3 Results:

## 4.3.1 Body composition analysis and metabolic rates:

## M. edulis:

A Shapiro-Wilk tests showed normal distribution of C:N ratio and lipid content but the homogeneity test were not equal. The non-parametric test Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare treatment means (Table 4.2). Content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight, and metabolic rate were normally distributed and treatments were compared with one-way ANOVA (Table 4.3). Scheffe's method was applied *post hoc* to test the significance between the treatments.

Table 4.2 Statistical analysis of C:N ratio and lipid content of *M. edulis*.

	Test of	lity	Treatment comparison			
	Shapiro	test	Kruskal-	s test		
Parameter	Statistics	p value	Chi-Square	df	p value	
Lipid content <sup>a</sup>	0.969 18 0.77			1.059	2	0.589
C:N ratio <sup>b</sup>	0.959	27	0.354	4.328	2	0.115

<sup>a</sup> Lipid content tested by Kruskal-Wallis test because the test for homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.038).

<sup>b</sup>C:N ratio tested by Kruskal-Wallis test because the test for homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.004).

**Table 4.3** Statistical analysis of content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight and metabolic rate of *M. edulis*.

	Treatr	Treatment comparison			ality	test	Homogeneity test	
Parameter	One-way ANOVA			Shapiro	o-Will	k test	Levene's test	
	n	F	p	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	p
Content of water	18	0.027	0.973	0.955	18	0.505	1.867	0.189
Soft tissue weight	18	0.154	0.858	0.899	18	0.054	0.090	0.915
Shell weight	18	0.154	0.858	0.899	18	0.054	0.090	0.915
Metabolic rate	34	6.489	0.004	0.958	34	0.209	0.941	0.401

There were no significant differences in the content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight, lipid content and C:N ratio of *M. edulis* at the end of the experiments (see Table 4.2 and Table 4.3). However, when the Mann-Whitney U test was used there was a significant difference in the metabolic rate between TR 2011 vs TR 2100 (p = 0.011) and between TR 2050 vs TR 2100 (p = 0.024).

Parameter	TR 20	)11	TR 20	)50	TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	± SE
Content of water	50.22	± 3.47	51.23	± 3.05	49.98	± 4.96
Soft tissue weight	7.00	± 1.92	6.46	± 1.70	5.61	± 1.78
Shell weight	93.00	± 1.92	93.54	± 1.70	94.39	± 1.78
Lipid content	14.03	± 3.21	12.71	± 1.61	11.45	± 1.45
C:N ratio	4.21	$\pm 0.07$	3.88	± 0.15	4.03	$\pm 0.05$
	Mean	± SE	Mean	± SE	Mean	± SE
Metabolic rate	0.38	$\pm 0.04$	0.47	$\pm 0.08$	0.39	$\pm 0.08$

**Table 4.4** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of *M. edulis* for each parameter measured.



**Figure 4.1** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage water content ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.2** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage soft tissue weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.3** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage shell weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.4** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.5** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.6** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.

## L. littorea:

A Shapiro-Wilk test showed normal distribution of content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight, lipid content, C:N ratio and metabolic rate, and treatments when compared with one-way ANOVA (Table 4.5). Scheffe's method was used *post hoc* to test significance between the treatments.

	Treatment comparison			Norm	ality	test	Homogeneity test	
Parameter	One-way ANOVA			Shapiro	o-Will	k test	Levene's test	
	n	F	p Statist		df	p	Statistic	р
Content of water	16	0.545	0.593	0.918	16	0.158	0.113	0.894
Soft tissue weight	16	1.102	0.361	0.991	16	1.00	2.748	0.101
Shell weight	16	1.102	0.361	0.991	16	1.00	2.748	0.101
Lipid content	16	0.773	0.482	0.905	16	0.098	0.157	0.856
C:N ratio	15	7.617	0.007	0.932	15	0.296	1.706	0.223
Metabolic rate	36	6.297	0.005	0.980	36	0.748	1.004	0.377

**Table 4.5** Statistical analysis of content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight, lipid content, C:N ratio and metabolic rate of *L. littorea*.

There were no significant differences in the content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight and lipid content of *L. littorea* at the end of the experiments (see Table 4.5). However, there were significant differences in the C:N ratio between TR 2011 vs TR 2050 (p = 0.007) and the metabolic rate between TR 2011 vs TR 2100 (p = 0.006) when using Scheffe's method.

		,		1		
Parameter	TR 20	11	TR 20	)50	TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE
Content of water	19.32	± 1.60	21.49	$\pm 1.71$	19.86	± 1.25
Soft tissue weight	6.26	± 1.24	5.05	$\pm 0.29$	4.41	$\pm 0.77$
Shell weight	93.74	± 1.24	94.95	$\pm 0.29$	95.59	$\pm 0.77$
Lipid content	11.38	± 1.91	11.83	$\pm 1.98$	9.24	$\pm 0.98$
C:N ratio	4.01	$\pm 0.07$	4.67	± 0.19	4.33	$\pm 0.08$
	Mean	± SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE
Metabolic rate	0.43	$\pm 0.05$	0.56	$\pm 0.04$	0.63	$\pm 0.04$

**Table 4.6** Mean ± standard error (SE) of L. littorea for each parameter measured.



**Figure 4.7** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage content of water ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.8** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage soft tissue weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.9** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage shell weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.12** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.

# A. equina:

A Shapiro-Wilk test showed a non-normal distribution of content of water and soft tissue weight. A non-parametric test Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare treatment means (Table 4.7). The C:N ratio and metabolic rate were normally distributed and treatments were compared with one-way ANOVA (Table 4.8).

**Table 4.7** Statistical analysis of the content of water, soft tissue weight and lipid content of *A. equina*.

	Test of	lity	Treatment comparison			
	Shapiro	test	Kruskal-Wallis test			
Parameter	Statistics	df	<i>p</i> value	Chi-Square	df	p value
Content of water	0.866	17	0.019	0.295	2	0.863
Soft tissue weight	0.866	17	0.019	0.295	2	0.863
Lipid content <sup>a</sup>	0.945	17	0.383	0.413	2	0.813

<sup>a</sup> Lipid content tested by Kruskal-Wallis test because test of homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.024).

	Treat	Treatment comparison			ality	test	Homogeneity test	
Parameter	One	e-way ANG	OVA	Shapiro	o-Wil	k test	Levene's	test
	n	F	p	Statistic     df     p		Statistic	p	
C:N ratio	23	0.199	0.821	0.953	23	0.339	0.050	0.952
Metabolic rate	35	2.102	0.139	0.955	35	0.161	0.313	0.733

**Table 4.8** Statistical analysis of C:N ratio and metabolic rate of A. equina.

There were no significant differences in all measurements of *A. equina* at the end of the experiments (see Table 4.7 and Table 4.8).

**Table 4.9** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of *A. equina* for each parameter measured.

Parameter	TR 20	)11	TR 20	)50	TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE
Content of water	80.27	± 2.32	79.55	$\pm 0.51$	79.82	± 1.38
Soft tissue weight	19.73	± 2.32	20.45	$\pm 0.51$	20.18	± 1.38
Lipid content	12.91	± 1.26	14.44	± 1.65	11.45	± 2.19
C:N ratio	4.43	$\pm 0.06$	4.43	$\pm 0.05$	4.48	$\pm 0.06$
	Mean	± SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE
Metabolic rate	0.33	± 0.09	0.51	± 0.25	0.72	$\pm 0.20$



**Figure 4.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage content of water ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage soft tissue weight  $(\pm SE)$  in *A. equina* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.16** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg  $O_2.g^{-1}.h^{-1}$ )) (±SE) in *A. equina* at the end of the experiment.

## A. aspersa:

Shapiro-Wilk tests showed t normality distributed of content of water, soft tissue weight, lipid content, C:N ratio and metabolic rate. Treatments were compared with one-way ANOVA (Table 4.10).

**Table 4.10** Statistical analysis of content of water, soft tissue weight, lipid content,C:N ratio and metabolic rate of A. aspersa.

	Treatment comparison			Norm	ality	test	Homogeneity test	
Parameter	One-way ANOVA			Shapiro-Wilk test			Levene's test	
	n	F	p	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	p
Content of water	13	0.457	0.646	0.881	13	0.074	2.906	0.101
Soft tissue weight	13	0.457	0.646	0.881	13	0.074	2.906	0.101
Lipid content	13	1.054	0.384	0.961	13	0.770	3.630	0.065
C:N ratio	25	0.174	0.841	0.948	25	0.228	2.404	0.114
Metabolic rate	32	0.909	0.414	0.974	32	0.609	1.601	0.219

There were no significant differences in all measurements of *A. aspersa* at the end of the experiments (see Table 4.10).

**Table 4.11** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of *A. aspersa* for each parameter measured.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 20	)50	TR 2100		
	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	
Content of water	93.37	$\pm 0.92$	94.39	$\pm 0.65$	94.44	$\pm 0.02$	
Soft tissue weight	6.63	± 0.92	5.61	$\pm 0.65$	5.56	$\pm 0.02$	
Lipid content	6.47	± 0.72	6.59	$\pm 0.50$	8.86	± 2.85	
C:N ratio	5.13	± 0.31	5.18	± 0.19	5.30	$\pm 0.10$	
	Mean	± SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE	Mean	± SE	
Metabolic rate	0.26	± 0.03	0.24	$\pm 0.02$	0.30	$\pm 0.06$	



**Figure 4.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage content of water ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage soft tissue weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.21** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of the experiment.



**Figure 4.22** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on the mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of the experiment.

## 4.4 Discussion:

## 4.4.1 Effects on M. edulis:

The measurements did not show any statistically significant change between the various treatments of *M. edulis*, apart from significant differences in the metabolic rate (F = 6.489, p = 0.004, Table 4.3, Fig. 4.6). There were significant increases in the rate of oxygen consumption in the medium treatment (TR 2050) compared to the two other treatments TR 2011 (p = 0.011) and TR 2100 (p = 0.024). In Chapter 3 it was shown that the medium treatment (TR 2050) recorded the lowest body weight change and buoyant weight change, together with the highest mortality rate 16%, compared with 0% for the control treatment and 9% for TR 2100. It is clear that mussels made a major effort to use the energy resulting from metabolic processes for restoration and maintenance. They also used reduced rates of growth and calcification as a physiological reaction to mitigate the negative effects which could arise due to increased temperatures and high levels of ocean acidification. These results confirm the findings of Melzner *et al.* (2011) that there are no significant differences in soft tissue weight and shell weight. This study also concurred with Thomsen and Melzner (2010) and Thomsen *et al.* (2010) that there is no significant difference in soft tissue weight of *M. edulis*.

## 4.4.2 Effects on L. littorea:

The results for *L. littorea* showed an increase in the metabolic rate which was directly proportional to increases in temperature and decreased pH levels (Fig. 4.12). This increase was a significant rise in TR 2100 (p = 0.006) compared with that of the control. When these results were compared, as noted in Chapter 3, it is clear that this rise in metabolism also led to an increase in calcification in TR 2100. This coincides with a reduction in soft tissue weight and lipid content in TR 2100 (Fig. 4.8 and 4.10). This decrease may be explained as a successful attempt by L. littorea to resist the changing environmental conditions from the increase in temperature and levels of acidification of seawater. A slight reduction of growth was accompanied by an increase in calcification but with a high cost to compensate for the decay of the shell (Findlay et al., 2009b). This adaptation resulted in the maintenance of low mortality rates that did not exceed 2%; the first death was recorded in the fifth week of the experiment. These results show that L. littorea has a high potential to adapt to new circumstances and to make changes in the mechanism of energy expenditure appropriate to the physiological changes required to maintain the vitality of the cells. On the other hand, a decrease in soft tissue weight and lipid content were observed (Table 4.6), although they were not significant (Table 4.5). Nevertheless, the increased use of lipid content for vital maintenance could lead to a decrease in the vital protein that can promote death (Barnes et al., 1963; Findlay et al., 2009a) in the long term.

The findings were similar to those of Eklof *et al.* (2012) that there was no significant difference in the percentage of water content for every treatment. The results of this study contradict the results obtained by (Melatunan *et al.*, 2011), possibly because they conducted their experiments at temperatures higher than those used in this study. The study's findings contrasted with the conclusions made by Melatunan *et al.* (2013) that exposure to the future dual factors of heat and acidity may disrupt metabolism, which could be on account of exposing the animals to temperatures up to 20° C. This may confirm that reactions to acidification and rising temperatures are different and complex, not only because of the different species of

organisms and rates and durations of exposure, but also due to reactions which vary by seasons of the year or even by months. It can be concluded, that the marine snail *L. Littorea* managed to cope with the surrounding environmental conditions in various ways, either by increasing calcification or by reducing growth and directing more energy to vital maintenance operations. This offers evidence of its ability to adapt to the temperature and acidification levels expected during this century, without which there would be a serious threat of extinction.

## 4.4.3 Effects on A. equina:

A. equina's results showed no significant differences between the measurements of the different treatments (Tables 4.7 and 4.8). These results support the Chapter 3 discussion, in which it was stated that there were no significant differences among treatments. Metabolic levels did not show significant differences but rose proportionally in accordance with the increases in temperature and decreased pH levels (Fig. 4.17). Sea anemones did not reduce their metabolism as an adaptation strategy but in future treatments their metabolic rates increased, which led to a very slight increase in soft tissue weight compared with the control treatment (Fig. 4.14). In view of the results obtained in the previous chapter, it was found that growth was significantly lower in the medium treatment (TR 2050). This indicates that the sea anemone reduced growth changes whilst increasing metabolic rates as a reaction to the increased levels of acidification and temperature. This resulted in a reduction in mortality rates for future treatments compared with the control treatment. The study found that TR 2100 produced an increased metabolism and lower growth changes, resulting in a survival rate of 71% and adaptation to the surrounding circumstances. No death cases were recorded after the fourth week. The same process and results occurred in TR 2050, however, in TR 2050, the metabolic rate was slightly lower, and the growth change was clearly reduced compared with TR 2100. In spite of these changes, TR 2050 had the highest survival rate, at 74%, and did not record any cases of mortality in the sixth week. An increase in somatic weight due to rising temperature and CO<sub>2</sub> levels was recorded by Widdicombe and Needham (2007). All of these results may be interpreted as responses which may be slightly positive to the extent that it eventually led to reduced mortality rates in

future treatments compared with the control, with taking in account that the minor differences were not statistically significant.

## 4.4.4 Effects on A. aspersa:

In A. aspersa the soft tissue weight decreased in TR 2050 and TR 2100 compared with TR 2011 (Table 4.11, Fig. 4.19). This decline was accompanied by an increase in the content of lipid (Fig. 4.20), especially in treatment expected at the end of this century ( $8.86 \pm 2.85\%$ , Table 4.11). The same changes occurred with the rate of oxygen consumption but were not statistically significant (F = 0.909, p = 0.414, Table 4.10). This rise in metabolism could not build and repair cells and soft tissues, so it had a negative impact on the significant increase in the proportion of survival which did not exceed 18% (Chapter 3). On the other hand, there was a slight decrease in metabolism in TR 2050 ( $0.24 \pm 0.02$ , Table 4.11) which coincided with a small decline in soft tissue weight  $(5.61 \pm 0.65\%)$ . In the third chapter, the presence of significant fall in body weight change and a clear reduction in buoyant weight change compared to the control was noted. In spite of these changes, the survival rate was 65% (Chapter 3). This result indicates that TR 2050 used the strategy of reducing metabolism and growth and directing more energy to be spent on the restoration and maintenance of cells in order to lower the mortality rate as much as possible. This strategy may have succeeded when compared to the mortality rate in TR 2100. This strategy is known to be adaptive and may be useful in the short term, but long-term use could have negative effects on living organisms (Widdicombe and Needham, 2007). This major damage found in the future treatments conflicted with the expectations of some studies (e.g., Connell and Russell, 2010) that rising temperature and acidity levels expected in the future would have a positive effect on non-calcified marine invertebrates, and on A. aspersa in particular (Dupont and Thorndyke, 2009).

## 4.5 Conclusion:

A study of four species of coastal marine animals showed that body composition analyses which measured calcified invertebrates reactions to different climate conditions did not significantly disrupt metabolism rates or reduce soft tissue weight. However, the results discussed in the previous chapter make clear the difficulty and complexity of interpreting the various reactions of different organisms to climate change. The previous results also show that, responses to different biological measurements varied within a single species of marine invertebrates. Calcified organisms (*L. littorea* and *M. edulis*) could cope better with the expected near-future climatic conditions of rising temperatures and lower pH levels in the ocean. It was also noted that these climate changes did not prevent (*A. equina*) from successfully adapting and biological maintaining its survival. By contrast, very bad effects arose on non-calcified (*A. aspersa*) from acidification and the expected rise in temperature in the mid and late  $21^{st}$  century (2050 and 2100).

# Chapter 5. The Effects of Decreased pH level and increased Temperature on Four Common British Marine Invertebrates in summer

### <u>Abstract:</u>

Increases in global temperatures and ocean acidification are predicted to have a significant impact on coastal marine invertebrate organisms. In order to understand the effects that these environmental changes will have on marine organisms, four species of marine invertebrates (two calcified and two non-calcified) were exposed to the climatic conditions expected to prevail in 2050 and 2100. Animals under study were gradually adapted over two weeks to the levels of acidity and temperatures predicted for 2050 and 2100, and were then held under those conditions for a further six weeks. During the study period, the mortality rate was monitored as well as the body weight, body morphometrics, buoyant weight, and dry weight. The calcified invertebrates were observed to be able to survive and grow, albeit at a lower rate than under control conditions. Increased survival but slower growth was observed in the sea anemone Actinia equina (non-calcified invertebrate), suggesting that future warmer, more acidic conditions may be favourable to this species. Also, there was no significant increase in mortality at the higher temperatures and lower pH in the case of the sea squirt Ascidiella aspersa (a non-calcified, sessile invertebrate). These results indicate that each species is likely to respond to environmental changes in different ways. Calcified animals, such as Mytilus edulis and Littorina littorea, may be able to mitigate the effects that decreased pH may have on their shells through an increase in ion regulation, which might be facilitated by increased temperature through elevation of the metabolic rate (see Chapter 6). Such an enhanced metabolic rate could probably only be maintained through an increase in food consumption, this may not be sustainable in the long term.

## 5.1 Introduction:

Under warmer temperatures in the spring months that then reach a maximum in the summer when food is plentiful, the adult organisms begin to regain full physiological activity and increase growth rates. The combined effects on four species of coastal marine invertebrates of increased temperature and decreased pH at the levels expected during the summer at mid-century in 2050 (+0.2 pH, +2 °C) and at the end of this century in 2100 (+0.4 pH, +4 °C) will be investigated in this study. Several previous studies (e.g. Berge et al., 2006; Gazeau et al., 2007) have shown negative effects of ocean acidification on the growth of some calcified organisms such as M. edulis. In contrast, some other research has shown enhanced growth in M, edulis under higher  $pCO_2$  (Thomsen *et al.*, 2010). On the other hand, there was no response to lower pH in growth of *M. edulis* in the study conducted by Ries *et al.* (2009), although the same study reported a decrease in the degree of calcification in L. littorea. Such expected decreases in pH due to elevated [CO<sub>2</sub>] coincide with the expected increase in average temperatures in the troposphere in the future. Many researchers have studied the combined effects of elevated temperature and decreased pH on many marine invertebrates and observed some negative effects. For example, Martin and Gattuso (2009) noticed decreased calcification and increased necrosis and mortality of coralline algae under higher temperature and lower pH. According to Maier et al., (2009) both increased temperature and decreased pH cause reductions in coral calcification. Lischka et al., (2011) recorded an increase in the mortality rate of a pteropod species *Limacina helicina* after exposure to high temperature and low pH. Climate has changed and likely will continue to change; the 21st century has been characterized by the creation of significant new and conditions that are harmful to marine organisms (Brierley and Kingsford, 2009).

In general, different species of organisms differ in their ability to adapt to temperature variation (Peck *et al.*, 2004). Continuation of the rise in temperatures due to climate change will be the most difficult challenge for ectothermic organisms. This temperature increase may reduce the scope of growth, and under certain temperatures animal activity would stop and they would be unable to perform biological functions (Levinton, 2009). Temperatures affect the rates of physiological processes of aquatic ectothermal organisms (Hochachka and Somero, 2002; Bolton and Havenhand, 2005) and will likely have a negative impact on survival in marine organisms (Harley *et al.*,

2006). These expected changes in the physical and chemical properties of seawater will determine which among extant calcified and non-calcified marine invertebrates will survive in the future. Competition within the same habitat, such as between *A*. *aspersa* and *M. edulis*, which both feed by filtering seawater, will likely become more intense. Species with a greater capacity to acclimate to the new environmental conditions in the future will be able to dominate the habitat and displace other species.

## 5.2 Methods:

The methods described in this chapter follow the methods reported in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3, with some adjustments. For example, species and parameters measured were the same, but the date of collections and temperatures differed. The two experiments in this chapter were conducted under artificial summer conditions from 01 February 2012 to 28 March 2012 and from 24 September 2012 to 22 November 2012 (Table 5.1). Animals were collected and taken directly to the laboratory, and were cleaned. All four species (*Mytilus edulis, Littorina littorea, Actinia equina*, and *Ascidiella aspersa*) were held together in the same microcosm, at a temperature of 14-15 °C and current pH level (see Chapter 2). Table 5.2 explains the numbers of samples used to measure parameters in both experiments for each species. However, sometimes the final number of replicates was less than 12 due to reduced survival.

 Table 5.1
 Dates of collections and experimental periods for summer condition experiments.

Experiment No.	Collection date	Experimental period
1	24 May 2012	24 May – 17 July 2012
2	19 July 2012	19 July – 13 September 2012

After the completion of each experiment, some of the samples were prepared for the detection of protein contents, histology (see Appendices) and test energy in the animals under study. However, some samples were preserved at -80 °C until needed for future studies. These contingencies explain why not all the available samples were used for the current set of experiments.

Parameters	Treatments											
	TR 2011			TR 2050			TR 2100					
	<i>M.e.</i>	L.l.	A.e.	A.a.	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.
Start No.	71	102	53	33	71	108	50	37	78	106	46	40
End No.	64	98	53	5	56	100	50	6	61	95	46	9
No. of Individuals Surviving <sup>a</sup>	71	102	53	33	71	108	50	37	78	106	46	40
Body weight	12	12	12	4	11	11	12	3	12	11	12	2
Body length	12	12		4	11	11		3	12	11		2
Body width	12				11				12			
Buoyant weight	12	12	12	4	11	11	12	3	12	11	12	2
Dry weight	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	3

**Table 5.2** Numbers of samples used for summer condition measurements of parameters for the species in this study.

Above, <sup>a</sup> is the number of animals used to calculate survival, *M.e.* refers to *M. edulis*, *L.l.* refers to *L. littorea*, *A.e.* refers to *A. equina*, and *A.a.* refers to *A. aspersa*.

#### 5.2.1 Seawater Measurements:

This study was designed to investigate the potential combined impacts of high temperatures and low pH levels together, as could result from climate change, so three sets of treatments were used. The control treatment comprised an ambient temperature of 14.8  $\pm 0.13$  °C and pH of 8.05  $\pm 0.14$ . As this study is examining the potential future impacts of conditions forecast for 2050 and 2100, the temperature was raised and the pH level was lowered in the treatment tank. The experimentally applied temperatures were 17.0  $\pm$ 0.20 °C or 19.2  $\pm$ 0.20 °C, and the experimental pH was 7.84  $\pm$ 0.11 or 7.65  $\pm 0.08$  for, respectively. The salinity was kept at the level normal for Newbiggin-bythe-Sea (35 ppt) and for Hartlepool (34 ppt), so salinity averages were  $36.3 \pm 1.23$  for the control treatment in year 2012 (TR 2011),  $36.6 \pm 1.20$  in the middle of the century (TR 2050), and 36.6 ±1.22 at the end of this century (TR 2100). The levels of dissolved oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) in the seawater were maintained at greater than 95% for all treatments in these experiments to ensure an abundant supply of oxygen, the lack of which may adversely affect physiological processes. Therefore, seawater parameters including temperature, salinity, and dissolved oxygen  $(O_2)$  were measured daily during these experiments (Table 5.1).

Treatment	Temperature (°C)	Salinity (ppt)	pН	$O_{2}(\%)$
TR 2011	14.8 (±0.13)	36.3 (±1.23)	8.05 (±0.14)	96.6 (±1.45)
TR 2050	17.0 (±0.20)	36.6 (±1.20)	7.84 (±0.11)	97.0 (±1.45)
TR 2100	19.2 (±0.20)	36.6 (±1.22)	7.65 (±0.08)	96.8 (±1.46)

**Table 5.3** Seawater chemistry parameters during the winter condition experimentsrelative to the control treatment and model future condition treatments (Mean  $\pm$ S.E.).

After the acclimatisation period, any dead animals were collected and counted daily during 6 weeks period starting from the third week until the eighth week (for more detail about methods, see Chapter 2).

## 5.3 Results:

## 5.3.1 Survival:

After the end of the acclimatisation period, dead animals were collected and counted weekly starting from the third week until the eighth week (Table 5.2). No significant differences in survival rate among all species were found using the Chi-square test. However, a linear decrease in the survival of animals under the treatments TR 2050 and TR 2100 compared with the Control TR 2011 was observed for *M. edulis*, which was accompanied by a very slight decline in the survival rate of *L. littorea*, while no mortality was recorded for *A. equina*. On the other hand, there was a linear decrease in mortality for *A. aspersa*, which showed improvement in survival rates under TR 2100, despite the huge increase in mortality for this species observed under all treatments.

 Table 5.4
 Percentage survival of four species under different treatments over six

 weeks.

Species	TR 2011		T	R 2050	TR 2100		
	n	Survival %	n	Survival %	n	Survival %	
M. edulis	71	90	71	79	78	78	
L. littorea	102	96	108	93	106	90	
A. equina	53	100	50	100	46	100	
A. aspersa	33	15	37	16	40	23	


**Figure 5.1** Percentage survival of *M. edulis* over a six-week experimental period under all treatments. Blue diamonds represent the experimental treatment TR 2011, red squares represent treatment TR 2050, green triangles represent treatment TR 2100, and APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.



**Figure 5.2** Percentage survival of *L. littorea* over a six-week experimental period under all treatments. Blue diamonds represent the experimental treatment TR 2011, red squares represent treatment TR 2050, green triangles represent treatment TR 2100, and APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.



**Figure 5.3** Percentage survival of *A. equina* over a six-week experimental period under all treatments. Blue diamonds represent the experimental treatment TR 2011, red squares represent treatment TR 2050, green triangles represent treatment TR 2100, and APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.



**Figure 5.4** Percentage survival of *M. edulis* over a six-week experimental period under all treatments. Blue diamonds represent the experimental treatment TR 2011, red squares represent treatment TR 2050, green triangles represent treatment TR 2100, and APEP represents the acclimatisation period end point.

# 5.3.2 Body weight change, size change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight parameter measurements:

# M. edulis:

Data for body weight change, body width change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight were not normally distributed according to the Shapiro-Wilk test. Therefore, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to test for significant differences in these parameters under each condition (Table 5.5). However, data for body length were found to be normally distributed, so the effects of treatments were compared using one-way ANOVA (Table 5.6).

**Table 5.5** Statistical analysis of body weight change, body width change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight of *M. edulis*.

	Test of	normalit	y	Treatment comparison			
	Shapiro	Shapiro-Wilk test				s test	
Parameter	Statistics	df	p value	Chi-square	df	p value	
Body weight	0.918	35	0.013	2.017	2	0.365	
Body width	0.879	35	0.001	0.510	2	0.775	
Buoyant weight	0.879	35	<-0.001	3.154	2	0.207	
Dry weight	0.843	15	0.014	0.260	2	0.878	

**Table 5.6** Statistical analysis of body length change of *M. edulis*.

	Treatm	nent comp	parison	Normality test			Homogenei	Homogeneity test		
Parameter	One-	way AN	OVA	Shapiro	-Wilk	test	Levene's	test		
	n	F	p	Statistics	atistics df p		Statistics	p		
Body length	35	2.936	0.068	0.947	35	0.090	2.431	0.104		

**Table 5.7** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of *M. edulis* for each parameter measured.

Parameter	TR 20	)11	TR 20	)50	TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE
Body weight change	2.19	±0.69	1.44	±0.54	1.02	±0.39
Body length change	0.05	±0.02	0.02	±0.02	0.08	±0.03
Body width change	0.009	±0.02	0.03	±0.04	0.04	±0.04
Buoyant weight change	7.25	$\pm 2.80$	2.60	±2.10	2.26	±1.06
Dry weight	48.5	±4.49	48.5	±6.00	47.4	±5.38

There were no significant differences among the three treatments for parameters measured in *M. edulis* over six weeks (see Table 5.5 and 5.6).



**Figure 5.5** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage body weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.6** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage body length change ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.7** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage body width change ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.8** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage buoyant weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.9** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage dry weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of the experiment.

# L. littorea:

A Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that data for body length change were not normally distributed. Therefore, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare treatment means (Table 5.8). Body weight change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight were found to be normally distributed, so treatment effects on the latter parameters were compared using one-way ANOVA (Table 5.9). Scheffe's method was used as the *post-hoc* test for significant differences among treatments.

**Table 5.8** Statistical analysis of body length change in L. littorea.

	Test of	normalit	y	Treatment comparison			
	Shapiro	st	Kruskal-Wallis test				
Parameter	Statistics	df	p value	ue Chi-square df p			
Body length	0.871	34	0.001	1.959	2	0.376	

Table 5.9	Statistical	analysis	of body	weight	change,	buoyant	weight	change,	and	dry
weight of L	. littorea.									

	Trea	tment con	nparison	Normality test			Homogeneity test	
Parameter	On	e-way Al	NOVA	OVA Shapiro-Wilk test			Levene's test	
	n	F	p	Statistics df p		Statistics	p	
Body weight	34	8.062	0.002	0.962	34	0.287	3.193	0.077
Buoyant weight	34	7.426	0.002	0.969	34	0.422	2.790	0.077
Dry weight	15	0.020	0.980	0.956	15	0.627	3.134	0.080

There were no significant differences in body length change over a six-week period or dry weight of *L. littorea* at the end of experiment among these three treatments (see Table 5.8 and Table 5.9). However, significant differences were found in body weight change for TR 2011 compared with TR 2050 (p = 0.003) and for TR 2011 compared with TR 2100 (p = 0.015). However, a significant difference in buoyant weight change for TR 2011 compared with TR 2050 (p = 0.003) was found using Scheffe's method.

**Table 5.10** Mean percentage (%)  $\pm$  standard error (SE) of *L. littorea* for parameters measured.

Parameter	TR 20	11	TR 20	50	TR 21	00
	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE
Body weight change	1.42	±0.23	-0.03	±0.25	0.21	±0.30
Body length change	0.001	±0.004	-0.02	±0.013	0.01	±0.01
Body width change						
Buoyant weight change	4.62	±1.38	-1.3	±1.26	1.74	±0.75
Dry weight	76.46	±0.65	76.65	±1.55	76.44	±0.77



**Figure 5.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage body weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage body length change ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.12** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage buoyant weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage dry weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of the experiment.

# A. equine:

A Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that data for body weight change and dry weight were not normally distributed. Therefore, a non-parametric Kruskal-Wills test was used to compare treatments. The Mann-Whitney U *post-hoc* test was used to test for significant differences between treatments (Table 5.10). Buoyant weight change was found to be normally distributed, so treatments were compared using one-way ANOVA.

**Table 5.11** Statistical analysis of body weight change and dry weight in A. equina.

	2	5	0 0	<b>,</b> C		1	
	Test of	normalit	y	Treatment comparison			
	Shapiro	Shapiro-Wilk test Kruskal-Wal					
Parameter	Statistics	df	<i>p</i> value	Chi-square	df	<i>p</i> value	
Body weight	0.889	36	0.002	19.483	2	< 0.001	
Dry weight	0.840	15	0.013	1.040	2	0.595	

**Table 5.12** Statistical analysis of buoyant weight of A. equina.

	Treatment comparison			Norm	ality	test	Homogeneity test	
Parameter	One	e-way AN	JOVA	Shapiro	o-Wil	k test	Levene's	test
	n	F	р	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	p
Buoyant weight	36	3.039	0.061	0.979	36	0.710	1.533	0.231

No significant differences in buoyant weight change or dry weight of *A*. equina were found among these three treatments (see Table 5.11 and 5.12). However, over a six-week period a significant difference in body weight change between TR 2011 compared with TR 2050 (p < 0.001) and between TR 2011 compared TR 2100 (p = 0.002) was found using the Mann-Whitney U test.

**Table 5.13** Mean percentage (%)  $\pm$  standard error (SE) of *A. equina* for parameters measured.

Parameter	TR 20	)11	TR 20	)50	TR 22	100
	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE	Mean (%)	±SE
Body weight change	3.46	±5.07	-20.10	±2.23	-16.72	±4.21
Buoyant weight change	-17.88	±3.30	-5.86	±3.17	-17.09	±5.43
Dry weight	12.7	±1.68	14.15	±1.43	14.01	±1.06



**Figure 5.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage body weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage buoyant weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.16** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage dry weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of the experiment.

# A. aspersa:

Data for all parameters measured over a six-week period and at the end of the experiment were found to be normally distributed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Therefore, treatments were compared using one-way ANOVA (see Table 5.14).

weight enange, and dry weight of n. aspersa.										
	Treatment comparison			Norma	ality to	Homogeneity test				
Parameter	ANOVA One-way			Shapiro-Wilk test			Levene's test			
	n	F	р	Statistics	df	p	Statistics	р		
Body weight	9	0.196	0.827	0.951	9	0.698	2.184	0.194		
Body length	9	0.053	0.949	0.912	9	0.333	2.092	0.204		
Buoyant weight	9	0.532	0.613	0.944	9	0.628	1.179	0.370		
Dry weight	8	2.959	0.142	0.967	8	0.870	1.064	0.412		

**Table 5.14** Statistical analysis of body weight change, body length change, buoyantweight change, and dry weight of A. aspersa.

There were no significant differences between three treatments for any of the parameters measured in *A. aspersa* over a six-week period and at the end of the experiment (see Table 5.13).



**Figure 5.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage body weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage in body length change ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage buoyant weight change ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at six weeks.



**Figure 5.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH on mean percentage dry weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end the of experiment.

**Table 5.15** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of parameters measured in *A*. *aspersa*.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 20	)50	TR 2100	
	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE
Body weight change	-3.00	± 2.61	-2.08	± 2.52	-6.92	$\pm 0.19$
Body length change	-0.32	± 0.19	-0.29	± 0.15	-0.33	$\pm 0.02$
Buoyant weight change	-16.41	± 37.05	31.19	± 18.31	5.82	$\pm 38.31$
Dry weight	4.28	$\pm 0.60$	4.62	± 0.20	5.62	$\pm 0.45$

# **5.4 Discussion:**

### 5.4.1 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on M. edulis:

All treatments had the potential to promote increases in growth with TR 2011 had the greatest effect on increasing relative body weight change (Fig. 5.5) and increasing buoyant weight change (Fig. 5.8). This was not a surprise; as the survival curve clearly indicates that the rate of survival recorded under TR 2011 was at least 10% greater than that under TR 2050 or TR 2100 (Fig. 5.1). The graph of survival also shows a slight improvement in survival, reduction of mortality rate from the fifth week of TR 2050. This slight reduction in mortality may indicate that this species was

beginning to adapt to the experimental temperature and pH conditions. Despite the increase in the proportion of body weight change (2.19 ±0.69%, Table 5.7) and the increase in buoyant weight (7.25 ±2.80%) in *M. edulis* under TR 2011, no significant differences were detected between any treatments for all measured parameters (Table 5.5 and 5.6). Increases in body length change (0.08 ±0.03%, Fig. 5.6) and body width change (0.04 ±0.04%, Fig. 5.7) were also recorded under TR 2100. These increases in growth in length and width under the TR 2100 treatment were accompanied by a decrease in buoyant weight when compared with that under the TR 2011 treatment, which may indicate an increase in calcification on the one hand or a reduction in calcification processes to maintain its internal acid-base balance to be able to cope with future seawater chemistry changes.

These results support the findings of Beesley et al. (2008), in which no substantial statistically significant differences in mortality appeared when testing M. edulis over a period of two months. Our results also support the findings of Berge et al. (2006), which indicated an increase in the proportion of mortality when temperatures increase. Mortality did increase in the present experiments under TR 2050 and TR 2100 treatments when compared with the TR 2011 treatment, although no significant differences were shown. The increase in the percentage of growth in length and width at pH = 7.75 under the TR 2100 treatment compared to those parameters under the TR 2011 treatment is similar an experiment (Melzner et al., 2011) that showed an increase in shell growth at a pH of 7.70. The growth increases observed for *M. edulis* in all the treatments applied in this experiment have also been reported by Thomsen et al. (2010) at approximately the same pH. The results in growth observed in the present study also supported the findings of Appelhans et al. (2012) and Michaelidis et al. (2005), which show that there were no statistically significant differences between treatments in growth at pH levels close to those used in the present experiments. Present results for buoyant weight change in M. edulis (p = 0.207, Table 5.5 and 5.6, Fig. 5.8) agreed with the findings of Ries *et al.* (2009) in finding no significant difference between treatments. The results of the present experiment regarding reduced calcification also agreed those in an experiment conducted by Gazeau et al. (2007), which indicated significantly reduced calcification compared to the control treatment due to decreased pH. The significantly reduced calcification in Gazeau *et al.* (2007) might have been due to the absence of an adaptation period or to the short duration of the experiment. Alternatively, it could also have been due to the use of a different method for calculating calcification. The results of the present study indicated a negative impact on mussels under increased temperatures and decreased pH, which contributed to reduced rate of survival and decreases in body weight and buoyant weight. Increases in length and width were inversely proportional to the observed decreases in weight, which may indicate an attempt by the organism to overcome chemical degradation of its shell (Findlay *et al.*, 2009b).

### 5.4.2 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on L. littorea:

At least 90% of the marine snail L. littorea individuals survived in all treatments (Table 5.4, Fig. 5.2), which shows that these organisms might have the ability to adapt to future conditions (mortality began to appear only after the second week of changed temperature and pH). Body weight change and body length change (Fig. 5.10 and 5.11) measurements clearly show how this organism managed to reduce mortality during the period of the experiment. Although the smallest growth measurements were recorded under TR 2050 (Table 5.10), significantly lower than the values under the TR 2011 treatment, this species still managed to maintain a 93% survival rate, only 3% less than that under the control treatment TR 2011 and 3% more than that under TR 2100 treatments (90%, Table 5.4). The responses of L. *littorea* in body weight change, body length change, and buoyant weight change (Fig. 5.12) under TR 2050 compared to those parameters under TR 2011 and TR 2100, in combination with its 93% survival rate and its improved survival curve in the fifth week, may indicate that this species could relatively successfully adjust to the changing conditions. Reduced metabolic processes, and in particular calcification processes might have favoured maintenance and repair of the body's cells so as to allow the organisms to survive and adapt to increased temperature and reduced pH in their surroundings. These results demonstrate that L. littorea has a strong ability to survive, as observed for some other marine snails, similar to the results of Eklof et al. (2012), who reported a minimum of 95% survival for all treatments (see also Cmeau et al., 2009). In addition, the lack of significant differences in the dry weight under all treatments (Table 5.8, Fig. 5.13) indicated that L. littorea underwent decreased growth when exposed to dual factors of high temperatures and acidity levels, as also reported by Melatunan *et al.* (2013). The results were also similar to those found by Melatunan *et al.* (2013) who found no statistically significant changes in shell length (Table 5.8, Fig 5.11). Organisms exposed to expected future temperature and pH conditions showed mixed responses in terms of the morphological characteristics of their shells (Melatunan *et al.*, 2013). Under our treatment TR 2100, shells showed continued growth (0.01  $\pm$ 0.01%, Table 5.10) while under treatment TR 2050, loss of shell was indicated (-0.02  $\pm$ 0.013%).

### 5.4.3 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on A. equina:

Actinia equina showed great tolerance to higher temperatures and lower pH. This was clear from the high ability of individuals of this species to survive, as no mortality was observed for the duration of these experiments under all treatments (Table 5.4, Fig. 5.3). However, there was significant reduction in body weight change under the TR 2050 (-0.03  $\pm 0.25\%$ , Table 5.13) and TR 2100 (0.21  $\pm 0.30\%$ , Table 5.13) treatments (F = 19.483, *p* < 0.001, Table 5.11, Fig 5.10) compared to the control treatment TR 2011 (1.42  $\pm 0.23\%$ , Table 5.13). This might indicate a decrease in metabolic activity in organisms subjected to expected future treatment conditions (TR 2050 and TR 2100) as a way to maintain the integrity of the body's cells and to survive. The high percentage of survival in this species was not surprising, as some other species of Cnidaria have been observed in more acidic environments that led to an increase in their abundance and size (Suggett *et al.*, 2012). Such an observation for *Cnidaria* may indicate that this invertebrate species may have a high degree of tolerance to higher temperatures and reduced pH in the oceans.

### 5.4.4 Effects of increased temperature and decreased pH on A. aspersa:

High rates of mortality in all treatments were recorded for *A. aspersa* (Table 5.4, Fig 5.4). This was not surprising as very few samples of adults can be obtained at the time of year these collections were made. The large increases in the number of deaths under all treatments decreases confidence in the results of body weight change, body length change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight measurements. Nevertheless, a slight improvement in survival under increased temperatures and decreased pH was noted, as well as a decrease in the number of individual deaths

under the TR 2050 and 2100 treatments in the fifth week. This might indicate an improvement in the ability of this species to cope with such conditions. In particular, the percentage of survival in TR 2100 reach to 23% by increase 8% than TR 2011 (15%, Table 5.4), that reinforce what Dupont and Thorndyke (2009) said that a decrease in pH level of -0.4 units led to an increase in the rates of survival in *A. aspersa*. However, Dupont and Thorndyke (2009) did not give any more information about how, when and where they conducted the experiment. These results of the present study might be a warning for the possible extinction of this species of marine invertebrate under higher temperatures and lower pH because their presence and survival in the future will depend on their ability to adapt to changes in temperature and pH in the oceans during the early stages of growth in summer. There has been little research on the physiological responses of sessile invertebrate filter feeder species in the Ascidiacea class, to projected future environmental conditions, so hopefully, the present study may provide some initial insights into the responses of such species to climate change.

### 5.5 Conclusion:

This study of four species of coastal marine invertebrate showed that the sedentary non-calcified invertebrate *A. equina* has a strong ability to cope with predicted future climatic conditions including higher temperatures and increased acidification in the oceans. This adaptability is shared to some extent by the mobile calcified invertebrate *L. littorea*, which is clearly superior in terms of adaptability when compared to its sedentary counterpart *M. edulis*. However, these results showed a significant increase in the proportion of deaths in *A. aspersa* under all treatment conditions even without any significant differences among treatments for all other parameters. This suggests that such dramatic mortality might have been caused by seasonal effects or was due to the life cycle of the organism, but not necessarily due to the environmental effects expected under climate change in these experiments.

# Chapter 6. The Effects of Global Climate Change on Body Composition of Common British Marine Invertebrates in summer

### <u>Abstract:</u>

It is expected that the increase in temperature and decrease in pH levels predicted globally for the middle and at the end of this century will have an impact on the coastal marine organisms of invertebrates. Therefore, for this study, we first exposed four species of calcified marine invertebrates and non-calcified marine invertebrates to the climatic conditions of the 2011/2012 summer. Subsequently, the animals under study were given two weeks to adapt and then exposed to future levels of acidity and warmth for a period of six weeks. At the end of the study period, the content of water, somatic weight, shell weight (for calcified marine invertebrates), content of lipid, C:N ratios and metabolic rates were measured. It was observed that for the majority of the measured calcified and non-calcified invertebrates, no statistical significance was recorded. However, the study found significant positive results in the metabolic rate for *M. edulis* at levels expected to occur in 2100. Also, numbers of positive statistical significance were observed for the same species at levels expected in 2050 according to C:N ratios. In L. littorea, positive significant results were recorded for content of fat, C:N ratio and increased metabolic rates for TR 2100 with acceptable numbers for mortality. These results were replicated for A. equina in the form of increased metabolic rates for TR 2100 with good amounts of lipid content which indicates health results that reflected positively on survival. The study showed an improvement in survival for TR 2100 of A. aspersa due to higher metabolism to levels that reflected significant differences in comparison with other treatments. These results indicate that each animal has a special response and potential to adapt or not to adapt to the climatic conditions expected in the near future. These findings highlight the need for further study of the expected effects of these climatic changes on the non-calcified invertebrates.

### 6.1 Introduction:

In ocean ectothermic species most of the physiological processes are optimum at narrow thermal range (Bolton and Havenhand, 2005). The metabolic rate is directly proportional to the temperature rise due to increased burning of carbohydrates for energy production (Levinton, 2009) which leads to increased consumption of oxygen (Zainal et al., 1992; Walther et al., 2009). A continuation of this rise over a long period of time will reduce energy reserves and animals will not be able to regulate their metabolic processes above a certain temperature (Levinton, 2009). This could have a negative impact on the biological processes and survival (Harley et al., 2009). An expected increase in temperature in the coming years of this century is expected that goes along with a decrease in pH. This decrease in pH is caused by the increased continuous rise in the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> in the atmosphere and oceans (see Chapter 1). The increase in  $CO_2$  has led to a reduction in the metabolism of marine invertebrates due to acidification of body fluids (Langenbuch et al., 2006) and a reduction of energy transduction (Melatyunan et al., 2013). Molluscs, crustaceans and sea urchins which have structures of calcium carbonate will particularly be affected by ocean acidification (Wood et al., 2008). Various marine species differ in their ability to deal with low pH level (Wood et al., 2008). For example, Michaelidis et al. (2005) reported a decreased metabolic rate in Mytilus galloprovincialis, however, Thomsen and Melzner (2010) observed increased metabolism in Mytilus edulis and L. littorea demonstrated by a significant drop in metabolic rates (Melatunan et al., 2011). On the other hand, many of the studies included that most of the biological processes had non-significant impact with regard to near-future ocean acidification on non-calcified invertebrate (Kroeker et al., 2010). High temperatures and low pH interact synergistically to have a positive effect on the abundance of algal turfs (Connell and Russell, 2010). Nereis virens showed a non-significant effect on metabolic rate to decrease pH (Widdichombe and Needham, 2007). Chapter 5 of this study showed that there were non-significant effects on calcified marine invertebrate responses to high temperature and low pH levels expected during the current century. On the other hand, this study recorded a significant fall in body weight in A. equina. However, there were no significant effects of various treatments in the A. aspersa. This chapter will try to help to clarify the impact of climate change on the invertebrates under study and the ability of these organisms to adapt to near-future conditions in terms of survival and growth.

# 6.2 Methods:

The methods in this chapter are similar to those previously mentioned in Chapter 5, but the measurements in this chapter deal with the water content, somatic weight (include gonads), lipid content, C:N ratio and metabolic rate. Table 6.1 explains the numbers of samples used in the measurements of the two experiments together of each species (for more see Chapters 2 and 5).

**Table 6.1** Numbers of samples used for summer condition the measurements of parameters for the species in this study.

Parameters		Treatments										
	TR 2011			TR 2050				TR 2100				
	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.	M.e.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	A.a.
Water content	5	5	5	2	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	3
Somatic weight	5	5	5	2	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	3
Shell weight	5	5			5	5			5	5		
Lipid content	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	2
C:N ratio	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	4
Metabolic rate	12	12	12	7	12	12	12	10	12	12	12	10

Where *M.e.* refer to *M. edulis*, *L.l.* refer to *L. littorea*, *A.e.* refer to *A. equina* and *A.a.* refer to *A. aspersa*.

### 6.3 Results:

#### 6.3.1 Body composition analysis and metabolic rates:

# M. edulis:

A Shapiro-Wilk test indicated that the distribution of content of water and C:N ratio were not normal. The non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test has been used (Table 6.2). Soft tissue weight, shell weight, lipid content and metabolic rate were normally distributed and treatments were carried out as comparisons with one-way ANOVA (Table 6.3). Scheffe's method was used *post hoc* to test the significance between treatments.

	Test of	lity	Treatment	comp	arison					
	Shapiro	test	Kruskal-	Walli	s test					
Parameters	Statistics	<i>p</i> value	Chi-square	df	<i>p</i> value					
Content of water	0.843	0.014	0.260	2	0.878					
C:N ratio <sup>a</sup>	0.946	15	0.467	0.860	2	0.651				

**Table 6.2** Statistical analysis of content of water and C:N ratio of *M. edulis*.

<sup>a</sup>C:N ratio tested by Kruskal-Wallis test because test of homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.004).

**Table 6.3** Statistical analysis of soft tissue weight, shell weight, lipid content and metabolic rate of *M. edulis*.

	Treatment comparison			Norm	ality	test	Homogeneity test		
Parameters	One-way ANOVA		Shapiro-Wilk test			Levene's test			
	n	F	Р	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	Р	
Soft tissue weight	15	0.171	0.845	0.928	15	0.253	2.839	0.098	
Shell weight	15	0.171	0.845	0.928	15	0.253	2.839	0.098	
Lipid content	15	4.065	0.045	0.965	15	0.783	0.761	0.488	
Metabolic rate	15	5.845	0.007	0.978	34	0.722	0.624	0.542	

There were no significant differences in the content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight and C:N ratio of *M. edulis* at the end of the experiments (see Table 6.2 and Table 6.3). However, there were significant differences in lipid content between TR 2011 and TR 2050 (p = 0.048), in the metabolic rate between TR 2011 and TR 2010 (p = 0.013) and between TR 2050 and TR 2100 (p = 0.042) when using Scheffe's method.

**Table 6.4** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of *M. edulis* for each parameter measured.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 20	)50	TR 2100		
	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	± SE	
Content of water	51.50	± 4.49	51.49	± 6.00	52.60	$\pm 5.38$	
Soft tissue weight	10.20	± 2.94	8.56	± 1.14	10.38	± 2.13	
Shell weight	89.80	± 2.43	91.44	± 1.14	89.62	± 2.13	
Lipid content	7.20	± 1.05	11.48	± 1.32	9.72	$\pm 0.76$	
C:N ratio	4.48	± 0.24	4.31	± 0.13	4.46	$\pm 0.03$	
	Mean	± SE	Mean	± SE	Mean	± SE	
Metabolic rate	0.59	± 0.13	0.48	$\pm 0.08$	0.88	± 0.12	



**Figure 6.1** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage content of water ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.2** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage soft tissue weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.3** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage shell weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.4** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.5** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *M. edulis* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.6** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg  $O_2.g^{-1}.h^{-1}$ )) in *M. edulis* at the end of experiment.

### 6.3.1.2 L. littorea:

A Shapiro-Wilk tests indicated that the distribution of all measurements were normal. Treatments were carried out as comparisons with one-way ANOVA (Table 6.5). Scheffe's method was used *post hoc* to test the significance between treatments.

	Tre	eatment con	Norm	ality	test	Homogeneity test		
Parameters	Or	One-way ANOVA		Shapiro-Wilk test			Levene's test	
	n	F	р	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	p
Content of water	15	0.020	0.980	0.956	15	0.627	3.134	0.080
Soft tissue weight	15	0.905	0.431	0.979	15	0.962	2.055	0.171
Shell weight	15	0.905	0.431	0.979	15	0.962	2.055	0.171
Lipid content	15	8.284	0.005	0.968	15	0.821	0.030	0.970
C:N ratio	15	7.640	0.007	0.932	15	0.293	3.328	0.071
Metabolic rate	36	18.926	< 0.001	0.955	36	0.145	2.839	0.073

**Table 6.5** Statistical analysis of content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight, lipid content, C:N ratio and metabolic rate of *L. littorea*.

There were no significant differences in the content of water, soft tissue weight and shell weight of *L. littorea* at the end of experiments (see Table 6.5). However, there were significant differences in lipid content between TR 2011 and TR 2100 (p = 0.006), in C:N ratio between TR 2011 and TR 2100 (p = 0.013),between TR 2050 and TR 2100 (p = 0.027), in the metabolic rate between TR 2011and TR 2050 (p = 0.018), between TR 2011 and TR 2100 (p = 0.014) and between TR 2050 and TR 2100 (p < 0.001) when using Scheffe's method.

**Table 6.6** Mean percentage (%)  $\pm$  standard error (SE) of *L. littorea* for each parameter measured.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 20	)50	TR 2100		
	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	
Content of water	23.54	$\pm 0.65$	23.35	± 1.55	23.56	$\pm 0.77$	
Soft tissue weight	4.91	$\pm 0.38$	4.38	$\pm 0.49$	4.22	$\pm 0.20$	
Shell weight	95.09	± 0.38	95.62	± 0.49	95.78	± 0.20	
Lipid content	4.58	± 0.61	7.03	$\pm 0.78$	8.97	± 0.92	
C:N ratio	3.90	$\pm 0.04$	3.94	$\pm 0.08$	4.25	$\pm 0.08$	
	Mean	$\pm$ SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE	Mean	± SE	
Metabolic rate	0.77	$\pm 0.06$	0.52	$\pm 0.04$	1.03	$\pm 0.08$	



**Figure 6.7** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage content of water ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.8** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage soft tissue weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.9** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage shell weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.12** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) ( $\pm$ SE) in *L. littorea* at the end of experiment.

### A. equina:

A Shapiro-Wilk tests indicated that the distribution of content of water and soft tissue weight were not normal. A non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test has been used (Table 6.7). However, lipid content was normally distributed and treatments were carried out as comparisons with one-way ANOVA (Table 6.8). Scheffe's method was used post hoc to test the significance between treatments.

	Test of	lity	Treatment	comp	arison	
	Shapiro	test	Kruskal-	Walli	s test	
Parameters	Statistics	p value	Chi-Square	df	p value	
Content of water	0.840	0.013	1.040	2	0.595	
Soft tissue weight	0.840 15 0.013			1.040	2	0.595

Table 6.7 Statistical analysis of content of water and soft tissue weight of A. equina.

**Table 6.8** Statistical analysis of lipid content, C:N ratio and metabolic rate of *A*. *equina*.

	Treatment comparison			Norn	nality	Homogeneity test			
Parameters	O	ne-way Al	NOVA	Shapiro-Wilk test			Levene's test		
	n	F	р	Statistic	df	р	Statistic	р	
Lipid content	15	15.476	< 0.001	0.941	15	0.401	0.510	0.613	
C.N ratio	15	1.943	0.186	0.967	15	0.816	0.820	0.464	
Metabolic rate	36	8.837	0.001	0.946	36	0.77	0.781	0.466	

**Table 6.9:** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of *A. equina* for each parameter measured.

Parameter	TR 20	)11	TR 20	)50	TR 21	00
	Mean (%)	± SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE
Content of water	87.30	± 1.68	85.86	± 1.43	85.99	± 1.06
Soft tissue weight	12.70	± 1.68	14.15	± 1.43	14.01	± 1.06
Lipid content	12.08	± 0.73	17.77	$\pm 0.56$	14.91	$\pm 0.80$
C:N ratio	4.15	$\pm 0.10$	4.25	$\pm 0.10$	4.41	$\pm 0.07$
	Mean	± SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE	Mean	± SE
Metabolic rate	0.36	$\pm 0.08$	0.47	$\pm 0.08$	1.08	± 0.21

There were no significant differences in the content of water, soft tissue weight, shell weight and C:N ratio of *A. equina* at the end of the experiments (see Table 6.7 and Table 6.8). However, there were significant differences in lipid content between TR 2011 and TR 2050 (p < 0.001), between TR 2011 and TR 2100 (p =

0.043), in the metabolic rate between TR 2011 and TR 2100 (p = 0.001) and between TR 2050 and TR 2100 (p = 0.014) when using Scheffe's method.



**Figure 6.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage content of water ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage soft tissue weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.16** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. equina* at the end of experiment.

# A. aspersa:

A Shapiro-Wilk tests were indicated that all measurements were normally distributed (Tables 6.10 and 6.11). The content of water, soft tissue weight, lipid content and metabolic rate were normally distributed, then the treatments were carried out as comparisons with one-way ANOVA (Table 6.11). Scheffe's method was used *post hoc* to test the significance between treatments.

	Test of	lity	Treatment	comp	parison	
	Shapiro	test	Kruskal-	Walli	s test	
Parameter	Statistics df <i>p</i> value			Chi-Square	df	<i>p</i> value
C:N ratio <sup>a</sup>	0.925 18 0.161			0.364	2	0.834

**Table 6.10** Statistical analysis of C:N ratio of A. aspersa.

<sup>a</sup> C:N ratio tested by Kruskal-Wallis test because test of homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.004).

There were no significant differences in the content of water, soft tissue weight, lipid content and C:N ratio of *A. aspersa* at the end of experiments (see Table 6.10 and Table 6.11). However, there was a significant difference in the metabolic rate between TR 2011 and TR 2100 (p < 0.001) and between TR 2050 and TR 2100 (p < 0.001) and between TR 2050 and TR 2100 (p < 0.001) when using the Scheffe's method.

	Т	reatment cor	Norm	ality	Homogeneity test					
Parameter	One-way ANOVA		Shapiro-Wilk test			Levene's test				
	n	F	р	Statistic	df	p	Statistic	р		
Content of water	8	2.938	0.143	0.975	8	0.933	1.309	0.349		
Soft tissue weight	8	2.938	0.143	0.975	8	0.933	1.309	0.349		
Lipid content	8	1.480	0.313	0.941	8	0.623	1.406	0.328		
Metabolic rate	15	56.762	< 0.001	0.890	15	0.066	1.543	0.253		

**Table 6.11** Statistical analysis of content of water, soft tissue weight, lipid content and metabolic rate of *A. aspersa*.

**Table 6.12** Mean percentage  $(\%) \pm$  standard error (SE) of *A. aspersa* for each parameter measured.

Parameter	TR 2011		TR 20	)50	TR 2100		
	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	$\pm$ SE	Mean (%)	± SE	
Content of water	95.72	$\pm 0.60$	95.39	$\pm 0.20$	94.38	$\pm 0.45$	
Soft tissue weight	4.28	$\pm 0.60$	4.62	$\pm 0.20$	5.62	$\pm 0.45$	
Lipid content	9.89	± 0.52	8.50	± 0.35	7.89	± 1.04	
C:N ratio	5.73	$\pm 0.55$	5.42	$\pm 0.18$	5.12	± 0.21	
	Mean	± SE	Mean	$\pm$ SE	Mean	± SE	
Metabolic rate	0.69	$\pm 0.26$	0.15	$\pm 0.02$	1.06	$\pm 0.11$	



**Figure 6.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage content of water ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage soft tissue weight ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage lipid content ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.21** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean percentage C:N ratio ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of experiment.



**Figure 6.22** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH level on mean oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) ( $\pm$ SE) in *A. aspersa* at the end of experiment.
## **6.4 Discussion:**

#### 6.4.1 Effects on M. edulis

Most measurements of *M. edulis* were not significantly different (Tables 6.2 and 6.3). However, there was a significant rise in oxygen consumption (F = 5.845, p =0.007) in TR 2100 compared with TR 2011 (p = 0.013) and TR 2050 (p = 0.042), which means an increase in the metabolic rate (Fig. 6.5). Referring back to the results of Chapter 5, we found that TR 2100 recorded the lowest growth of body weight and buoyant weight changes. With rising rates of metabolism and a lack of growth, this may be an indication that future conditions of high temperatures and low pH levels did not disturb metabolisms, but led to the conversion of energy consumption used in the growth to be used in the maintenance and repair for maintaining survival. In this way the organisms were able to resist and reduce the mortality rate to reach about 20% only compared to 10% for the control treatment. Soft tissue weight did not record a significant change in all the measurements (Table 6.3, Fig. 6.2), which are similar to the results obtained by Thomsen and Melzner (2010) and Thomsen et al. (2010). This study has also seen an increase in the rates of metabolism in treatment TR 2100 at pH (7.65) and 19.2 °C which are similar to the same rates of Thomsen and Melzner (2010). This increase in metabolic rate may indicate the probability of increasing the cost of cellular calcification and balance at low pH levels, combined with high temperatures (Thomsen et al., 2010). It should be noted here that there had been a decrease in metabolism in TR 2050 (0.48  $\pm$  0.08, Table 6.4) compared to TR 2011 (0.59  $\pm$  0.13, Table 6.4), although not at significant levels, but it was accompanied by a slight reduction in dry soft tissue weight compared to the control treatment (Fig. 6.2). A significant rise in the proportion of the lipid content demonstrated (F =  $4.071 \pm 0.045\%$ , Table 6.3, Fig 6.4) when compared to TR 2011 (p = 0.046). This may indicate that medium treatment may be affected by exposure to the temperature and pH levels expected in 2050, which led to changes in metabolism resulting in an increase in lipid content with a decrease in soft tissue weight. This may be a kind of resistance to survive, especially when compared to the results of Chapter 5 which indicate an increase in the body and buoyant weight changes in TR 2050 compared to TR 2100 and a decrease in growth when compared with the control treatment (TR 2011). Results in the previous chapter showed improvement in the mortality rate in the fifth week which may indicate the development of a kind of ability to cope with the conditions and the surrounding variables, represented by dissolution of the shell and reduction of the metabolism as a means to maintain the stability of pH in the cells at TR 2050 (see Gazeau *et al.*, 2007). This may be due to the exposure of mussels *M. galloprovincialis* to high levels of acidity up to pH 7.3. It is thus clear that the increased temperatures and decreased pH levels, as expected during the middle and end of this century in the summer months, had an impact on calcified organisms and led to a decrease in growth and an increase in mortality, however these organisms have managed to reduce this effect and continue to live. Those changes were not a significant danger that could threaten these organisms in the near-future.

#### 6.4.2 Effects on L. littorea

The marine snail (L. littorea), which was exposed to the expected conditions in the middle of this century, provides a typical example for survival by reducing growth calcification rates (see Chapter 5). The organism showed a significant reduction in the rates of oxygen consumption in TR 2050 (p = 0.018, Fig. 6.6), resulting in a decrease in the rates of metabolism and therefore the reduction of total growth rates. All of this for the sake of survival by up to 93%, which is only less by 3% compared to TR 2011 (see Chapter 5 and Gazeau et al., 2007). This was accomplished by exposing the marine snail animals under study to the expected rises in temperature at the end of this century by as much as 19.2 ° C and in pH levels by 7.65 (TR 2100), which led to a significant increase in metabolic rate (p = 0.014). Also, there was a significant rise in the lipid content of TR 2100 (p = 0.006, Fig. 6.10). These are in comparison with the results obtained in Chapter 5 which indicated a reduction in the body weight change and buoyant weight change compared with the control treatment, while maintaining a mortality rate at under 10%, which is only 6% in TR 2100 less than the control treatment. It is clear from all of the above that exposure to the double factors expected in 2100 has had a negative impact on the L. littorea caused by the increase in the cost of producing the energy needed for the restoration, maintenance and preservation of the vitality of the cells, especially in case of the availability of food.

# 6.4.3 Effects on A. equina

At the same time, it was clear that there was a positive impact for future levels of temperature and pH levels on *A. equina*. This study found higher rates of oxygen consumption (F = 8.837, p = 0.001, Table 6.7, Fig. 6.17) for TR 2050 and TR 2100 associated with high levels of lipid content (F = 15.476, p < 0.001, Table 6.8, Fig. 6.15) in the dry soft tissue weight, which in turn was high when compared to the control treatment. This explains the ability of these organisms to survive by 100% during the experiments if we go back to the results of Chapter 5. These results also indicate an increase in the body weight change of the control treatment accompanied by a decrease in buoyant weight change and this may be due to the increased water content and not due to increased soft tissue weight, which is a very slight increase. These results of the dry weight gain (Table 6.7, Fig 6.13), with increasing temperatures and decreasing pH levels, appeared in algal turfs (see Connell and Russell, 2010).

# 6.4.4 Effects on A. aspersa

In *A. aspersa* exposed to the climatic conditions expected at the end of this century (TR 2100), metabolism was not disrupted due to these changes; on the contrary, there was a significant rise in oxygen consumption (p < 0.001, Fig. 6.22) concurrent with a decrease in lipid content (non-significant) and an increase in the percentage of soft tissues compared with the other two treatments (TR 2011 and TR 2050) strengthen the results obtained when studying some non-calcified organisms (Attrill *et al.*, 2007; Richardson and Gibbons, 2008; Connell and Russell, 2010). This may also strengthen the results of Chapter 5 that treatment TR 2100 obtained the highest percentage of survival, which was 23%, an increase of 8% compared to the control treatment. TR 2050 showed a significant drop in metabolic rates compared with TR 2100 (p < 0.001, Fig. 6.22) but with a rise in buoyant weight change (Chapter 5). This indicates that it has been able to adapt to changing conditions to continue the physiological processes even with a decrease as an expected reaction to resist these changes in ocean temperature and pH.

#### 6.5. Conclusion:

This study conducted on adult members of the four species of coastal marine invertebrates for six weeks under estimated future climatic conditions of high temperatures and low pH in the middle and at the end of the twenty-first century. Our results showed a significant rise in the metabolic rates in all species when exposed to the climatic conditions expected at the end of this century. This indicates increased cost of energy for their growth and survival (biological processes) (Thomsen et al., 2010). While the medium treatment TR 2050 recorded a significant decrease in only one case, in L. littorea, which did not affect the general functionality significantly but was one of the methods used to survive by lowering metabolic rates (Michaelidis et al., 2005), this is a well-known strategy for adaptation (Widdicombe and Needham, 2007). These results dramatically demonstrate that the fears of climate impact threatening marine invertebrates at the temperatures expected during this century are grounded in reality, however may be exaggerated to some extent. Moreover, the disruption in the vital functions that may occur when exposed to climatic conditions is greater than expected during this century (Thomsen and Melzner, 2010). On the other hand, even the unexpected positive changes may be evidence of disorders in the ecosystems (Connell and Russell, 2010), which may have a negative effect over the long term. These results show complex reactions to future climate changes not only for the different species of marine invertebrates, but also for the observed difference in reactions between the same species on the expected changes during the middle and end of this century. It is also noted here that the decrease in metabolic rate does not depend on the increase in the reduced levels of pH that could occur within the next 50-100 years but it might be true in the high levels of acidification (Thomsen and Melzner, 2010).

# **Chapter 7. Seasonal Effects of Temperature and pH on four Common British Marine Invertebrates and General Discussion**

#### <u>Abstract:</u>

Climate change is likely to have profound effects on marine animals due to the predicted increases in seawater temperature and acidity. Many studies have examined the effects on marine animals of climate change at the extreme temperatures expected for the summer season, but few studies have investigated how altered temperature profiles may affect these animals in the winter. This study conducted two series of laboratory experiments and investigated the effect of both winter and summer temperatures on the metabolic rate of intertidal marine invertebrate species: two calcified (Mytilus edulis and Littorina littorea) and two non-calcified (Actinia equina and Ascidiella aspersa). Following a period of acclimatisation during which the temperature was gradually increased and pH decreased, animals were exposed to the climatic conditions predicted for 2050 (TR 2050) and 2100 (TR 2100) over a sixweek period. During these experiments, survival, body weight change, and buoyant weigh change were measured. At the end of the experiments, metabolic rates, and lipid content were measured. The present study revealed a contrast between calcified and non-calcified marine organisms as to the manner in which each deals with the high temperatures and high acidity in different seasons. These distinctions became even clearer the variation in how the same species dealt with the different levels of acidity and different temperature regimes. Calcified animals showed positive growth and survival responses in all seasons in comparison with the non-calcified animals, although they were in their best condition in the winter season. There were no statistically significant differences in growth in any of the species used in this study due to season. There was a significant decrease in lipid content in L. littorea under the summer treatment (TR 2011S) compared with the winter treatment (TR 2011W). Metabolic rates showed a noticeable increase in all species of summer treatment (TR 2100S). The summer treatment results in a significant increase in metabolic rates when compared with winter treatments for M. edulis, L. littorea, and A. aspersa. In this study two separate series of experiments were performed, but conducting experiments on the same sample animals over an entire year might allow more

comprehensive findings on the ability of these organisms to adapt to variable seasons and long-term exposure to high temperature and low pH.

#### 7.1 Introduction:

A review of the research on the impact of climate change on marine invertebrates reveals a scarcity of studies concerned with seasonal influences or comparisons between winter and summer, despite the importance of seasonality in pH changes (Findlay et al., 2009a). During the summer, pH can drop to 7.5 and during the winter increase again by 1.0 unit up to 8.5 (Findlay et al., 2008). In addition to the fact that temperatures reach maxima in the summer and minima in the winter, rising temperatures could lead to maximally increased rates of calcification (Marshall & Clode, 2004; Rodrigues & Grottoli, 2006) in summer (Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2009; Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2010). However, any temperature decrease may increase dissolution of CaCO<sup>3</sup> from shells (McClintock et al., 2009) and thus decrease calcification rates in winter (Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2009; Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2010). For example, we find that more than 90% of the growth of mussel shells was recorded in the period between April and September (Boyden, 1971; Nagarajan et al., 2006). At the same time, a decrease in temperature in winter is accompanied by a decrease in phytoplankton abundance (Bayne and Worrall, 1980; Nagarajan et al., 2006) and thus a decrease in the growth of invertebrates. When surrounding temperatures are less than 10 °C in winter and greater than 20 °C in summer, growth in the mussel decreases (Bayne and Worrall, 1980; Nagarajan et al., 2006). High temperatures within the optimal limits, together with abundant food increases observed growth. For example when temperatures are at their highest summer average, conditions are suitable for the highest observed rates of calcification in corals (Marshall & Clode, 2004; Rodrigues & Grottoli, 2006). However, when summer high temperature tend to be above average, lower rates of calcification are observed (Clausen and Roth, 1975; Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2006). Low winter water temperatures near 5 °C have been shown to affect Cerastoderma edule, snails that are also known as cockles, and led to decreased growth (Jones, 1979; Nagarajan et al., 2006). Mussels also display the same growth inhibition at 5 °C (Melzner et al., 2011), which indicates the effect of seasonality on variation in shell weight (De Moel *et al.*, 2009).

In any case, semi-fatal effects such as low growth may arise due to prolonged exposure to extreme temperatures, whether high in summer or low in winter. Furthermore, increased warming during the seasons that are supposed to be relatively cool can send early signals of season change and cause animals to respond to such signals at seasonally inappropriate times (known as a shift in phenology) (Noone *et al.*, 2013).

In this chapter, results of the studies comparing changes in body weight, buoyant weight, lipid content, and metabolism between winter treatments and corresponding summer treatments are presented. Data from the winter and summer control treatments were compared; then the TR 2050 winter treatment, TR 2050W was compared with the TR 2050 summer treatment, TR 2050S; and finally the TR 2100 winter treatment, TR 2011W, was compared with its TR 2100 counterpart in the summer, TR 2100S.

# 7.2 Methods:

The methods of this chapter were described in detail in Chapter 2, and methods specific to the winter and summer seasons were described in Chapters 3 and 5, respectively. Tables 7.1, 7.2, and 7.3 give information about dates of animal collections and experimental periods, numbers of animals used for each measurement, and seawater parameters measured during these experiments (for more see Chapters 2, 3, and 5).

 Table 7.1
 Dates of collections and experimental periods of winter and summer experiments.

Season	Experiment No.	Collection date	Experiment period		
Winter	1	01 February 2012	01 February–28 March 2012		
	2	24 September 2012	24 September–22 November 2012		
Summer	1	24 May 2012	24 May-17 July 2012		
	2	19 July 2012	19 July–13 September 2012		

Parameters		Treatments											
measured		TR 2	2011			TR 2050				TR 2100			
	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>	М.е.	<i>L.l.</i>	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>	М.е.	L.l.	A.e.	<i>A.a.</i>	
No. <sup>a</sup> at start <sup>w</sup>	84	66	53	102	81	69	46	97	78	63	49	89	
No. <sup>a</sup> at start <sup>s</sup>	71	102	53	33	71	108	50	37	78	106	46	40	
No. <sup>a</sup> at end <sup>w</sup>	84	66	34	98	68	67	34	63	71	62	35	16	
No.a at end <sup>s</sup>	64	98	53	5	56	100	50	6	61	95	46	9	
No. <sup>a</sup> surviving <sup>w</sup>	84	66	53	102	81	69	46	97	78	63	49	89	
No. <sup>a</sup> surviving <sup>s</sup>	71	102	53	33	71	108	50	37	78	106	46	40	
Body weight <sup>w</sup>	12	12	12	14	12	12	12	9	12	12	11	4	
Body weight <sup>s</sup>	12	12	12	4	11	11	12	3	12	11	12	2	
Buoyant weight <sup>w</sup>	12	12	12	14	12	12	12	9	12	12	11	4	
Buoyant weight <sup>s</sup>	12	12	12	4	11	11	12	3	12	11	12	2	
Lipid content <sup>w</sup>	6	5	6	6	6	5	5	5	6	6	6	2	
Lipid content <sup>s</sup>	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	3	5	5	5	2	
Metabolic rate <sup>w</sup>	10	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	11	8	
Metabolic rate <sup>s</sup>	12	12	12	7	12	12	12	10	12	12	12	10	

**Table 7.2** Numbers of samples used to measure parameters in these study species for the winter and summer experiments.

<sup>a</sup> refers to number of animals used to calculate survival; <sup>w</sup> refers to the winter season; <sup>s</sup> refers to the summer season; *M.e.* refers to *M. edulis*; *L.l.* refers to *L. littorea*; *A.e.* refers to *A. equina*; and *A.a.* refers to *A. aspersa*.

**Table 7.3** Parameters of seawater chemistry measured during the summer and winter experiments in the control the treatment and future condition treatments TR 2050 and TR 2011 (Mean  $\pm$  S.E.).

Season	Treatment	Temperature (°C)	Salinity (ppt)	pН	$O_{2}(\%)$
Winter	TR 2011	4.7 (± 0.20)	36.1 (± 1.08)	8.05 (± 0.07)	97.4 (± 1.40)
	TR 2050	6.4 (± 0.20)	36.0 (± 1.18)	7.90 (± 0.06)	97.3 (± 1.60)
	TR 2100	8.7 (± 0.24)	35.9 (± 1.11)	7.75 (± 0.07)	96.8 (± 1.74)
Summer	TR 2011	14.8 (± 0.13)	36.3 (± 1.23)	8.05 (± 0.14)	96.6 (± 1.45)
	TR 2050	$17.0 (\pm 0.20)$	36.6 (± 1.20)	7.84 (± 0.11)	97.0 (± 1.45)
	TR 2100	19.2 (± 0.20)	36.6 (± 1.22)	$7.65 (\pm 0.08)$	96.8 (± 1.46)

# 7.3 Results:

#### 7.3.1 Effect of Seasonality on Survival:

#### Mytilus edulis:

The results of survival analysis revealed an increase in mortality in the summer in comparison with the corresponding treatments in the winter (Table 7.4,

Fig. 7.1). The largest difference (13%) was between TR 2100W (91%) compared with TR 2100S (78%), although this value was very close to the difference in mortality observed between the summer and winter controls (10%).

# Littorina littorea:

The results of survival analysis showed an increase in mortality in the summer in comparison with the corresponding treatments during the winter. Generally, the mortality rate is very low; the lowest value was recorded in TR 2100S and did not exceed 10% (Table 7.4, Fig. 7.2). However, the difference in mortality between TR 2100W compared with TR 2100S was 8%, while the difference in mortality between the control treatments was 4%.

#### Actinia equina:

The results showed that the preponderance of individuals survive the summer in comparison with the results for winter in all treatments. No deaths were recorded in the summer, while the highest winter mortality rate of 36% recorded the control treatment TR 2011W (Table 7.4, Fig. 7.3).

#### Ascidiella aspersa:

Summer mortality rates were very high for all treatments and resemble rates observed in the winter treatment at the highest temperature and acidity levels (TR 2100W). The percentage survival under the control treatment in the winter (TR 2011W) reached 96% (Table 7.4, Fig. 7.4).

**Table 7.4** Percentage survival of the four study species under different treatments

 over a six-week period in the winter and summer treatments.

Saacon	Species	Г	TR 2011	,	TR 2050	Т	R 2100
Season		n	Survival %	n	Survival %	n	Survival %
Winter	Madulia	84	100	81	84	78	91
Summer	M. eauis	71	90	71	79	78	78
Winter	I littorea	66	100	69	97	63	98
Summer	L. Illiorea	102	96	108	93	106	90
Winter	A cauina	53	64	46	74	49	71
Summer	A. equina	53	100	50	100	46	100
Winter	<b>A</b>	102	96	97	65	89	18
Summer	A. aspersa	33	15	37	16	40	23



**Figure 7.1** Percentage survival of *M. edulis* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments under winter and summer conditions. In the treatment labels, "W" represents winter and "S" represents summer. The experimental winter treatment TR 2011W is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050W is represented by red squares, and TR 2100W is represented by green triangles. The experimental summer treatment TR 2011S is represented by purple Xs, TR 2050S is represented by cyan asterisks, and TR 2100S is represented by orange circles. APEP represents the acclimatization period end points.



**Figure 7.2** Percentage survival of *L. littorea* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments under winter and summer conditions. In the treatment labels, "W" represents winter and "S" represents summer. The experimental winter treatment TR 2011W is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050W is represented by red squares, and TR 2100W is represented by green triangles. The experimental summer treatment TR 2011S is represented by purple Xs, TR 2050S is represented by cyan asterisks, and TR 2100S is represented by orange circles. APEP represents the acclimatization period end points.



**Figure 7.3** Percentage survival of *A. equina* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments under winter and summer conditions. In the treatment labels, "W" represents winter and "S" represents summer. The experimental winter treatment TR 2011W is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050W is represented by red squares, and TR 2100W is represented by green triangles. The experimental summer treatment TR 2011S is represented by purple Xs, TR 2050S is represented by cyan asterisks, and TR 2100S is represented by orange circles. APEP represents the acclimatization period end points.



**Figure 7.4** Percentage survival of *A. aspersa* over a six-week experimental period for all treatments under winter and summer conditions. In the treatment labels, "W" represents winter and "S" represents summer. The experimental winter treatment TR 2011W is represented by blue diamonds, TR 2050W is represented by red squares, and TR 2100W is represented by green triangles. The experimental summer treatment TR 2011S is represented by purple Xs, TR 2050S is represented by cyan asterisks, and TR 2100S is represented by orange circles. APEP represents the acclimatization period end points.



Figure 7.5 The chart compares survival rates for all species and treatments under study. Seasonal effects were observed more for non-calcified organisms than for calcified marine invertebrates. In the treatment labels, "W" represents winter and "S" represents summer.

# 7.3.2 Effect of Seasonality on Growth and Body Composition:

# Mytilus edulis:

Results of Shapiro-Wilk's tests indicated that data for body weight change, buoyant weight change, and dry weight in *M. edulis* were not normally distributed, so the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare treatment effects (Table 7.5). The Mann-Whitney U test was then used *post hoc* to test for significant differences between specific treatments. However, metabolic rate was normally distributed, so treatments were compared with one-way ANOVA (Table 7.6) and Scheffe's method was then used *post hoc* to test for differences between treatments.

There were no significant differences in body weight change or lipid content in *M. edulis* between the corresponding treatments under winter and summer conditions (see Tables 7.5 and 7.6, and Fig. 7.6 and Fig. 7.8). Although there was a significant difference in buoyant weight change between some treatments, there was no significant difference between corresponding treatments in winter and summer conditions (Table 7.5, Fig. 7.7). Also, a significant difference in metabolic rate (Table 7.6, Fig. 7.9) between TR 2100W compared with TR 2100S (p = 0.032), was identified using the Mann-Whitney U test

	Norm	ality test		Treatment comparison			
	Shapiro	-Wilk's te	est	Kruskal-Wallis test			
Parameter	Statistics	df	<i>p</i> value	Chi-square	df	<i>p</i> value	
Body weight	0.770	71	< 0.001	4.050	5	0.542	
Buoyant weight	0.886	71	< 0.001	11.374	5	0.044	
Lipid content <sup>a</sup>	0.960	33	0.261	7.196	5	0.206	

**Table 7.5** Statistical analysis of body weight change, buoyant weight change, and lipid content of *M. edulis*.

<sup>a</sup> Treatment effects for lipid content were analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test because its variance was not homogeneous; the Levene's test for homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.003).

**Table 7.6** Statistical analysis of metabolic rate of *M. edulis*.

		ANOV	'A test	Norma	ality to	est	Homogeneity test		
Parameter		One-way		Shapiro-Wilk's test			Levene's test		
	n	F	р	Statistics	df	p	Statistics	p	
Metabolic rate	72	3.448	0.008	0.979	72	0.259	1.663	0.156	



**Figure 7.6** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change in *M. edulis* over a six-week period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.7** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *M. edulis* over a sixweek period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.8** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) lipid content in *M. edulis* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.9** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) metabolic rate (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) of *M. edulis* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.

# Littorina littorea:

The Shapiro-Wilk's test indicated that data for body weight change was not normally distributed. Therefore, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used (Table 7.7) with a *post hoc* Mann-Whitney U test to detect significant differences between treatments. However, lipid content and metabolic rate were normally distributed and treatments effects for those parameters were compared using one-way ANOVA (Table 7.8). Scheffe's method was then used *post hoc* to test for significant differences between treatments.

intorea.												
	Norm		Treatment comparison									
	Shapiro	-Wilk's te	est	Kruskal-Wallis test								
Parameter	Statistics	df	<i>p</i> value	Chi-square	df	<i>p</i> value						
Body weight	0.931	70	0.001	13.917	5	0.016						
Buoyant weight <sup>a</sup>	0.975	70	0.171	11.126	5	0.050						

**Table 7.7** Statistical analysis of body weight change and buoyant weight change in L.*littorea*.

<sup>a</sup> Buoyant weight change was analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test because the Levene's test for homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.020).

		ANOVA test		Norma	ality to	Homogeneity test		
Parameter		One-way		Shapiro-Wilk's test			Levene's test	
	n	F	р	Statistics	df	p	Statistics	p
Lipid content	31	5.360	0.002	0.963	31	0.351	0.396	0.847
Metabolic rate	72	9.244	< 0.001	0.970	72	0.088	1.853	0.115

**Table 7.8** Statistical analysis of lipid content and metabolic rate in L. littorea.

There was no significant difference in buoyant weight change in *L. littorea* between the corresponding treatments in winter and summer (see Table 7.7, Fig. 7.11). However, there was a significant difference in body weight change between some treatments, but not between corresponding treatments in winter and summer (Table 7.7, Fig. 7.10). Also, significant differences were found in lipid content (Table 7.8, Fig. 7.12) between TR 2011W and TR 2011S (p = 0.016), and in metabolic rate (Table 7.8, Fig. 7.13) between TR 2100W and TR 2100S (p = 0.029) using the Mann-Whitney U test.



**Figure 7.10** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change in *L. littorea* over a six-week period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.11** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *L. littorea* over a sixweek period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.12** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) lipid content in *L. littorea* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.13** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean (with SE bar) metabolic rate (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) in *L. littorea* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.

# Actinia equina:

Data for lipid content change were not normally distributed according to a Shapiro-Wilk's test, therefore, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare treatments (Table 7.9). The Mann-Whitney U test was then used *post hoc* to test for significant differences between specific treatments. However, data for body weight change, buoyant weight change, and metabolic rate were normally distributed, so treatments were compared by one-way ANOVA (Table 7.10). Scheffe's method was then used as a *post hoc* test for significant differences between treatments.

**Table 7.9** Statistical analysis of lipid content in A equina.

	Norm	ality test		Treatment comparison			
Parameter	Shapiro	-Wilk's te	est	Kruskal-Wallis test			
Measurement	Statistics	Statistics df <i>p</i> value		Chi-Square	df	p value	
Lipid content <sup>a</sup>	0.968	0.439	12.109	5	0.033		

<sup>a</sup> Lipid content analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test because according to the Levene's test there was significant (p < 0.001) for homogeneity of variances, that mean the variance of this lipid content was not homogeneous.

One-way		Norma	ality to	Homogeneity test				
Parameter		ANOVA		Shapiro-Wilk's test			Levene's test	
	n	F	р	Statistics	df	p	Statistics	p
Body weight	67	8.469	< 0.001	0.973	67	0.155	1.241	0.301
Buoyant weight	70	1.618	0.168	0.980	70	0.307	1.462	0.215
Metabolic rate	71	3.970	0.003	0.991	71	0.876	0.400	0.847

**Table 7.10** Statistical analysis of body weight change, buoyant weight change, and metabolic rate in *A. equina*.

There was no significant difference in buoyant weight change in *A. equina* between the corresponding treatments in winter and summer (see Table 7.10, Fig. 7.15). However, there were significant differences in body weight change, lipid content, and metabolic rate between some treatments, but not between corresponding treatments in winter and summer (Table 7.10, Fig. 7.14, Fig. 7.16, and Fig. 7.17).



**Figure 7.14** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change in *A. equina* over a six-week period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.15** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *A. equina* over a sixweek period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.16** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) lipid content in *A. equina* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.17** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean (with SE bar) metabolic rate (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>. $g^{-1}$ . $h^{-1}$ )) in *A. equina* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.

### Ascidiella aspersa:

The Shapiro-Wilk's test indicated that metabolic rate data were not normally distributed. However, although body weight change, buoyant weight change, and lipid content were normally distributed, variances for those parameters were not homogeneous (Table 7.11). Therefore, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare treatment effects for body weight change, buoyant weight change, and lipid content. Then the Mann-Whitney U test was used *post hoc* to test for significant differences between treatments.

There were no significant differences in buoyant weight change and lipid content of *A. aspersa* between the corresponding treatments in winter and summer (see Table 7.11, Fig. 7.19 and Fig. 7.20). However, there was a significant difference in body weight change between some treatments, but not between corresponding treatments in winter and summer (Table 7.11, Fig. 7.18). Also, there was significant difference in metabolic rate (Table 7.11, Fig. 7.21) between TR 2011W compared with TR 2011S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with TR 2050S (p = 0.019), between TR 2050W compared with T

0.008) and between TR 2100W compared with TR 2100S (p < 0.001), using the Mann-Whitney U test.

Parameter	Nor	mality tes	st	Treatment comparison							
	Shapiro-Wilk's test			Kruskal-Wallis test							
	Statistics	df	<i>p</i> value	Chi-Square	df	<i>p</i> value					
Body weight <sup>a</sup>	0.958	35	0.206	12.533	5	0.028					
Buoyant weight <sup>b</sup>	0.942	31	0.096	8.233	5	0.144					
Lipid content <sup>c</sup>	0.991	21	0.999	8.506	5	0.130					
Metabolic rate	0.374	61	< 0.001	35.758	5	< 0.001					

**Table 7.11** Statistical analyses for body weight change, buoyant weight change, lipid content, and metabolic rate in *A aspersa*.

<sup>a</sup> Body weight change was analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test because the variance for this parameter was not homogeneous (Levene's test was significant (p = 0.018)). <sup>b</sup> Buoyant weight change tested using the Kruskal-Wallis test because its variance was not homogeneous; the Levene's test for homogeneity of variances was significant (p = 0.005). <sup>c</sup> Lipid content tested using the Kruskal-Wallis test because the significant (p = 0.034) Levene's test for homogeneity of variances indicated that its variance was not homogeneous.



**Figure 7.18** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) body weight change in *A. aspersa* over a six-week period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.19** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) buoyant weight change in *A. aspersa* over a sixweek period. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.20** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean percentage (with SE bar) lipid content in *A. aspersa* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.



**Figure 7.21** Effect of increased temperature and decreased pH in winter and summer on mean (with SE bar) metabolic rate (VO<sub>2</sub> (mg O<sub>2</sub>.g<sup>-1</sup>.h<sup>-1</sup>)) in *A. aspersa* at the end of these experiments. Winter treatments represented by blue columns and summer treatments represented by red columns.

# 7.4 Seasonal and General Discussion:

### 7.4.1 Effects on M. edulis:

No significant differences in growth parameter changes between the corresponding treatments in winter and summer were observed in *M. edulis* (Table 7.5) (Thomsen *et al.*, 2010). However, an increase in growth in TR 2011W and TR 2100W was apparent in comparison to corresponding treatments in summer (Fig. 7.6 and Fig. 7.7), with a slight increase in TR 2050S compared to TR 2050W (Fig. 7.6 and Fig. 7.7). These findings support the notion that some marine invertebrates require an optimal temperature range for the optimal growth (Levinton, 2009) and that deviation from this range, whether lower or higher, can lead to reduced growth (Rodrigues and Grottoli, 2006). Non-significant differences in lipid content were recorded for winter and summer treatments (Table 7.5, Fig 7.8). However, an otherwise expected (Nagarajan *et al.*, 2006) increase in lipid content for *M. edulis* in winter (Fig. 7.8) was observed. A significant increase in metabolic rate was recorded for TR 2100S compared to TR 2100W (p = 0.032, Fig. 7.9), which was expected because metabolic rates normally increase due to increased temperatures in the

summer. The increased growth observed in winter may be attributable to greater abundance of food combined with reduced energy requirements (Findlay *et al.*, 2009a). The trends for all parameters measured in the summer and winter TR 2100 treatments track those in the TR 2011 treatments, except that the increased metabolic rates observed in the summer were significant at the high temperature limits. This increase did not reflect a significant impact on the growth in summer when compared to winter, perhaps due to the inability of the organism to synchronize energy expenditure to match their rate of food consumption (Nagarajan et al., 2006). The results showed an increase in mortality (22%), by difference of 13% compared to winter treatment (9%) (Table 7.4, Fig. 7.1, and Fig 7.5). There were strong similarities in survival data for TR 2050 between summer and winter (79% and 84%, respectively, Table 7.4, Fig 7.1)). Overall survival rates were best in the winter for all treatments, but were not high. Generally, these results indicate that the ability of these organisms to grow and carry on necessary physiological processes reflected their ability to survive.

Under exposure to the higher temperatures and seawater acidity expected in winter at the end of this century, M. edulis experienced reduced survival and slower growth in the present study. Together, these outcomes reflect conflicting results regarding the sensitivity of *M. edulis* to predicted future higher temperatures and lower pH (Landes and Zimmer, 2012). On the other hand, their results were similar to those in the present study for TR 2050, which revealed no significant effects on metabolic rates, with low differences in growth recorded for all measurements. In summer, M. edulis showed an increase in mortality rates directly proportional to the increase in temperature and acidity levels. In TR 2100, there was also a decrease in wet weight and the buoyant weight, and an increase in the size of the shell with an increase in the metabolic rate, which may reflect responses to resist shell dissolution in this treatment (Findlay et al., 2009b). Although there were different responses in TR 2050, *M. edulis* showed evidence of short-term adaptation through significantly reduced rates of metabolism. Despite the fact that most of the differences in parameters under future conditions were not statistically significantly different from controls, the present results indicated that the predicted future adverse effects of higher temperature and lower pH on M. edulis can lead to increased mortality,

reduced body weight, and reduced buoyant weight, but were not critical (Appelhans *et al.*, 2012).

#### 7.4.2 Effects on L. littorea:

The growth changes observed in corresponding treatments were not significantly different in summer and winter in L. littorea. Decreased growth in winter experiments and increased growth in summer were expected, especially as reflected in buoyant weight measurements (Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2010) but these expectations were not met in the future treatments (Fig 7.10 and Fig. 7.11). However, the effects of concurrent increased availability of food, with low metabolic rates and low energy expenditure on other physiological processes may lead to increased growth in all winter treatments. The irregular responses were noted in the summer treatments when the temperature rose above the seasonal average (Godbold and Solan, 2013), while an increase in the metabolic rate under TR 2011S (Fig. 7.13) occurred in tandem with a non-significant increase in growth under the same treatment in winter (Fig. 7.10 and Fig. 7.11). In TR 2050, a non-significant decrease in growth in the summer was observed. Differences in metabolic rates and lipid content were also non-significant between corresponding treatments under winter and summer conditions, except for the increased metabolic rate recorded for treatment TR 2100S (p = 0.029. Table 7.8, Fig. 7.13). As seen in *M. edulis*, and as expected, metabolic rate increased under TR 2100S in L. littorea in the summer and rose significantly under TR 2100W. Such an increase in metabolic rate, combined with lower growth and intermediate lipid content indicates increased energy consumption directed to the restoration and maintenance of tissues, and increased cost of growth and calcification to compensate for dissolved shell components (Fig 7.11 and Fig. 7.13). The increase in metabolic rate observed in TR 2100S coincided with decreased summer survival (90%) compared with the winter treatment (98%). The highest difference in mortality observed was between corresponding treatments (8%), which was no more than 4% in the other treatments (Table 7.4, Fig. 7.2, and Fig. 7.5). Generally, winter treatments showed better growth and survival parameters when compared to the summer treatments, except that the largest change in growth was observed under TR 2011S compared with TR 2011W.

*L. littorea* showed a high capacity for survival in winter, while exhibiting a decrease in body growth offset by an increase in the growth of the shell. This

coincided with an increase in metabolic rate. Therefore, it is clear that increasing the acidity levels and temperatures did not disrupt metabolism or decrease calcification, although deficits in length and weight change may indicate a reciprocal relationship between the dissolution of old structures and the formation of new structures (Findlay et al., 2009b). However, none of these effects were statistically significant, possibly due to the ability of L. littorea to convert energy and thereby reduce growth and increase calcification to cope with the new environmental conditions and survive at higher rates. The present results showed decreases in the growth of L. littorea in 2050 and in 2100 due to elevated temperature and decresed pH, as shown decreases in body weight under the higher temperature and decreased pH (Melatunan et al., 2013) in the summer. The lower growth together with high metabolism might be a response to the TR 2100 treatment that would improve individual animals' ability to survive. Otherwise, growth would have increased, boosted by the animals' high fat content as compared to that of animals under the control treatment. This response also reveals shell dissolution under the TR 2050, which indicates the occurrence of divergent responses to the phenotypic characteristics of the shell between treatments (Melatunan et al., 2013). These results show that higher temperature and lower pH have a small but negative impact on L. littorea that may be due to the increased cost of producing the energy needed for the restoration, maintenance, and preservation of cell viability and shell integrity.

#### 7.4.3 Effects on A. equina:

A. equina as a species tends to tolerate a broad range of thermal conditions, because its tidal habitat tends to exhibit a wide range of seasonal and daily temperatures (Levinton, 2009). The findings in this study supported the hypothesis that an increase in temperature may affect the abundance of some non-calcified marine invertebrate species. Mortality was zero in the summer season (0%), while the mortality rate ranged from 26% to 36% under all winter treatments and was highest under TR 2011W (64%, Table 7.4, Fig 7.3 and Fig 7.5). However, there were no significant responses for any measurements under corresponding treatments under winter and summer conditions. Decreased pH under future condition treatments in winter might have played a role in reducing mortality and reducing the difference between winter and summer treatments, unlike the effects observed on calcified invertebrates in the present study (Fig, 7.5). A. equina might have a strong ability to

adapt to future environmental conditions, via energy conversion and reduced growth to increase its ability to survive. Under summer conditions, these animals were highly successful, but the winter usually tough on *A. equina*. Elevated temperatures and low pH of the predicted future conditions might have improved the ability of these organisms to seasonally adapt.

The ability of *A. equina* to survive in winter were similar under future treatment conditions, with a slight non-significant increase in survival compared to control, which indicates that some non-calcified invertebrates may become more abundant in a more acidic environment. Suggett *et al.* (2012), for example, suggested that the abundance of Cnidaria would increase. In addition, these results showed an increase in metabolic rates directly proportional to the temperature and acidity increases, together with decreased growth change. This may indicate that reduced growth and higher rates of metabolism allowed the animals to cope with the more difficult environment and maintain acceptable levels of survival. Under summer conditions, there were no surprises for any of the responses measured in *A. equina*, which were within expectations. Results for *A. equina* demonstrated that these animals tolerated increased temperatures and acidity, and have a high capacity to adapt, which led to an absence of mortality in all treatments.

#### 7.4.4 Effects on A. aspersa:

*A. aspersa* is a species with seasonal mortality and a short life cycle (Schmidt, 1983), These animals are typically quite abundant when animals are collected at the beginning of winter, but are less abundant in the middle of winter. Adult animals greater than 25 mm in size were rarely observed in the summer. Hence, most adults might reach the end of their life cycle in the summer while others do so in the middle of winter. Percentage mortality in the summer for all treatments ranging from 77% to 85% (Table 7.4), approaching the mortality rate of 82% observed in TR 2100W (Fig. 7.3 and Fig. 7.5). The lowest mortality rate of 4% under winter treatments was observed in TR 2011W, while 35% mortality was recorded for TR 2050W. These results showed that mortality increased significantly in winter treatments under predicted future conditions, while there was slight improvement in survival in the summer treatments under predicted future conditions (TR 2050S and TR 2100S). Despite the impact of a short life cycle (18 months) (Morton and Dinesen, 2011) on

its mortality rates, temperature increases of more than 7 °C may have led these animals to sense a change of season. That may lead to a phenology shift so that behavioral responses that are expected to begin in one season start to occur earlier or later (Godbold and Solan, 2013). Here, responses expected to occur in the summer start to occur late in the winter and the animals inappropriately transition to the next phase, resulting in a higher mortality rate. A. aspersa showed responses different to some extent from those for other marine invertebrate species, when comparing the corresponding treatments in summer and winter. In this species, there were nonsignificant responses in growth and lipid content, while all corresponding treatments showed significant treatment responses in metabolic parameters during the winter and summer seasons (Table 7.11, Fig. 7.21). Hence, the present study found that elevated temperature had a negative effect on impact on this species of marine invertebrate, which is affected by seasonality. The winter season launches the animals into readiness for the beginning of a new life cycle in the spring, so increased temperature and decreased pH may both reduce viability and the chances for reproductive success for these marine organisms.

The results of the present study of predicted future climate effects on A. aspersa in winter were in stark contrast to positive responses to decreased pH land increased temperature on non-calcified marine invertebrates reported in other studies (Connell & Russell, 2010, Kroeker et al., 2010). The present study results indicated higher and statistically significant percent mortality in direct proportion to the higher temperature and acidity levels in winter. Furthermore, generally lower growth (body weight change and dry weight), with increased metabolic rates under TR 2100 conditions, and lower metabolic rates under TR 2050 conditions were recorded. For A. aspersa summer responses, factors related to these organisms' short life cycle might have led to very high percentage mortality under all treatments, including the control treatment. However, the level of improvement in survival rates when temperature and acidity levels increased to their treatment maxima, supports what Dupont and Thorndyke (2009) noted that a lower pH of -0.4 units led to increases in the rate of survival. Slight increases appeared in buoyant weight, body weight, and lipid content. Metabolic rate showed variable responses; a significant increase was observed under TR 2100 conditions, but a significant decrease was observed under

TR 2050 conditions. These results illustrate the variability of responses to different pH and temperature levels by one species in the same season.

# 8.4 Future Work:

Further tests based on the results obtained so far will be performed, including calorimetric energy calculations and protein content determinations in dried tissues. These tests will be integrated with the present results partially by scanning electron microscopy of tissues from the marine invertebrate species to determine whether environmental conditions resulting from climate change have any effects on any structures or tissues of the study species, specifically on mitochondria in the epithelial layer (see Appendices).

# Literature cited:

- Abramovitch-Gottlib, L., Katoshevski, D., and Vago, R. (2002). 'A computerized tank system for studying the effect of temperature on calcification of reef organisms', *Journal of biochemical and biophysical methods*, *50*(2), 245-252.
- Andersson, A.J., Kuffner, I.B., Mackenzie, F.T., Jokiel, P.L., Rodgers, K.S. and Tan,
   A. (2009) 'Net loss of CaCO 3 from a subtropical calcifying community due to
   seawater acidification: mesocosm-scale experimental evidence',
   *Biogeosciences*, 6(8), pp. 1811-1823.
- Anestis, A., Pörtner, H. O., Lazou, A., and Michaelidis, B. (2008) 'Metabolic and molecular stress responses of sublittoral bearded horse mussel *Modiolus barbatus* to warming sea water: implications for vertical zonation', *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 211(17), 2889-2898.
- Anthony, K.R.N., Kline, D.I., Diaz-Pulido, G., Dove, S. and Hoegh-Guldberg, O. (2008) 'Ocean acidification causes bleaching and productivity loss in coral reef builders', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(45), pp. 17442-17446.
- Appelhans, Y., Thomsen, J., Pansch, C., Melzner, F. and Wahl, M. (2012) 'Sour times: seawater acidification effects on growth, feeding behaviour and acid– base status of Asterias rubens and Carcinus maenas', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 459, pp. 85-98.
- Arnold, K.E., Findlay, H.S., Spicer, J.I., Daniels, C.L. and Boothroyd, D. (2009) 'Effect of CO 2-related acidification on aspects of the larval development of the European lobster, Homarus gammarus (L.)', *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 6(2), pp. 3087-3107.

- Attrill, M.J., Wright, J. and Edwards, M. (2007) 'Climate-related increases in jellyfish frequency suggest a more gelatinous future for the North Sea', *Limnology and Oceanography*, 52(1), pp. 480-485.
- Barange, M., Field, J. G., Harris, R. P., Hofmann, E. E., Perry, R. I., and Werner, F. E. (2010). *Marine ecosystems and global change*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Barnes, H., Barnes, M. and Finlayson, D.M. (1963) 'The seasonal changes in body weight, biochemical composition, and oxygen uptake of two common boreoarctic cirripedes, Balanus balanoides and B. balanus', *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 43(01), pp. 185-211.
- Batten, S.D. and Bamber, R.N. (1996) 'The effects of acidified seawater on the polychaete *Nereis virens* Sars, 1835', *Marine pollution bulletin*, 32(3), pp. 283-287.
- Bayne, B.L. and Worrall, C.M. (1980) 'Growth and production of mussels Mytilus edulis from two populations', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 3, pp. 317-328.
- Beesley, A., Lowe, D.M., Pascoe, C.K. and Widdicombe, S. (2008) 'Effects of CO<sub>2</sub> induced seawater acidification on the health of *Mytilus edulis*', *Climate research*, 37(2), p. 215.
- Berge, J.A., Bjerkeng, B., Pettersen, O., Schaanning, M.T. and Øxnevad, S. (2006)
  'Effects of increased sea water concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub> on growth of the bivalve *Mytilus edulis* L', *Chemosphere*, 62(4), pp. 681-687.
- Bibby, R., Cleall-Harding, P., Rundle, S., Widdicombe, S. and Spicer, J. (2007)
  'Ocean acidification disrupts induced defences in the intertidal gastropod Littorina littorea', Biology Letters, 3(6), pp. 699-701.

- Bibby, R., Widdicombe, S., Parry, H., Spicer, J. and Pipe, R. (2008) 'Effects of ocean acidification on the immune response of the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*', *Aquatic Biology*, 2(1), pp. 67-74.
- Bolton, T.F. and Havenhand, J.N. (2005) 'Physiological acclimation to decreased water temperature and the relative importance of water viscosity in determining the feeding performance of larvae of a serpulid polychaete', *Journal of plankton research*, 27(9), pp. 875-879.
- Boyden, C.R. (1971) 'A comparative study of the reproductive cycles of the cockles Cerastoderma edule and C. glaucum', *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 51(03), pp. 605-622.
- Brenner, M. and Buck, B. (2011) '*Mytilus edulis*' (On-line) Alfred-Wegener-Institut fur polar-und Meeresforschung (AWI). [cited 24/11/2011]. Available from: <http://www.awi.de/de/forschung/neue\_technologien/marine\_aquaculture\_mar itime\_technologies\_and\_iczm/research\_themes/marine\_aquaculture/candidate \_species/blue\_mussels/>
- Brierley, A.S. and Kingsford, M.J. (2009) 'Impacts of climate change on marine organisms and ecosystems', *Current Biology*, 19(14), pp. R602-R614.
- Brown, A.C. and McLachlan, A. (2002) 'Sandy shore ecosystems and the threats facing them: some predictions for the year 2025', *Environmental Conservation*, 29(01), pp. 62-77.
- Bucher, D. J., and Harrison, P. L. (2000) 'Growth response of the reef coral Acropora longicyathus to elevated inorganic nutrients: do responses to nutrients vary among coral taxa?', In Proceedings of the 9th International Coral Reef Symposium, Bali (Vol. 1, pp. 443-448).
- Bulling, M.T., Hicks, N., Murray, L., Paterson, D.M., Raffaelli, D., White, P.C.L. and Solan, M. (2010) 'Marine biodiversity–ecosystem functions under uncertain

environmental futures', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 365(1549), pp. 2107-2116.

- Byrne, M., Ho, M., Selvakumaraswamy, P., Nguyen, H.D., Dworjanyn, S.A. and Davis, A.R. (2009) 'Temperature, but not pH, compromises sea urchin fertilization and early development under near-future climate change scenarios', *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 276(1663), pp. 1883-1888.
- Caldeira, K. and Wickett, M.E. (2003) 'Oceanography: anthropogenic carbon and ocean pH', *Nature*, 425(6956), pp. 365-365.
- Caldeira, K. and Wickett, M.E. (2005) 'Ocean model predictions of chemistry changes from carbon dioxide emissions to the atmosphere and ocean', *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans (1978–2012)*, 110(C9).
- Campbell, A.C. and Nicholls, J. (1977) *The Hamlyn guide to the seashore and shallow seas of Britain and Europe*. London: Hamlyn.
- Cheung, W.W.L., Lam, V.W.Y., Sarmiento, J.L., Kearney, K., Watson, R. and Pauly, D. (2009) 'Projecting global marine biodiversity impacts under climate change scenarios', *Fish and Fisheries*, 10(3), pp. 235-251.
- Christensen, A.B., Nguyen, H.D. and Byrne, M. (2011) 'Thermotolerance and the effects of hypercapnia on the metabolic rate of the ophiuroid *Ophionereis schayeri*: Inferences for survivorship in a changing ocean', *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 403(1), pp. 31-38.
- Christian, J. R., Grant, C. G. J., Meade, J. D., and Noble, L. D. (2010). *Habitat* requirements and life history characteristics of selected marine invertebrate species occurring in the Newfoundland and Labrador region. Fisheries and Oceans Canada.

- Clausen, C.D. and Roth, A.A. (1975) 'Effect of temperature and temperature adaptation on calcification rate in the hermatypic coral Pocillopora damicornis', *Marine Biology*, 33(2), pp. 93-100.
- Comeau, S., Gorsky, G., Jeffree, R., Teyssié, J.L. and Gattuso, J.P. (2009) 'Impact of ocean acidification on a key Arctic pelagic mollusc (*Limacina helicina*)', *Biogeosciences*, 6(9), pp. 1877-1882.
- Connell, S.D. and Russell, B.D. (2010) 'The direct effects of increasing CO2 and temperature on non-calcifying organisms: increasing the potential for phase shifts in kelp forests', *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, p. rspb20092069.
- Courtney, T., Westfield, I., and Ries, J. B. (2013) 'CO<sub>2</sub>-induced ocean acidification impairs calcification in the tropical urchin *Echinometra viridis*', *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 440, 169-175.
- Cummins, V., Coughlan, S., McClean, O., Connolly, N., Mercer, J., and Burnell, G. (2002) 'An assessment of the potential for the sustainable development of the edible periwinkle, *Littorina littorea*, industry in Ireland', *Marine Institute*, *Marine Resource Series*; 22.
- Curtis, L. (2005). Ascidiella aspersa. A sea squirt. Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Sub-programme [on-line]. Plymouth: Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. [cited 30/07/2014]. Available from: <http://www.marlin.ac.uk/speciesinformation.php?speciesID=2627>
- Dashfield, S.L., Somerfield, P.J., Widdicombe, S., Austen, M.C. and Nimmo, M. (2008) 'Impacts of ocean acidification and burrowing urchins on withinsediment pH profiles and subtidal nematode communities', *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 365(1), pp. 46-52.

- Davenport, J., Moloney, T.V. and Kelly, J. (2011) 'Common sea anemones Actinia equina are predominantly sessile intertidal scavengers', Marine Ecology Progress Series, 430, pp. 147-155.
- Davies, P.S. (1989) 'Short-term growth measurements of corals using an accurate buoyant weighing technique', *Marine biology*, 101(3), pp. 389-395.
- De Bodt, C., Van Oostende, N., Harlay, J., Sabbe, K. and Chou, L. (2010) 'Individual and interacting effects of  $pCO_2$  and temperature on *Emiliania huxleyi* calcification: study of the calcite production, the coccolith morphology and the coccosphere size', *Biogeosciences*, 7(5), pp. 1401-1412.
- De Moel, H., Ganssen, G.M., Peeters, F.J.C., Jung, S.J.A., Kroon, D., Brummer, G.J.A. and Zeebe, R.E. (2009) 'Planktic foraminiferal shell thinning in the Arabian Sea due to anthropogenic ocean acidification', *Biogeosciences*, 6(9), pp. 1917-1925.
- Dissard, D., Nehrke, G., Reichart, G. J., and Bijma, J. (2010) 'Impact of seawater pCO<sub>2</sub> on calcification and Mg/Ca and Sr/Ca ratios in benthic foraminifera calcite: results from culturing experiments with *Ammonia tepida*', *Biogeosciences*, 7, 81-93.
- Doney, S. (2009) 'The consequences of human-driven ocean acidification for marine life', *F1000 biology reports*, 1.
- Doney, S.C. (2006) 'The dangers of ocean acidification', *Scientific American*, 294(3), pp. 58-65.
- Doney, S.C., Fabry, V.J., Feely, R.A. and Kleypas, J.A. (2009) 'Ocean acidification: the other CO2 problem', *Marine Science*, 1.
- Dong, Y., Dong, S., and Ji, T. (2008) 'Effect of different thermal regimes on growth and physiological performance of the sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus* Selenka', *Aquaculture*, 275(1), 329-334.
- Dong, Y.W., Yu, S.S., Wang, Q.L. and Dong, S.L. (2011) 'Physiological responses in a variable environment: relationships between metabolism, Hsp and thermotolerance in an intertidal-subtidal species', *PloS one*, 6(10), p. e26446.
- Dupont, S., and Thorndyke, M. C. (2009) 'Impact of CO<sub>2</sub>-driven ocean acidification on invertebrates early life-history–What we know, what we need to know and what we can do', *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 6(2), 3109-3131.
- Dupont, S., Havenhand, J., Thorndyke, W., Peck, L.S. and Thorndyke, M. (2008) 'Near-future level of CO2-driven ocean acidification radically affects larval survival and development in the brittlestar *Ophiothrix fragilis*', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 373, pp. 285-294.
- Dytham, C. (2011) *Choosing and using statistics: a biologist's guide*. John Wiley and Sons.
- Edmunds, P.J., Cumbo, V. and Fan, T.Y. (2011) 'Effects of temperature on the respiration of brooded larvae from tropical reef corals', *The Journal of experimental biology*, 214(16), pp. 2783-2790.
- Eklöf, J.S., Alsterberg, C., Havenhand, J.N., Sundbäck, K., Wood, H.L. and Gamfeldt, L. (2012) 'Experimental climate change weakens the insurance effect of biodiversity', *Ecology letters*, 15(8), pp. 864-872.
- Ellis, R.P., Bersey, J., Rundle, S.D., Hall-Spencer, J.M. and Spicer, J.I. (2009) 'Subtle but significant effects of CO2 acidified seawater on embryos of the intertidal snail, *Littorina obtusata*', *Aquatic Biology*, 5(1), pp. 41-48.
- Fabry, V.J. (1990) 'Shell growth rates of pteropod and heteropod molluscs and aragonite production in the open ocean: implications for the marine carbonate system', *Journal of Marine Research*, 48(1), pp. 209-222.

- Fabry, V.J., Seibel, B.A., Feely, R.A. and Orr, J.C. (2008) 'Impacts of ocean acidification on marine fauna and ecosystem processes', *ICES Journal of Marine Science: Journal du Conseil*, 65(3), pp. 414-432.
- Feely, R.A., Sabine, C.L., Lee, K., Berelson, W., Kleypas, J., Fabry, V.J. and Millero, F.J. (2004) 'Impact of anthropogenic CO2 on the CaCO3 system in the oceans', *Science*, 305(5682), pp. 362-366.
- Ferrier-Pages, C., Gattuso, J. P., Dallot, S., and Jaubert, J. (2000) 'Effect of nutrient enrichment on growth and photosynthesis of the zooxanthellate coral *Stylophora pistillata*', *Coral Reefs*, 19(2), 103-113.
- Findlay, H.S., Kendall, M.A., Spicer, J.I., Turley, C. and Widdicombe, S. (2008)'Novel microcosm system for investigating the effects of elevated carbon dioxide and temperature on intertidal organisms', *Aquatic Biology*, 3(1).
- Findlay, H.S., Kendall, M.A., Spicer, J.I. and Widdicombe, S. (2009a) 'Future high CO2 in the intertidal may compromise adult barnacle *Semibalanus balanoides* survival and embryonic development rate', *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 389, pp. 193-202.
- Findlay, H.S., Kendall, M.A., Spicer, J.I. and Widdicombe, S. (2010) 'Relative influences of ocean acidification and temperature on intertidal barnacle postlarvae at the northern edge of their geographic distribution', *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 86(4), pp. 675-682.
- Findlay, H.S., Wood, H.L., Kendall, M.A., Spicer, J.I., Twitchett, R.J. and Widdicombe, S. (2009b) 'Calcification, a physiological process to be considered in the context of the whole organism', *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 6(1), pp. 2267-2284.
- Gadelha, J.R., Ferreira, V.A.M., Abreu, S.N., Soars, A. and Morgado, F.M.R. (2010) 'Experimental mercury bioaccumulation trends in sea anemone *Actinia equina* exposed to chlor-alkali industry effluent contaminated water', *Interdisciplinary*

Studies on Environmental Chemistry-Biological Responses to Chemical Contaminants: From Molecular to Community Level. Volume, 3.

- Gattuso, J.P., Frankignoulle, M., Bourge, I., Romaine, S. and Buddemeier, R.W. (1998) 'Effect of calcium carbonate saturation of seawater on coral calcification', *Global and Planetary Change*, 18(1), pp. 37-46.
- Gazeau, F., Quiblier, C., Jansen, J.M., Gattuso, J.P., Middelburg, J.J. and Heip, C.H.R. (2007) 'Impact of elevated CO<sub>2</sub> on shellfish calcification', *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34(7).
- Godbold, J.A. and Solan, M. (2013) 'Long-term effects of warming and ocean acidification are modified by seasonal variation in species responses and environmental conditions', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1627), p. 20130186.
- Gooding, R.A., Harley, C.D.G. and Tang, E. (2009) 'Elevated water temperature and carbon dioxide concentration increase the growth of a keystone echinoderm', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(23), pp. 9316-9321.
- Gray, A. P., Seed, R., and Richardson, C. A. (1997) 'Reproduction and growth of *Mytilus edulis* chilensis from the Falkland Islands', *Scientia Marina*, 61, 39-48.
- Green, M.A., Waldbusser, G.G., Reilly, S.L. and Emerson, K. (2009) 'Death by dissolution: sediment saturation state as a mortality factor for juvenile bivalves', *The American Society of Limnology and Oceanography*, 54(4), pp. 1037-1047.
- Gruber, N. (2011) 'Warming up, turning sour, losing breath: ocean biogeochemistry under global change', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 369(1943), pp. 1980-1996.

- Gutowska, M.A., Pörtner, H.O. and Melzner, F. (2008) 'Growth and calcification in the cephalopod Sepia officinalis under elevated seawater pCO2', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 373, pp. 303-309.
- Harley, C.D.G., Randall Hughes, A., Hultgren, K.M., Miner, B.G., Sorte, C.J.B., Thornber, C.S., Rodriguez, L.F., Tomanek, L. and Williams, S.L. (2006) 'The impacts of climate change in coastal marine systems', *Ecology letters*, 9(2), pp. 228-241.
- Harrould-Kolieb, E. and Savitz, J. (2009) Acid test: can we save our oceans from CO<sub>2</sub>? Second edition. Oceana.
- Hauton, C., Tyrrell, T. and Williams, J. (2009) 'The subtle effects of sea water acidification on the amphipod', *Biogeosciences*, 6(8), 1479-1489.
- Havenhand, J.N. and Schlegel, P. (2009) 'Near-future levels of ocean acidification do not affect sperm motility and fertilization kinetics in the oyster *Crassostrea* gigas', Biogeosciences, 6(12), pp. 3009-3015.
- Hellberg, M. E. (1998) 'Sympatric sea shells along the sea's shore: the geography of speciation in the marine gastropod *Tegula*', *Evolution*, 1311-1324.
- Helmuth, B., Harley, C. D., Halpin, P. M., O'Donnell, M., Hofmann, G. E., and Blanchette, C. A. (2002) 'Climate change and latitudinal patterns of intertidal thermal stress', *Science*, 298(5595), 1015-1017.
- Hochachka, P.W. and Somero, G.N. (2002) 'Biochemical Adaptation. Mechanism and Process in Physiological Evolution. 2002', *Pages: i-xi*, pp. 1-466.

Hook, P. (2008) Pocket guide to seashells and the seashore. Parragon Inc.

Inglis, G., Gust, N., Fitridge, I., Floerl, O., Woods, C., Hayden, B., and Fenwick, G. (2005) 'Gulf Harbour Marina', *Baseline survey for non-indigenous marine* 

species (Research Project ZBS2000/04). Biosecurity New Zealand Technical Paper, 12, 1-56.

- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). (2007) Climate change 2007: The physical science basis. In: Solomon S. Qin D, Manning M, Chen Z and others (eds) Contribution of working group I to the 4<sup>th</sup> assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Jackson, A. (2008). Littorina littorea. Common periwinkle. Marine Life Information Network: Biology and Sensitivity Key Information Sub-programme [on-line]. Plymouth: Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom. [cited 29/11/2012]. Available from: <a href="http://www.marlin.ac.uk/generalbiology.php?speciesID=3713">http://www.marlin.ac.uk/generalbiology.php?speciesID=3713</a>>
- Ji, T., Dong, Y., and Dong, S. (2008) 'Growth and physiological responses in the sea cucumber, *Apostichopus japonicus* Selenka: Aestivation and temperature', *Aquaculture*, 283(1), 180-187.
- Jokiel, P. L., Maragos, J. E., and Franzisket, L. (1978) 'Coral growth: buoyant weight technique', *Coral reefs: research methods. UNESCO, Paris*, 529-541.
- Jokiel, P.L., Rodgers, K.S., Kuffner, I.B., Andersson, A.J., Cox, E.F. and Mackenzie, F.T. (2008) 'Ocean acidification and calcifying reef organisms: a mesocosm investigation', *Coral reefs*, 27(3), pp. 473-483.
- Jones, A.M. (1979) 'Structure and growth of a high-level population of Cerastoderma edule (Lamellibranchiata)', *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 59(02), pp. 277-287.
- Justus, J.R. and Fletcher, S.R. (2001). Congressional Research Service, Library of Congress.

- Kerr, D.C., Ankney, C.D. and Millar, J.S. (1982) 'The effect of drying temperature on extraction of petroleum ether soluble fats of small birds and mammals', *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 60(3), pp. 470-472.
- Kleypas, J.A., Feely, R.A., Fabry, V.J., Langdon, C., Sabine, C.L. and Robbins, L.L. (2005) *Report of a workshop held*. Citeseer.
- Kroeker, K.J., Kordas, R.L., Crim, R.N. and Singh, G.G. (2010) 'Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms', *Ecology letters*, 13(11), pp. 1419-1434.
- Kurihara, H., Asai, T., Kato, S. and Ishimatsu, A. (2008a) 'Effects of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> on early development in the mussel Mytilus galloprovincialis', *Aquat Biol*, 4(3), pp. 225-233.
- Kurihara, H. and Ishimatsu, A. (2008) 'Effects of high CO<sub>2</sub> seawater on the copepod Acartia tsuensis through all life stages and subsequent generations', Marine Pollution Bulletin, 56(6), pp. 1086-1090.
- Kurihara, H., Kato, S. and Ishimatsu, A. (2007) 'Effects of increased seawater pCO<sub>2</sub> on early development of the oyster *Crassostrea gigas*', *Aquatic Biology*, 1(1), pp. 91-98.
- Kurihara, H., Matsui, M., Furukawa, H., Hayashi, M. and Ishimatsu, A. (2008b) 'Long-term effects of predicted future seawater CO<sub>2</sub> conditions on the survival and growth of the marine shrimp *Palaemon pacificus*, *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 367(1), pp. 41-46.
- Kurihara, H., Shimode, S. and Shirayama, Y. (2004) 'Sub-lethal effects of elevated concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> on planktonic copepods and sea urchins', *Journal of Oceanography*, 60(4), pp. 743-750.

- Kuroyanagi, A., Kawahata, H., Suzuki, A., Fujita, K. and Irie, T. (2009) 'Impacts of ocean acidification on large benthic foraminifers: Results from laboratory experiments', *Marine Micropaleontology*, 73(3), pp. 190-195.
- Landes, A. and Zimmer, M. (2012) 'Acidification and warming affect both a calcifying predator and prey, but not their interaction', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 450, pp. 1-10.
- Langdon, C., and Atkinson, M. J. (2005) 'Effect of elevated pCO<sub>2</sub> on photosynthesis and calcification of corals and interactions with seasonal change in temperature/irradiance and nutrient enrichment', *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans (1978–2012)*, 110(C9).
- Langenbuch, M., Bock, C., Leibfritz, D. and Pörtner, H.O. (2006) 'Effects of environmental hypercapnia on animal physiology: A<sub>13</sub> C NMR study of protein synthesis rates in the marine invertebrate *Sipunculus nudus*', *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 144(4), pp. 479-484.
- LeBlanc, N., Landry, T., Davidson, J., Tremblay, R., McNiven, M. (2010) 'The Effect of Elevated Water Temperature Stress on the Mussel *Mytilus edulis* (L.), Survival and Genetic Characteristics', Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 2900: vii + 19p.
- Levinton, J.S. (2009) *Marine biology: function, biodiversity, ecology.* Oxford University Press New York.
- Li, W. and Gao, K. (2012) 'A marine secondary producer respires and feeds more in a high CO<sub>2</sub> ocean', *Marine pollution bulletin*, 64(4), pp. 699-703.
- Lischka, S., Büdenbender, J., Boxhammer, T. and Riebesell, U. (2011) 'Impact of ocean acidification and elevated temperatures on early juveniles of the polar shelled pteropod *Limacina helicina*: mortality, shell degradation, and shell growth', *Biogeosciences discussions*, 7(6), pp. 8177-8214.

- Mackenzie, A. B., and Department of Fisheries and Oceans, Burlington, ON (Canada). Cent. of Expertise for Aquatic Risk Assessment. (2011). *Biological synopsis of the European sea squirt*(*Ascidiella aspersa*) (No. 2968). DFO, Burlington, ON (Canada).
- Maier, C., Hegeman, J., Weinbauer, M.G. and Gattuso, J.P. (2009) 'Calcification of the cold-water coral Lophelia pertusa, under ambient and reduced pH', *Biogeosciences*, 6(8), pp. 1671-1680.
- Marine Digimap Service, SeaZone Solutions Ltd., UK. Using: EDINA Marine Digimap Service, <a href="http://edina.ac.uk/digimap">http://edina.ac.uk/digimap</a>>, Downloaded: May 2014.
- Markham, A. (1996) 'Potential impacts of climate change on ecosystems: a review of implications for policymakers and conservation biologists', *Climate Research*, 6(2), pp. 179-191.
- Marshall, A.T. and Clode, P. (2004) 'Effects of calcium-free and low-calcium artificial seawater on polyps of a scleractinian coral *Galaxea fascicularis'*, *Coral Reefs*, 23(2), pp. 277-280.
- Martin, S. and Gattuso, J.P. (2009) 'Response of Mediterranean coralline algae to ocean acidification and elevated temperature', *Global Change Biology*, 15(8), pp. 2089-2100.
- McClintock, J.B., Angus, R.A., McDonald, M.R., Amsler, C.D., Catledge, S.A. and Vohra, Y.K. (2009) 'Rapid dissolution of shells of weakly calcified Antarctic benthic macroorganisms indicates high vulnerability to ocean acidification', *Antarctic Science*, 21(05), pp. 449-456.
- McDonald, M.R., McClintock, J.B., Amsler, C.D., Rittschof, D., Angus, R.A., Orihuela, B. and Lutostanski, K. (2009) 'Effects of ocean acidification over the life history of the barnacle *Amphibalanus amphitrite*', *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 385, pp. 179-187.

- Melatunan, S., Calosi, P., Rundle, S.D., Moody, A.J. and Widdicombe, S. (2011) 'Exposure to elevated temperature and pCO<sub>2</sub> reduces respiration rate and energy status in the periwinkle *Littorina littorea*', *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology*, 84(6), pp. 583-594.
- Melatunan, S., Calosi, P., Rundle, S.D., Widdicombe, S. and Moody, A.J. (2013) 'Effects of ocean acidification and elevated temperature on shell plasticity and its energetic basis in an intertidal gastropod', *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 472, pp. 155-168.
- Melzner, F., Stange, P., Trübenbach, K., Thomsen, J., Casties, I., Panknin, U., Gorb, S.N. and Gutowska, M.A. (2011) 'Food supply and seawater pCO<sub>2</sub> impact calcification and internal shell dissolution in the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*', *PloS one*, 6(9), p. e24223.
- Met Office, 2012. *UK Mapped Climate Averages* [online]. United Kingdom: The UK's National Weather Service. Available at <URL:<u>http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/climate/uk/averages/ukmapavge.html</u>> [Accessed 09 October 2011].
  - Michaelidis, B., Ouzounis, C., Paleras, A. and Pörtner, H.O. (2005) 'Effects of longterm moderate hypercapnia on acid-base balance and growth rate in marine mussels *Mytilus galloprovincialis*', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 293(2), pp. 109-18.
  - Miles, H., Widdicombe, S., Spicer, J.I. and Hall-Spencer, J. (2007) 'Effects of anthropogenic seawater acidification on acid–base balance in the sea urchin *Psammechinus miliaris*', *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 54(1), pp. 89-96.
  - Morse, J.W., Andersson, A.J. and Mackenzie, F.T. (2006) 'Initial responses of carbonate-rich shelf sediments to rising atmospheric pCO<sub>2</sub> and "ocean acidification": Role of high Mg-calcites', *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 70(23), pp. 5814-5830.

- Morton, B. and Dinesen, G.E. (2011) 'The biology and functional morphology of Modiolarca subpicta (Bivalvia: Mytilidae: Musculinae), epizoically symbiotic with Ascidiella aspersa (Urochordata: Ascidiacea), from the Kattegat, northern Jutland, Denmark', Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 91(08), pp. 1637-1649.
- Munday, P.L., Crawley, N.E. and Nilsson, G.E. (2009) 'Interacting effects of elevated temperature and ocean acidification on the aerobic performance of coral reef fishes', *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 388, pp. 235-242.
- Nagarajan, R., Lea, S.E.G. and Goss-Custard, J.D. (2006) 'Seasonal variations in mussel, *Mytilus edulis* L. shell thickness and strength and their ecological implications', *Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology*, 339(2), pp. 241-250.
- Naylor, P. (2005) Great British marine animals. Sound Diving Publications.
- Noone, K.J., Sumaila, U.R. and Diaz, R.J. (2013) *Managing ocean environments in a changing climate: sustainability and economic perspectives*. Newnes.
- Oehlmann, J. (2004). Biological effects of contaminants: Use of intersex in the periwinkle (*Littorina littorea*) as a biomarker of tributyltin pollution. *ICES techniques in marine environmental sciences*, 37, 22.
- Orr, J.C., Fabry, V.J., Aumont, O., Bopp, L., Doney, S.C., Feely, R.A., Gnanadesikan, A., Gruber, N., Ishida, A. and Joos, F. (2005) 'Anthropogenic ocean acidification over the twenty-first century and its impact on calcifying organisms', *Nature*, 437(7059), pp. 681-686.
- Pappal, A. (2010). Marine invasive species: state of the Gulf of Maine report. Gulf of Marine Council on the Marine Environment.
- Parker, L.M., Ross, P.M. and O'Connor, W.A. (2009) 'The effect of ocean acidification and temperature on the fertilization and embryonic development

of the Sydney rock oyster *Saccostrea glomerata* (Gould 1850)', *Global Change Biology*, 15(9), pp. 2123-2136.

- Pearson, P.N. and Palmer, M.R. (2000) 'Atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations over the past 60 million years', *Nature*, 406(6797), pp. 695-699.
- Peck, L.S., Webb, K.E. and Bailey, D.M. (2004) 'Extreme sensitivity of biological function to temperature in Antarctic marine species', *Functional Ecology*, 18(5), pp. 625-630.
- Pierson, E.D. and Stack, M.H. (1988) 'Methods of body composition analysis'.
- Pörtner, H.O. (2008) 'Ecosystem effects of ocean acidification in times of ocean warming: a physiologist's view', *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 373, pp. 203-217.
- Pörtner, H. O. and Knust, R. (2007) 'Climate change affects marine fishes through the oxygen limitation of thermal tolerance', *science*, 315(5808), 95-97.
- Pörtner, H.O., Reipschläger, A. and Heisler, N. (1998) 'Acid-base regulation, metabolism and energetics in Sipunculus nudus as a function of ambient carbon dioxide level', *The Journal of experimental biology*, 201(1), pp. 43-55.
- Pörtner, H.O., Bock, C. and Reipschlager, A. (2000) 'Modulation of the cost of pHi regulation during metabolic depression: a (31) P-NMR study in invertebrate (Sipunculus nudus) isolated muscle', *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 203(16), pp. 2417-2428.
- Pörtner, H. O., Berdal, B., Blust, R., Brix, O., Colosimo, A., De Wachter, B., ... and Zakhartsev, M. (2001) 'Climate induced temperature effects on growth performance, fecundity and recruitment in marine fish: developing a hypothesis for cause and effect relationships in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) and common eelpout (*Zoarces viviparus*)', *Continental Shelf Research*, 21(18), 1975-1997.

- Pörtner, H.O., Langenbuch, M. and Reipschläger, A. (2004) 'Biological impact of elevated ocean CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations: lessons from animal physiology and earth history', *Journal of Oceanography*, 60(4), pp. 705-718.
- Raven, J., Caldeira, K., Elderfield, H., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Liss, P., Riebesell, U., Shepherd, J., Turley, C. and Watson, A. (2005) Ocean acidification due to increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide. The Royal Society.
- Reipschläger, A., Nilsson, G.E. and Pörtner, H.O. (1997) 'A role for adenosine in metabolic depression in the marine invertebrate Sipunculus nudus', *American journal of physiology-regulatory integrative and comparative physiology*, 272, *R350-R356*.
- Richardson, A.J. and Gibbons, M.J. (2008) 'Are jellyfish increasing in response to ocean acidification?', *Limnology and Oceanography*, 53(5), pp. 2040-2045.
- Ries, J.B., Cohen, A.L. and McCorkle, D.C. (2009) 'Marine calcifiers exhibit mixed responses to CO<sub>2</sub>-induced ocean acidification', *Geology*, 37(12), pp. 1131-1134.
- Rodolfo-Metalpa, R., Martin, S., Ferrier-Pagès, C. and Gattuso, J.P. (2009) 'Response of the temperate coral Cladocora caespitosa to mid-and long-term exposure to *p*CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature levels projected in 2100', *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 6(4), pp. 7103-7131.
- Rodolfo-Metalpa, R., Martin, S., Ferrier-Pagès, C. and Gattuso, J.P. (2010) 'Response of the temperate coral *Cladocora caespitosa* to mid-and long-term exposure to *p*CO<sub>2</sub> and temperature levels projected for the year 2100 AD', *Biogeosciences*, 7(1), pp. 289-300.
- Rodrigues, L.J. and Grottoli, A.G. (2006) 'Calcification rate and the stable carbon, oxygen, and nitrogen isotopes in the skeleton, host tissue, and zooxanthellae of bleached and recovering Hawaiian corals', *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 70(11), pp. 2781-2789.

- Ruiz, G. M., Fofonoff, P., Hines, A. H., and Grosholz, E. D. (1999) 'Non-indigenous species as stressors in estuarine and marine communities: assessing invasion impacts and interactions', *Limnology and oceanography*, 44(3), 950-972.
- Sabine, C.L., Feely, R.A., Gruber, N., Key, R.M., Lee, K., Bullister, J.L., Wanninkhof, R., Wong, C., Wallace, D.W.R. and Tilbrook, B. (2004) 'The oceanic sink for anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub>', *science*, 305(5682), pp. 367-371.
- Sanford, E. (2002) 'Water temperature, predation, and the neglected role of physiological rate effects in rocky intertidal communities', *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 42(4), pp. 881-891.
- Schmidt, G.H. (1983) 'The hydroid Tubularia larynx causing 'bloom' of the ascidians Ciona intestinalis and Ascidiella aspersa', Mar Ecol Prog Ser, 12, pp. 103-105.
- Schubert, R., Schellnhuber, H.-J., Buchmann, N., Epiney, E., Griebhammer, R., Kulessa, M., Messner, D., Rahmstorf, S. and Schmid, J. (2006) 'The future oceans-Warming up, rising high, turning sour'.
- Sokolova, I.M. and Pörtner, H.O. (2003) 'Metabolic plasticity and critical temperatures for aerobic scope in a eurythermal marine invertebrate (*Littorina saxatilis*, Gastropoda: Littorinidae) from different latitudes', Journal of Experimental Biology, 206(1), pp. 195-207.
- Somero, G. N. (2005) 'Linking biogeography to physiology: evolutionary and acclimatory adjustments of thermal limits', *Front Zool*, 2(1), 1-1.
- Somero, G.N. (2010) 'The physiology of climate change: how potentials for acclimatization and genetic adaptation will determine 'winners' and 'losers'', *The Journal of experimental biology*, 213(6), pp. 912-920.
- Speakman, J.R. (2001) Body composition analysis of animals: a handbook of nondestructive methods. Cambridge University Press.

- Stachowicz, J. J., Terwin, J. R., Whitlatch, R. B., and Osman, R. W. (2002) 'Linking climate change and biological invasions: ocean warming facilitates nonindigenous species invasions', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(24), 15497-15500.
- Stillman, J. H. (2002) 'Causes and consequences of thermal tolerance limits in rocky intertidal porcelain crabs, genus *Petrolisthes'*, *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 42(4), 790-796.
- Suggett, D.J., Hall-Spencer, J.M., Rodolfo-Metalpa, R., Boatman, T.G., Payton, R., Tye Pettay, D., Johnson, V.R., Warner, M.E. and Lawson, T. (2012) 'Sea anemones may thrive in a high CO<sub>2</sub> world', *Global Change Biology*, 18(10), pp. 3015-3025.
- Suwa, R., Nakamura, M., Morita, M., Shimada, K., Iguchi, A., Sakai, K. and Suzuki, A. (2010) 'Effects of acidified seawater on early life stages of scleractinian corals (Genus Acropora)', *Fisheries Science*, 76(1), pp. 93-99.
- Talmage, S.C. and Gobler, C.J. (2009) 'The effects of elevated carbon dioxide concentrations on the metamorphosis, size, and survival of larval hard clams (*Mercenaria mercenaria*), bay scallops (*Argopecten irradians*), and Eastern oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*)', *Limnology and Oceanography*, 54(6), p. 2072.
- Thomsen, J., Gutowska, M.A., Saphörster, J., Heinemann, A., Trübenbach, K., Fietzke, J., Hiebenthal, C., Eisenhauer, A., Körtzinger, A. and Wahl, M. (2010) 'Calcifying invertebrates succeed in a naturally CO<sub>2</sub>-rich coastal habitat but are threatened by high levels of future acidification', *Biogeosciences*, 7(11), pp. 3879-3891.
- Thomsen, J. and Melzner, F. (2010) 'Moderate seawater acidification does not elicit long-term metabolic depression in the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*', *Marine Biology*, 157(12), pp. 2667-2676.

- Turley, C., Blackford, J.C., Widdicombe, S., Lowe, D., Nightingale, P.D. and Rees, A.P. (2006) 'Reviewing the impact of increased atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> on oceanic pH and the marine ecosystem', *Avoiding dangerous climate change*, 8, pp. 65-70.
- Turley, C. and Findlay, H.S. (2009) *Ocean acidification as an indicator for climate change*. na.
- Tyrrell, T. (2011) 'Anthropogenic modification of the oceans', Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 369(1938), pp. 887-908.
- Uthicke, S., Liddy, M., Nguyen, H. D., and Byrne, M. (2014) 'Interactive effects of near-future temperature increase and ocean acidification on physiology and gonad development in adult Pacific sea urchin, *Echinometra* sp. A', *Coral Reefs*, 1-15.
- Vézina, A.F., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Pörtner, H.O., Hofmann, G.E., O'Donnell, M.J., Todgham, A.E., Rost, B., Zondervan, I., Wolf-Gladrow, D. and Balch, W.M. (2008) 'Effects of ocean acidification on marine ecosystems', *Mar Ecol Prog Ser*, 373, pp. 199-309.
- Vihtakari, M., Hendriks, I. E., Holding, J., Renaud, P. E., Duarte, C. M., and Havenhand, J. N. (2013) 'Effects of Ocean Acidification and Warming on Sperm Activity and Early Life Stages of the Mediterranean Mussel (*Mytilus* galloprovincialis)', Water, 5(4), 1890-1915.
- Walther, G.-R., Roques, A., Hulme, P.E., Sykes, M.T., Pyšek, P., Kühn, I., Zobel, M., Bacher, S., Botta-Dukát, Z. and Bugmann, H. (2009) 'Alien species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities', *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 24(12), pp. 686-693.

- Widdicombe, S. and Needham, H.R. (2007) 'Impact of CO<sub>2</sub>-induced seawater acidification on the burrowing activity of *Nereis virens* and sediment nutrient flux', *Marine Ecology-Progress Series*, 341, p. 111.
- Wiltshire, K.H. and Manly, B.F.J. (2004) 'The warming trend at Helgoland Roads, North Sea: phytoplankton response', *Helgoland Marine Research*, 58(4), pp. 269-273.
- Wood, H.L., Spicer, J.I. and Widdicombe, S. (2008) 'Ocean acidification may increase calcification rates, but at a cost', *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1644), pp. 1767-1773.
- Zagata, C.; C. Young; J. Sountis and M. Kuehl. (2008). "Mytilus edulis" (On-line), Animal Diversity Web. Accessed July 08, 2014 at http://animaldiversity.ummz.umich.edu/accounts/Mytilus\_edulis/
- Zainal, K.A.Y., Taylor, A.C. and Atkinson, R.J.A. (1992) 'The effect of temperature and hypoxia on the respiratory physiology of the squat lobsters, *Munida rugosa* and *Munida sarsi* (anomura, galatheidae)', *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology*, 101(3), pp. 557-567.
- Zeebe, R.E. and Wolf-Gladrow, D.A. (2010) 'Errata to CO<sub>2</sub> in Seawater: Equilibrium, Kinetics, Isotopes'. *Elsevier Oceanography*.
- Zhang, P., Dong, S., Wang, F., Wang, H., Gao, W. and Yan, Y. (2012) 'Effect of salinity on growth and energy budget of red and green colour variant sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus* (Selenca)', *Aquaculture Research*, 43(11), pp. 1611-1619.

## **Appendices:**

Appendix I: Histology of M. edulis.



Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) sections of *M. edulis* tissues showing effects of experimental conditions on mitochondria in the epithelial layer of the gills to all treatments (TR 2011, TR 2050 and TR 2100) in summer.

## Appendix II: Histology of *L. littorea*.



Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) sections of *L. littorea* tissues showing effects of experimental conditions on mitochondria in the epithelial layer of the midgut to all treatments (TR 2011, TR 2050 and TR 2100) in summer.

Cal: 0.002344 um/pix 10:08:51 12/09/12 TR 2100 Direct Mag: 25000x EM Research Services

## Appendix III: Histology of *A. equina*.



Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) sections of *A. equina* tissues showing effects of experimental conditions on mitochondria in the epithelial layer of the tentacle to all treatments (TR 2011, TR 2050 and TR 2100) in summer.

## Appendix IV: Histology of A. aspersa.



Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) sections of *A. aspersa* tissues showing effects of experimental conditions on mitochondria in the epithelial layer of the gut to all treatments (TR 2011, TR 2050 and TR 2100) in summer.